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Part I. Financial Information
Item 1. Financial Statements
Owens & Minor, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Income
(unaudited)
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2017

(in thousands, except per share data)

Net revenue

$

Cost of goods sold

2016

2,328,573

$

2,455,793

2,047,393

2,159,157

Gross margin

281,180

296,636

Distribution, selling and administrative expenses

237,693

242,725

8,942

10,483

Acquisition-related and exit and realignment charges
Other operating income, net

(972)

(1,542)

Operating earnings

35,517

44,970

Interest expense, net

6,744

6,790

28,773

38,180

9,988

14,045

Income before income taxes
Income tax provision
Net income

$

18,785

$

24,135

Basic

$

0.31

$

0.39

Diluted

$

0.31

$

0.39

$

0.2575

$

0.255

Net income per common share:

Cash dividends per common share

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Owens & Minor, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
(unaudited)
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2017

(in thousands)

Net income

$

2016

18,785

$

24,135

Other comprehensive income, net of tax:
Currency translation adjustments (net of income tax of $0 in 2017 and 2016)

5,492

8,162

Change in unrecognized net periodic pension costs (net of income tax of $226 in 2017 and $171 in 2016)

236

238

Other (net of income tax of $0 in 2017 and 2016)

110

19

Total other comprehensive income, net of tax

5,838

Comprehensive income

$

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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24,623

8,419
$

32,554
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Owens & Minor, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(unaudited)

(in thousands, except per share data)

March 31,

December 31,

2017

2016

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

$

127,167

$

185,488

Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $13,020 and $13,538

605,249

Merchandise inventories

949,346

916,311

Other current assets

261,232

254,156

Total current assets

606,084

1,942,994

1,962,039

Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of $208,749 and $201,399

195,312

191,718

Goodwill, net

416,697

414,936

Intangible assets, net

80,736

82,511

Other assets, net

64,810

66,548

Total assets

$

2,700,549

$

2,717,752

$

745,165

$

750,750

Liabilities and equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued payroll and related liabilities
Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt, excluding current portion
Deferred income taxes
Other liabilities

28,625

45,051

233,905

238,837

1,007,695

1,034,638

564,145

564,583

90,115

90,383

68,637

68,110

1,730,592

1,757,714

Common stock, par value $2 per share; authorized - 200,000 shares; issued and outstanding - 61,202
shares and 61,031 shares

122,403

122,062

Paid-in capital

220,608

219,955

Retained earnings

688,591

685,504

Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies
Equity

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Total equity
Total liabilities and equity

$

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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(61,645)

(67,483)

969,957

960,038

2,700,549

$

2,717,752
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Owens & Minor, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(unaudited)

Three Months Ended March 31,
2017

(in thousands)

2016

Operating activities:
Net income

$

18,785

$

24,135

Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided by (used for) operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Share-based compensation expense

12,558

14,218

2,511

2,603

Provision for losses on accounts receivable

(603)

115

Deferred income tax expense (benefit)

(825)

6,907

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Merchandise inventories
Accounts payable
Net change in other assets and liabilities
Other, net

1,554

(26,815)

(32,777)

15,178

(7,341)

46,751

(24,965)

(38,100)

4,743

Cash provided by (used for) operating activities

153

(26,360)

45,145

(10,146)

(5,283)

(4,622)

(1,777)

Investing activities:
Additions to property and equipment
Additions to computer software and intangible assets
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment

315

Cash used for investing activities

4,599

(14,453)

(2,461)

Financing activities:
Change in bank overdraft

—

Cash dividends paid

8,359

(15,740)

Repurchases of common stock

(16,029)

—

Other, net
Cash used for financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents

(2,759)

(3,016)

(18,499)

(16,316)

991

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

2,935

(58,321)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

(5,630)

29,303

185,488

161,020

$

127,167

$

190,323

Income taxes paid, net

$

2,825

$

20,028

Interest paid

$

6,183

$

6,226

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Owens & Minor, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity
(unaudited)

(in thousands, except per share data)
Balance December 31, 2015

Common
Shares
Outstanding

62,803

Common
Stock
($ 2 par value )

$

125,606

Paid-In
Capital

$

Retained
Earnings

211,943

$

Net income

706,866

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive Income
(Loss)

$

(163)

(325)

162

323

992,590
24,135

8,419

Dividends declared ($0.255 per share)

Share-based compensation expense, exercises and other

$

24,135

Other comprehensive income (loss)

Shares repurchased and retired

(51,825)

Total
Equity

8,419

(15,989)

(15,989)

(5,305)

(5,630)

1,073

1,396

Balance March 31, 2016

62,802

$

125,604

$

213,016

$

709,707

$

(43,406)

$

1,004,921

Balance December 31, 2016

61,031

$

122,062

$

219,955

$

685,504

$

(67,483)

$

960,038

Net income

18,785

18,785

Other comprehensive income (loss)

5,838

Dividends declared ($0.2575 per share)
Share-based compensation expense, exercises and other
Balance March 31, 2017

5,838

(15,698)
171
61,202

341
$

122,403

(15,698)

653
$

220,608

994
$

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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688,591

$

(61,645)

$

969,957
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Owens & Minor, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(unaudited)
(in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)
Note 1—Basis of Presentation and Use of Estimates
Basis of Presentation
The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Owens & Minor, Inc. and the subsidiaries it controls (we, us,
or our) and contain all adjustments (which are comprised only of normal recurring accruals and use of estimates) necessary to conform with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles (GAAP). All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated. The results of operations for interim
periods are not necessarily indicative of the results expected for the full year. The Clinical & Procedural Solutions (CPS) business segment has been renamed
"Proprietary Products" effective January 1, 2017. There has been no change to the segment composition or our method of measuring segment operating
earnings.
Reclassifications
Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to current year presentation.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires us to make assumptions and estimates that affect reported
amounts and related disclosures. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
Note 2—Fair Value
The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, financing receivables, accounts payable and financing payables included in
the consolidated balance sheets approximate fair value due to the short-term nature of these instruments. The fair value of long-term debt is estimated based
on quoted market prices or dealer quotes for the identical liability when traded as an asset in an active market (Level 1) or, if quoted market prices or dealer
quotes are not available, on the borrowing rates currently available for loans with similar terms, credit ratings and average remaining maturities (Level 2). We
determine the fair value of our derivatives, if any, based on estimated amounts that would be received or paid to terminate the contracts at the reporting date
based on current market prices for applicable currencies. See Note 7 for the fair value of long-term debt.
Note 3—Financing Receivables and Payables
At March 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, we had financing receivables of $149.6 million and $156.5 million and related payables of $92.5 million
and $110.0 million outstanding under our order-to-cash program and product financing arrangements, which were included in other current assets and other
current liabilities, respectively, in the consolidated balance sheets.
Note 4—Goodwill and Intangible Assets
The following table summarizes the goodwill balances by segment and the changes in the carrying amount of goodwill through March 31, 2017:

Domestic

Carrying amount of goodwill, December 31, 2016

$

180,006

Currency translation adjustments
Carrying amount of goodwill, March 31, 2017

$

—
$

180,006
8

Proprietary
Products

International

19,391

$

1,395
$

20,786

215,539

Consolidated

$

366
$

215,905

414,936
1,761

$

416,697
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Intangible assets at March 31, 2017, and December 31, 2016, were as follows:
March 31, 2017
Customer
Relationships

Gross intangible assets

$

Net intangible assets

Other
Intangibles

118,916

Accumulated amortization

$

(40,902)
$

December 31, 2016
Customer
Relationships

4,102

$

118,223

(1,380)

78,014

$

Other
Intangibles

$

4,045

(38,429)

2,722

$

79,794

(1,328)
$

2,717

At March 31, 2017, $11.1 million in net intangible assets were held in the Domestic segment, $10.4 million were held in the International segment
and $59.2 million were held in the Proprietary Products segment. Amortization expense for intangible assets was $2.3 million and $2.2 million for the three
months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016.
Based on the current carrying value of intangible assets subject to amortization, estimated amortization expense is $6.9 million for the remainder of
2017, $9.0 million for 2018, $8.9 million for 2019, $8.7 million for 2020, $8.3 million for 2021 and $7.3 million for 2022.
Note 5—Exit and Realignment Costs
We periodically incur exit and realignment and other charges associated with optimizing our operations which include the closure and consolidation
of certain distribution and logistics centers, administrative offices and warehouses in the United States and Europe. These charges also include costs
associated with our strategic organizational realignment which include management changes, certain professional fees, and costs to streamline administrative
functions and processes.
Exit and realignment charges by segment for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:
Three Months Ended March 31,
2017

Domestic segment

$

2016

6,748

$

8,074

International segment

384

1,700

Proprietary Products segment

463

1,108

$

Total exit and realignment charges

7,595

$

10,882

The following table summarizes the activity related to exit and realignment cost accruals through March 31, 2017 and 2016:
Lease
Obligations

Accrued exit and realignment costs, December 31, 2016

$

Severance and
Other

—

Provision for exit and realignment activities

—

Change in estimate

—

Cash payments

$

2,238

Total

$

3,211

3,211

(304)

—

2,238
(304)

(3,034)

(3,034)

Accrued exit and realignment costs, March 31, 2017

$

—

$

2,111

$

2,111

Accrued exit and realignment costs, December 31, 2015

$

486

$

1,840

$

2,326

Provision for exit and realignment activities
Cash payments, net of sublease income
Accrued exit and realignment costs, March 31, 2016

$

—

9,895

9,895

(486)

(1,287)

(1,773)

—

$

10,448

$

10,448

In addition to the exit and realignment accruals in the preceding table, we also incurred $4.7 million of costs that were expensed as incurred for the
quarter ended March 31, 2017, including $4.5 million in asset write-downs and $0.2 million in other costs.
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We also incurred $1.0 million of costs that were expensed as incurred for the quarter ended March 31, 2016, including $0.5 million in information
systems costs, $0.4 million in consulting costs and $0.1 million in other costs.
Note 6—Retirement Plans
We have a noncontributory, unfunded retirement plan for certain officers and other key employees in the United States. Certain of our foreign
subsidiaries also have defined benefit pension plans covering substantially all of their respective employees.
The components of net periodic benefit cost, which are included in distribution, selling and administrative expenses, for the three months ended
March 31, 2017 and 2016, were as follows:
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2017

Service cost

$

2016

12

Interest cost

474

Recognized net actuarial loss

462

Net periodic benefit cost

$

948

$

23
505
409

$

937

Certain of our foreign subsidiaries have health and welfare plans covering substantially all of their respective employees. Our expense for these plans
totaled $0.4 million and $0.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016.
Note 7—Debt
We have $275 million of 3.875% senior notes due 2021 (the “2021 Notes”) and $275 million of 4.375% senior notes due 2024 (the “2024 Notes”),
with interest payable semi-annually. The 2021 Notes were sold at 99.5% of the principal amount with an effective yield of 3.951%. The 2024 Notes were sold
at 99.6% of the principal with an effective yield of 4.422%. We have the option to redeem the 2021 Notes and 2024 Notes in part or in whole prior to maturity
at a redemption price equal to the greater of 100% of the principal amount or the present value of the remaining scheduled payments discounted at the
Treasury Rate plus 30 basis points. As of March 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, the estimated fair value of the 2021 Notes was $280.2 million and $274.5
million and the estimated fair value of the 2024 Notes was $276.9 million and $270.0 million, respectively.
We have a Credit Agreement with a $450 million borrowing capacity which extends through September 2019. Under the Amended Credit
Agreement, we have the ability to request two one-year extensions and to request an increase in aggregate commitments by up to $200 million. The interest
rate on the Amended Credit Agreement, which is subject to adjustment quarterly, is based on the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR), the Federal Funds
Rate or the Prime Rate, plus an adjustment based on the better of our debt ratings or leverage ratio (Credit Spread) as defined by the Amended Credit
Agreement. We are charged a commitment fee of between 12.5 and 25.0 basis points on the unused portion of the facility. The terms of the Amended Credit
Agreement limit the amount of indebtedness that we may incur and require us to maintain ratios for leverage and interest coverage, including on a pro forma
basis in the event of an acquisition. Based on our leverage ratio at March 31, 2017, the interest rate under the credit facility is LIBOR plus 1.375%.
At March 31, 2017, we had no borrowings and letters of credit of approximately $5.1 million outstanding under the Amended Credit Agreement,
leaving $445 million available for borrowing. The Amended Credit Agreement and senior notes contain cross-default provisions which could result in the
acceleration of payments due in the event of default of either agreement. We believe we were in compliance with our debt covenants at March 31, 2017.
We also have a $1.1 million letter of credit outstanding as of March 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, which supports our facilities leased in Europe.
Note 8—Income Taxes
The effective tax rate was 34.7% for the three months ended March 31, 2017, compared to 36.8% in the same quarter of 2016. The change in rate
resulted from a higher percentage of the company's pretax income earned in lower tax rate jurisdictions compared to prior year. The liability for unrecognized
tax benefits was $11.0 million at March 31, 2017 and $10.7 million at December 31, 2016. Included in the liability at March 31, 2017 were $4.9 million of tax
positions for which ultimate deductibility is highly certain but for which there is uncertainty about the timing of such deductibility.
10

Table of Contents
Note 9—Net Income per Common Share
The following summarizes the calculation of net income per common share attributable to common shareholders for the three months ended
March 31, 2017 and 2016.
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2017

(in thousands, except per share data)

2016

Numerator:
Net income

$

Less: income allocated to unvested restricted shares

18,785

$

(239)

Net income attributable to common shareholders - basic
Add: undistributed income attributable to unvested restricted shares - basic
Less: undistributed income attributable to unvested restricted shares - diluted
Net income attributable to common shareholders - diluted

(276)

18,546

23,859

23

57

(23)
$

24,135

18,546

(57)
$

23,859

Denominator:
Weighted average shares outstanding - basic and diluted

60,013

61,696

Net income per share attributable to common shareholders:
Basic

$

0.31

$

0.39

Diluted

$

0.31

$

0.39

Note 10—Shareholders’ Equity
Our Board of Directors has authorized a share repurchase program of up to $100 million of our outstanding common stock to be executed at the
discretion of management over a three-year period, expiring in December 2019. The timing of repurchases and the exact number of shares of common stock
to be purchased will depend upon market conditions and other factors and may be suspended or discontinued at any time. Purchases under the share
repurchase program are made either pursuant to 10b5-1 plans entered into by the company from time to time and/or during the company’s scheduled quarterly
trading windows for officers and directors.We did not repurchase any shares during the three months ended March 31, 2017. As of March 31, 2017, we have
approximately $99.0 million remaining under the repurchase program. We have elected to allocate any excess of share repurchase price over par value to
retained earnings.
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Note 11—Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
The following table shows the changes in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) by component for the three months ended March 31, 2017
and 2016:
Currency
Translation
Adjustments

Retirement Plans

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), December 31, 2016 $

(11,209)

$

Other

(56,245)

$

Total

(29)

$

(67,483)

Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications

—

5,492

110

5,602

Income tax

—

—

—

—

—

5,492

110

5,602

Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications,
net of tax
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss)
Income tax
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss), net of tax
Other comprehensive income (loss)

462

—

(226)

—

—

(226)

236

—

—

236

236

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), March 31, 2017 $

(10,973)

5,492
$

(10,482)

(50,753)

110
$

Currency
Translation
Adjustments

Retirement Plans

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), December 31, 2015 $

462

$

5,838

81

$

(115)

$

Other

(41,228)

$

(61,645)

Total

(51,825)

Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications

—

8,162

19

8,181

Income tax

—

—

—

—

—

8,162

19

8,181

Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications,
net of tax
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss)
Income tax
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss), net of tax
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), March 31, 2016

$

409

—

(171)

—

—

(171)

238

—

—

238

238

8,162

19

8,419

(10,244)

$

(33,066)

409

$

(96)

$

(43,406)

We include amounts reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income related to defined benefit pension plans as a component of net
periodic pension cost recorded in distribution, selling and administrative expenses. For the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016, we reclassified $0.5
million and $0.4 million of actuarial net losses.
Note 12—Segment Information
We periodically evaluate our application of accounting guidance for reportable segments and disclose information about reportable segments based
on the way management organizes the enterprise for making operating decisions and assessing performance. We report our business under three segments:
Domestic, International and Proprietary Products. The Domestic segment includes our United States distribution, logistics and value-added services business.
The International segment consists of our European distribution, logistics and value-added services business. Proprietary Products provides product-related
solutions, including surgical and procedural kitting and sourcing.
12
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We evaluate the performance of our segments based on their operating earnings excluding acquisition-related and exit and realignment charges,
certain purchase price fair value adjustments, and other substantive items that, either as a result of their nature or size, would not be expected to occur as part
of our normal business operations on a regular basis. Segment assets exclude inter-segment account balances as we believe their inclusion would be
misleading or not meaningful. We believe all inter-segment sales are at prices that approximate market.
The following tables present financial information by segment:
Three Months Ended March 31,
2017

2016

Net revenue:
Segment net revenue
Domestic

$

International
Proprietary Products
Total segment net revenue

2,193,960

$

2,321,708

94,995

83,551

137,153

141,353

2,426,108

2,546,612

Inter-segment revenue
Proprietary Products
Total inter-segment revenue
Consolidated net revenue

(97,535)

(90,819)

(97,535)

(90,819)

$

2,328,573

$

2,455,793

$

37,295

$

41,718

Operating earnings (loss):
Domestic
International
Proprietary Products
Inter-segment eliminations
Acquisition-related and exit and realignment charges
Other (1)

656

1,128

8,128

13,271

(698)

(664)

(8,942)

(10,483)

(922)

Consolidated operating earnings

—

$

35,517

$

44,970

$

6,860

$

7,542

Depreciation and amortization:
Domestic
International

3,804

4,450

Proprietary Products

1,894

2,226

Consolidated depreciation and amortization

$

12,558

$

14,218

$

8,818

$

4,543

Capital expenditures:
Domestic
International
Proprietary Products
Consolidated capital expenditures

$

5,022

1,970

928

547

14,768

$

7,060

(1) Software as a Service (SaaS) implementation costs associated with significant global IT platforms in connection with the redesign of our global information
system strategy.
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March 31, 2017

December 31, 2016

Total assets:
Domestic

$

1,830,369

International

$

1,778,481

359,614

Proprietary Products
Segment assets
Cash and cash equivalents

352,898

383,399

400,885

2,573,382

2,532,264

127,167

Consolidated total assets

$

2,700,549

185,488
$

2,717,752

Note 13—Condensed Consolidating Financial Information
The following tables present condensed consolidating financial information for: Owens & Minor, Inc. (O&M); the guarantors of Owens & Minor,
Inc.’s 2021 Notes and 2024 Notes, on a combined basis; and the non-guarantor subsidiaries of the 2021 Notes and 2024 Notes, on a combined basis. The
guarantor subsidiaries are 100% owned by Owens & Minor, Inc. Separate financial statements of the guarantor subsidiaries are not presented because the
guarantees by our guarantor subsidiaries are full and unconditional, as well as joint and several, and we believe the condensed consolidating financial
information is more meaningful in understanding the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the guarantor subsidiaries.
Owens &
Minor, Inc.

Three Months Ended March 31, 2017

Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Non-guarantor
Subsidiaries

Eliminations

Consolidated

Statements of Income
Net revenue

$

—

$

2,193,285

$

186,854

$

(51,566)

$

2,328,573

Cost of goods sold

—

1,990,186

108,185

(50,978)

2,047,393

Gross margin

—

203,099

78,669

(588)

281,180

Distribution, selling and administrative expenses

156

161,235

76,302

—

237,693

Acquisition-related and exit and realignment charges

—

7,799

1,143

—

8,942

Other operating income, net

—

Operating earnings (loss)

(374)

(156)

Interest expense (income), net

34,439

6,848

Income (loss) before income taxes

—

(588)

28,773

—

9,988

—
27,216

5,838

346
$
14

6,744

1,975

18,785
24,623

35,517

—

1,136

25,789

$

(588)

8,013

Net income (loss)
Comprehensive income (loss)

686

(972)

35,229

Equity in earnings of subsidiaries
Other comprehensive income (loss)

—

1,822

(790)

(7,004)

Income tax (benefit) provision

(598)

27,562

—

(25,789)

—

(839)

(26,377)

18,785

5,492
$

4,653

(5,838)
$

(32,215)

5,838
$

24,623
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Owens &
Minor, Inc.

Three Months Ended March 31, 2016

Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Non-guarantor
Subsidiaries

Eliminations

Consolidated

Statements of Income
Net revenue

$

Cost of goods sold
Gross margin
Distribution, selling and administrative expenses
Acquisition-related and exit and realignment charges
Other operating income, net
Operating earnings (loss)
Interest expense (income), net

—

$

172,101
92,075

$

(38,016)

$

(38,182)

2,455,793
2,159,157

—

216,444

80,026

166

296,636

534

169,310

72,881

—

242,725

—

8,402

2,081

—

10,483

—

(1,384)

(534)

40,116

(158)
5,222

(629)

(7,374)

Income tax (benefit) provision

$

2,105,264

6,840

Income (loss) before income taxes

2,321,708

—

—

(1,542)

166

44,970

579

—

6,790

40,745

4,643

166

38,180

—

14,045

—

11,547

2,498

Equity in earnings of subsidiaries

31,509

—

—

(31,509)

—

Net income (loss)

24,135

29,198

2,145

(31,343)

24,135

Other comprehensive income (loss)
Comprehensive income (loss)

8,419
$

32,554

257
$
15

29,455

8,162
$

10,307

(8,419)
$

(39,762)

8,419
$

32,554
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Owens &
Minor, Inc.

March 31, 2017

Nonguarantor
Subsidiaries

Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Eliminations

Consolidated

Balance Sheets
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

$

63,170

$

15,885

$

48,112

$

—

$

127,167

Accounts receivable, net

—

524,418

89,020

(8,189)

605,249

Merchandise inventories

—

884,995

66,800

(2,449)

949,346

Other current assets

17

93,060

168,155

63,187

1,518,358

372,087

Property and equipment, net

—

102,030

93,282

—

195,312

Goodwill, net

—

180,006

236,691

—

416,697

Intangible assets, net

—

11,137

69,599

—

80,736

Due from O&M and subsidiaries

—

626,667

—

(626,667)
(2,063,747)

Total current assets

Advances to and investment in consolidated
subsidiaries
Other assets, net
Total assets

2,063,747

—

—

—

44,042

20,768

—

261,232

(10,638)

1,942,994

—
—

—

64,810

$

2,126,934

$

2,482,240

$

792,427

$

(2,701,052)

$

2,700,549

$

37

$

693,256

$

60,127

$

(8,255)

$

745,165

Liabilities and equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued payroll and related liabilities
Other accrued liabilities
Total current liabilities

—

18,761

9,864

—

28,625

7,181

110,398

116,326

—

233,905

7,218

822,415

186,317

Long-term debt, excluding current portion

545,053

2,865

16,227

Due to O&M and subsidiaries

604,706

—

71,673

(676,379)

Intercompany debt

—

138,890

—

(138,890)

Deferred income taxes

—

69,678

20,437

Other liabilities
Total liabilities

—

60,911

7,726

1,156,977

1,094,759

302,380

(8,255)

1,007,695

—

564,145
—
—

—

90,115

—

68,637

(823,524)

1,730,592

Equity
Common stock

122,403

—

—

Paid-in capital

220,608

174,614

583,872

Retained earnings (deficit)

688,591

1,223,558

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

(61,645)

Total equity
Total liabilities and equity

2,126,934

(42,871)

(10,691)

969,957
$

(50,954)

1,387,481
$
16

2,482,240

—

792,427

220,608

(1,180,687)

688,591

61,645

490,047
$

122,403

(758,486)

(61,645)

(1,877,528)
$

(2,701,052)

969,957
$

2,700,549
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Owens &
Minor, Inc.

December 31, 2016

Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Non-guarantor
Subsidiaries

Eliminations

Consolidated

Balance Sheets
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

$

Accounts receivable, net
Merchandise inventories
Other current assets
Total current assets

38,015

$

61,266

—

526,170

$

86,207

$

—

90,016

(10,102)
(1,760)

—

856,566

61,505

106

86,907

167,143

$

185,488
606,084
916,311

—

254,156

38,121

1,530,909

404,871

Property and equipment, net

—

97,725

93,993

—

191,718

Goodwill, net

—

180,006

234,930

—

414,936

Intangible assets, net

—

11,655

70,856

—

82,511

Due from O&M and subsidiaries

—

573,395

—

(573,395)

—

2,044,963

—

—

(2,044,963)

—

Advances to and investments in consolidated
subsidiaries
Other assets, net
Total assets

—

49,887

(11,862)

16,661

1,962,039

—

66,548

$

2,083,084

$

2,443,577

$

821,311

$

(2,630,220)

$

2,717,752

$

—

$

683,189

$

75,512

$

(7,951)

$

750,750

Liabilities and equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued payroll and related liabilities

—

32,814

12,237

—

45,051

Other current liabilities

7,106

93,327

138,404

Total current liabilities

7,106

809,330

226,153

Long-term debt, excluding current portion

544,838

3,219

16,526

Due to O&M and subsidiaries

571,102

—

48,044

(619,146)

—

Intercompany debt

—

138,890

—

(138,890)

—

Deferred income taxes

—

70,280

20,103

—

90,383

Other liabilities

—

60,578

7,532

—

68,110

1,123,046

1,082,297

318,358

Total liabilities

—

238,837

(7,951)

1,034,638

—

564,583

(765,987)

1,757,714

Equity

—

Common stock

122,062

—

—

Paid-in capital

219,955

174,614

583,872

Retained earnings (deficit)

685,504

1,196,341

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

(67,483)

Total equity

960,038

Total liabilities and equity

$

2,083,084

(42,032)

(9,675)

(38,887)

1,361,280
$

17

2,443,577

—

821,311

219,955

(1,154,309)

685,504

48,562

502,953
$

122,062

(758,486)

(67,483)

(1,864,233)
$

(2,630,220)

960,038
$

2,717,752
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Owens &
Minor, Inc.

Three Months Ended March 31, 2017

Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Non-guarantor
Subsidiaries

Eliminations

Consolidated

Statements of Cash Flows
Operating activities:
Net income (loss)

$

18,785

$

27,216

$

(839)

$

(26,377)

$

18,785

Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided
by (used for) operating activities:
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries

—

—

25,789

—

Depreciation and amortization

(25,789)
—

6,876

5,682

—

12,558

Share-based compensation expense

—

2,511

—

—

2,511

Provision for losses on accounts receivable

—

(707)

104

—

(603)

Deferred income tax expense (benefit)

—

(825)

—

—

(825)

(131)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable

—

2,459

Merchandise inventories

—

(3,311)

Accounts payable
Net change in other assets and liabilities
Other, net
Cash provided by (used for) operating activities

(774)

1,554

(30,154)

688

(32,777)

37

(15,051)

6,999

674

(7,341)

164

(3,434)

(21,695)

—

(24,965)

214

4,549

(20)

—

4,743

20,283

(40,054)

—

(26,360)

(6,589)

Investing activities:
Additions to property and equipment

—

(8,141)

(2,005)

—

(10,146)

Additions to computer software and intangible assets

—

(677)

(3,945)

—

(4,622)

Proceeds from the sale of property and equipment

—

45

Cash provided by (used for) investing activities

—

(8,773)

(5,680)

—

49,025

(56,375)

7,350

—

—

—

(702)

270

—

315
(14,453)

Financing activities:
Change in intercompany advances
Cash dividends paid

(15,740)

Other, net

(1,541)

Cash provided by (used for) financing activities

31,744

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and
cash equivalents

—
(516)
(56,891)

—

—

—
(15,740)

—

(2,759)

6,648

—

(18,499)

991

—

991

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

25,155

(45,381)

(38,095)

—

(58,321)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period

38,015

61,266

86,207

—

185,488

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

$

63,170

$
18

15,885

$

48,112

$

—

$

127,167
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Owens &
Minor, Inc.

Three Months Ended March 31, 2016

Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Non-guarantor
Subsidiaries

Eliminations

Consolidated

Statements of Cash Flows
Operating activities:
Net income (loss)

$

24,135

$

29,198

$

2,145

$

(31,343)

$

24,135

Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided
by (used for) operating activities:
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries

—

—

31,509

—

Depreciation and amortization

(31,509)
—

7,569

6,649

—

14,218

Share-based compensation expense

—

2,603

—

—

2,603

Provision for losses on accounts receivable

—

128

(13)

—

115

Deferred income tax expense (benefit)

—

3,922

2,985

—

6,907

Accounts receivable

—

(23,002)

(4,569)

756

(26,815)

Merchandise inventories

—

10,856

4,490

(168)

15,178

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts payable
Net change in other assets and liabilities
Other, net

—

44,449

3,056

(754)

46,751

661

(15,780)

(22,981)

—

(38,100)

123

(434)

—

153

60,066

(8,672)

—

45,145

464

Cash provided by (used for) operating activities

(6,249)

Investing activities:
Additions to property and equipment

—

(3,928)

(1,355)

—

(5,283)

Additions to computer software and intangible assets

—

(615)

(1,162)

—

(1,777)

Proceeds from the sale of property and equipment

—

4,596

—

4,599

Cash provided by (used for) investing activities

—

2,079

—

(2,461)

8,359

—

8,359

(7,426)

—

—

3
(4,540)

Financing activities:
Change in bank overdraft

—

Change in intercompany advances

—

58,435

Cash dividends paid

(51,009)

(16,029)

—

—

—

(16,029)

Repurchases of common stock

(5,630)

—

—

—

(5,630)

Other, net

(1,632)

(617)

(767)

—

(3,016)

Cash provided by (used for) financing activities

35,144

166

—

(16,316)

2,935

—

2,935

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and
cash equivalents
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

$

(51,626)

—

—

28,895

3,900

(3,492)

—

29,303

103,284

5,614

52,122

—

161,020

132,179

$

19

9,514

$

48,630

$

—

$

190,323
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Note 14—Recent Accounting Pronouncements
On January 1, 2017, we adopted ASU No. 2016-09, Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting. The amendments in this updated
guidance included changes to simplify the Codification for several aspects of the accounting for share-based payment transactions, including the income tax
consequences, classification of awards as either equity or liabilities, and classification on the statement of cash flows. As a result of this adoption, we
recognized $0.2 million in excess tax benefits in the income statement for the three months ended March 31, 2017. In addition, we recorded these tax benefits
related to stock based compensation for the current quarter in operating activities in the statements of cash flows and reclassified $0.3 million from financing
activities in the prior period to conform to this presentation.
There have been no changes in our significant accounting policies from those contained in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2016.
Note 15—Subsequent Events
On May 2, 2017, we signed a definitive purchase agreement to acquire Byram Healthcare (Byram), a wholly owned subsidiary of Mediq B.V.,
headquartered in White Plains, New York. Byram is a leading domestic distributor of reimbursable medical supplies sold directly to patients and home health
agencies. Pursuant to the purchase agreement, we will purchase all of the equity interests of Byram for $380 million in an all cash transaction. The transaction
is expected to close in the third quarter of 2017, subject to various closing conditions and regulatory approvals.
Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
The following discussion and analysis describes results of operations and material changes in the financial condition of Owens & Minor, Inc. and its
subsidiaries since December 31, 2016. Trends of a material nature are discussed to the extent known and considered relevant. This discussion should be read
in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements, related notes thereto, and management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results
of operations included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016.
Overview
Owens & Minor, Inc., along with its subsidiaries, (we, us, or our) is a leading global healthcare services company that connects the world of medical
products to the point of care. We report under three business units: Domestic, International and Proprietary Products (formerly Clinical & Procedural
Solutions (CPS) which has been renamed "Proprietary Products" effective January 1, 2017). There has been no change to the segment composition or the
method we use to measure segment operating earnings. Domestic is our U.S. distribution, logistics and value-added services business, while International is
our European distribution, logistics and value-added services business. Proprietary Products provides product-related solutions, including surgical and
procedural kitting and sourcing. Segment financial information is provided in Note 12 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in this
quarterly report.
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Financial highlights. The following table provides a reconciliation of reported operating earnings, net income and net income per diluted common
share to non-GAAP measures used by management.
Three Months Ended March 31,
(Dollars in thousands except per share data)

2017

Operating earnings, as reported (GAAP)
Acquisition-related and exit and realignment

$
charges (1)

Other (2)

2016

35,517

$

44,970

8,942

10,483

922

—

Operating earnings, adjusted (non-GAAP) (Adjusted Operated Earnings)

$

45,381

$

55,453

Net income, as reported (GAAP)

$

18,785

$

24,135

Acquisition-related and exit and realignment charges

(1)

Income tax expense (benefit) (3)
Other

(2)

8,942

10,483

(3,505)

(3,354)

922

Income tax expense (benefit) (3)

—

(354)

—

Net income, adjusted (non-GAAP) (Adjusted Net Income)

$

24,790

$

31,264

Net income per diluted common share, as reported (GAAP)

$

0.31

$

0.39

Acquisition-related and exit and realignment charges, per diluted common share

0.09

0.11

Other, per diluted common share(2)

0.01

—

Net income per diluted common share, adjusted (non-GAAP)(Adjusted EPS)

$

0.41

$

0.50

Adjusted EPS (non-GAAP) was $0.41 in the first quarter of 2017, a decline of $0.09 when compared to prior year primarily as a result of operating
earnings across all three segments. Domestic segment operating earnings of $37.3 million declined $4.4 million from the first quarter of 2016 as a result of
the exit of a large customer in 2016 and lower income from manufacturer product price changes compared to prior year. We expect revenue and gross margin
to continue to be negatively affected by this customer exit as well as other competitive dynamics. The International segment declined in the first quarter of
2017 to operating income of $0.7 million, compared to $1.1 million in the same period of 2016, as a result of on-boarding costs associated with new business.
Proprietary Products operating earnings of $8.1 million declined $5.1 million from 2016 as a result of lower revenues compared to prior year and continued
production challenges in capacity and workforce availability.
Use of Non-GAAP Measures
Adjusted operating earnings, adjusted net income and adjusted EPS are an alternative view of performance used by management, and we believe that
investors' understanding of our performance is enhanced by disclosing these performance measures. In general, the measures exclude items and charges that
(i) management does not believe reflect our core business and relate more to strategic, multi-year corporate activities; or (ii) relate to activities or actions that
may have occurred over multiple or in prior periods without predictable trends. Management uses these non-GAAP financial measures internally to evaluate
our performance, evaluate the balance sheet, engage in financial and operational planning and determine incentive compensation.
Management provides these non-GAAP financial measures to investors as supplemental metrics to assist readers in assessing the effects of items and
events on our financial and operating results and in comparing our performance to that of our competitors. However, the non-GAAP financial measures used
by us may be calculated differently from, and therefore may not be comparable to, similarly titled measures used by other companies.
The non-GAAP financial measures disclosed by us should not be considered a substitute for, or superior to, financial measures calculated in
accordance with GAAP, and the financial results calculated in accordance with GAAP and reconciliations to those financial statements set forth above should
be carefully evaluated.
(1) Acquisition-related charges, pre-tax, were $1.3 million and $(0.4) million in the first quarter of 2017 and 2016. Current year charges were
primarily transaction costs associated with the pending acquisition of Byram Healthcare. The prior year amount related to the gain on the sale of property
acquired with the Medical Action acquisition.
Exit and realignment charges, pre-tax, were $7.6 million in the first quarter of 2017 and $10.9 million in the first quarter of 2016. Amounts in 2017
were associated with the write-down of information system assets which are no longer used and severance charges from reduction in force and other
employee costs associated with the establishment of our new client engagement center. Expenses associated with the establishment of the client engagement
center will continue to be recorded throughout 2017. Charges in the first quarter of 2016 primarily included costs associated with our voluntary employee
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separation program and other severance charges. More information about these charges is provided in Note 5 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
included in this quarterly report.
(2) Software as a Service (SaaS) implementation costs associated with significant global IT platforms in connection with the redesign of our global
information system strategy.
(3) These charges have been tax effected in the preceding table by determining the income tax rate depending on the amount of charges incurred in
different tax jurisdictions and the deductibility of those charges for income tax purposes.
Results of Operations
Net revenue.
Three Months Ended March 31,
2017

(Dollars in thousands)

Domestic

$

International

2,193,960

Change

2016

$

2,321,708

$

$

%

(127,748)

(5.5)%

94,995

83,551

11,444

13.7 %

Proprietary Products

137,153

141,353

(4,200)

(3.0)%

Inter-segment

(97,535)

(90,819)

(6,716)

7.4 %

(127,220)

(5.2)%

Net revenue

$

2,328,573

$

2,455,793

$

Consolidated net revenue declined primarily as a result of the exit of a large domestic customer in 2016. The increase in the International segment
was driven by growth with existing customers and new business, partially offset by unfavorable foreign currency translation impacts of $8.4 million. A
decrease in sales of our sourced products contributed to the year over year change in the Proprietary Products segment.
Cost of goods sold.
Three Months Ended March 31,
2017

(Dollars in thousands)

Cost of goods sold

$

2,047,393

Change

2016

$

2,159,157

$

$

%

(111,764)

(5.2)%

Cost of goods sold includes the cost of the product (net of supplier incentives and cash discounts) and all costs incurred for shipments of products
from manufacturers to our distribution centers for all customer arrangements where we are the primary obligor, bear risk of general and physical inventory
loss and carry all credit risk associated with sales. These are sometimes referred to as distribution or buy/sell contracts. Cost of goods sold also includes direct
and certain indirect labor, material and overhead costs associated with our Proprietary Products business. There is no cost of goods sold associated with our
fee-for-service business. As a result of the decrease in sales activity through our distribution and kitting businesses, cost of goods sold decreased $111.8
million compared to the first quarter of 2016.
Gross margin.
Three Months Ended March 31,
2017

(Dollars in thousands)

Gross margin
As a % of net revenue

$

Change

2016

281,180
12.08%

$

$

296,636

$

(15,456)

%

(5.2)%

12.08%

The change in gross margin compared to the prior year was largely attributable to lower revenues, a decline in provider margin, lower income from
manufacturer product price changes, and the unfavorable impact of foreign currency translation of $4.7 million. With increasing customer cost pressures and
competitive dynamics in healthcare, we believe the current trend of increased gross margin pressure will continue.
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Operating expenses.
Three Months Ended March 31,
2017

(Dollars in thousands)

Distribution, selling & administrative expenses

$

2016

237,693

As a % of net revenue

Other operating income, net

$

$

242,725

10.21%

$

Change

(972)

$

%

(5,032)

(2.1)%

9.88%

$

(1,542)

$

570

37.0 %

Distribution, selling and administrative (DS&A) expenses include labor and warehousing costs associated with our distribution and logistics services
and all costs associated with our fee-for-service arrangements. Shipping and handling costs are included in DS&A expenses and include costs to store, move,
and prepare products for shipment, as well as costs to deliver products to customers. The costs to convert new customers to our information systems are
included in DS&A and are generally incurred prior to the recognition of revenues from the new customers.
The decrease in DS&A expenses compared to prior year reflected the decreased sales activity in the quarter and benefits of cost control initiatives, as
well as favorable foreign currency translation impacts of $4.7 million, offset in part by higher delivery costs and on-boarding costs in connection with new
business. As a percentage of net revenue, the increase related to the large customer loss in 2016.
The decrease in other operating income, net was attributed primarily to software as a service implementation expenses which were not incurred in
2016.
A discussion of the acquisition-related and exit and realignment charges is included above in the Overview section.
Interest expense, net.
Three Months Ended March 31,
2017

(Dollars in thousands)

Interest expense, net

$

2016

6,744

Effective interest rate

Change

$

$

6,790

4.59%

$

%

(46)

(0.7)%

4.79%

Interest expense in the first quarter of 2017 was consistent with prior year.
Income taxes.
Three Months Ended March 31,
2017

(Dollars in thousands)

Income tax provision

$

9,988

Effective tax rate

Change

2016
34.7%

$

$

14,045

$

%

(4,057)

(28.9)%

36.8%

The change in the effective tax rate compared to 2016 resulted primarily from a higher percentage of the company's pretax income earned in lower
tax rate jurisdictions compared to prior year.
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Financial Condition, Liquidity and Capital Resources
Financial condition. We monitor operating working capital through days sales outstanding (DSO) and merchandise inventory turnover. We estimate
a hypothetical increase (decrease) in DSO of one day would result in a decrease (increase) in our cash balances, an increase (decrease) in borrowings against
our revolving credit facility, or a combination thereof of approximately $26 million.
The majority of our cash and cash equivalents are held in cash depository accounts with major banks in the United States and Europe or invested
in high-quality, short-term liquid investments. Changes in our working capital can vary in the normal course of business based upon the timing of inventory
purchases, collection of accounts receivable, and payment to suppliers.
Change

December 31,
2016

(Dollars in thousands)

March 31, 2017

Cash and cash equivalents

$

127,167

$

185,488

$

(58,321)

(31.4)%

Accounts receivable, net of allowances

$

605,249

$

606,084

$

(835)

(0.1)%

$

949,346

$

916,311

$

745,165

$

750,750

Consolidated DSO

(1)

22.7

Merchandise inventories
Consolidated inventory turnover
Accounts payable

(2)

$

%

23.1

8.9

$

33,035

3.6 %

$

(5,585)

(0.7)%

9.2

(1) Based on period end accounts receivable and net revenue for the quarter
(2) Based on average annual inventory and costs of goods sold for the quarter ended March 31, 2017 and year ended December 31, 2016

Liquidity and capital expenditures. The following table summarizes our consolidated statements of cash flows for the three months ended March 31,
2017 and 2016:
2017

(Dollars in thousands)

2016

Net cash provided by (used for):
Operating activities

$

(26,360)

$

45,145

Investing activities

(14,453)

(2,461)

Financing activities

(18,499)

(16,316)

Effect of exchange rate changes

991

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

$

(58,321)

2,935
$

29,303

Cash used for operating activities was $26.4 million in the first three months of 2017, compared to $45.1 million in cash provided by operating
activities for the same period of 2016. The decrease in cash from operating activities for the first three months of 2017 compared to the same period in 2016
was primarily due to routine changes in working capital, including timing of payments to vendors.
Cash used for investing activities was $14.5 million in the first three months of 2017, compared to $2.5 million in the same period of 2016. Investing
activities in 2017 and 2016 relate to capital expenditures for our strategic and operational efficiency initiatives, particularly initiatives relating to information
technology enhancements and optimizing our distribution network. Cash used for investing activities in 2016 was partially offset by $4.6 million in proceeds
from the sale of property.
Cash used for financing activities in the first three months of 2017 was $18.5 million, compared to $16.3 million used in the same period of 2016.
During the first three months of 2017, we paid dividends of $15.7 million (compared to $16.0 million in the same period of 2016). In 2016 we repurchased
$5.6 million in common stock offset by an $8.3 million bank overdraft, neither of which occurred in the first three months of 2017.
Capital resources. Our sources of liquidity include cash and cash equivalents and a revolving credit facility (the Amended Credit Agreement) with a
$450 million borrowing capacity which extends through September 2019. Under the Amended Credit Agreement, we have the ability to request two one-year
extensions and to request an increase in aggregate commitments by up to $200 million. The interest rate on the Amended Credit Agreement, which is subject
to adjustment quarterly, is based on the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR), the Federal Funds Rate or the Prime Rate, plus an adjustment based on the
better of our debt ratings or leverage ratio (Credit Spread) as defined by the Amended Credit Agreement. We are charged a commitment fee of between 12.5
and 25.0 basis points on the unused portion of the facility. The terms of the Amended Credit Agreement limit the amount of indebtedness that we may incur
and require us to maintain ratios for leverage and interest coverage, including on a pro forma basis in the event of an acquisition. We may utilize the revolving
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credit facility for long-term strategic growth, capital expenditures, working capital and general corporate purposes. If we were unable to access the revolving
credit facility, it could impact our ability to fund these needs. Based on our leverage ratio at March 31, 2017, the interest rate under the credit facility is
LIBOR plus 1.375%.
At March 31, 2017, we had no borrowings and letters of credit of approximately $5.1 million outstanding under the Amended Credit Agreement,
leaving $445 million available for borrowing. We also have a $1.1 million letter of credit outstanding as of March 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016 which
supports our facilities leased in Europe.
We have $275 million of 3.875% senior notes due 2021 (the “2021 Notes”) and $275 million of 4.375% senior notes due 2024 (the “2024 Notes”).
The 2021 Notes were sold at 99.5% of the principal amount with an effective yield of 3.951%. The 2024 Notes were sold at 99.6% of the principal amount
with an effective yield of 4.422%. Interest on the 2021 Notes and 2024 Notes is payable semiannually in arrears, which commenced on March 15, 2015 and
December 15, 2014, respectively. We have the option to redeem the 2021 Notes and 2024 Notes in part or in whole prior to maturity at a redemption price
equal to the greater of 100% of the principal amount or the present value of the remaining scheduled payments discounted at the Treasury Rate plus 30 basis
points.
In the first quarter of 2017, we paid cash dividends on our outstanding common stock at the rate of $0.2575 per share, which represents a 1%
increase over the rate of $0.255 per share paid in the first quarter of 2016. We anticipate continuing to pay quarterly cash dividends in the future. However,
the payment of future dividends remains within the discretion of the Board of Directors and will depend upon our results of operations, financial condition,
capital requirements and other factors.
In October 2016, the Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase program of up to $100 million of our outstanding common stock to be
executed at the discretion of management over a three-year period, expiring in December 2019. The program is intended to offset shares issued in conjunction
with our stock incentive plan and return capital to shareholders, and may be suspended or discontinued at any time. We did not repurchase shares under this
program during the first quarter of 2017.
We earn a portion of our operating earnings in foreign jurisdictions outside the U.S., which we consider to be indefinitely reinvested. Accordingly,
no U.S. federal and state income taxes and withholding taxes have been provided on these earnings. Our cash, cash-equivalents, short-term investments, and
marketable securities held by our foreign subsidiaries totaled $45.5 million and $82.1 million as of March 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016. We do not
intend, nor do we foresee a need, to repatriate these funds or other assets held outside the U.S. In the future, should we require more capital to fund
discretionary activities in the U.S. than is generated by our U.S.-based operations and is available through our borrowings, we could elect to repatriate cash or
other assets from foreign jurisdictions that have previously been considered to be indefinitely reinvested.
We believe available financing sources, including cash generated by operating activities and borrowings under the Amended Credit Agreement,
will be sufficient to fund our working capital needs, capital expenditures, long-term strategic growth, payments under long-term debt and lease arrangements,
payments of quarterly cash dividends, share repurchases and other cash requirements. While we believe that we will have the ability to meet our financing
needs in the foreseeable future, changes in economic conditions may impact (i) the ability of financial institutions to meet their contractual commitments to
us, (ii) the ability of our customers and suppliers to meet their obligations to us or (iii) our cost of borrowing.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
For a discussion of recent accounting pronouncements, see our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016 and Note 14 in
the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended on March 31, 2017.
Forward-looking Statements
Certain statements in this discussion constitute “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of
1995. Although we believe our expectations with respect to the forward-looking statements are based upon reasonable assumptions within the bounds of our
knowledge of our business and operations, all forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties and, as a result, actual results could differ materially
from those projected, anticipated or implied by these statements. Such forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, including, but not
limited to:
•

competitive pressures in the marketplace, including intense pricing pressure;

•

our ability to retain existing and attract new customers in a market characterized by significant customer consolidation and intense costcontainment initiatives;

•

our dependence on sales to certain customers or the loss or material reduction in purchases by key customers;
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•

our dependence on distribution of product of certain suppliers;

•

our ability to successfully identify, manage or integrate acquisitions;

•

our ability to successfully manage our international operations, including risks associated with changes in international trade regulations, foreign
currency volatility, changes in regulatory conditions, deteriorating economic conditions, adverse tax consequences, and other risks of operating
in international markets;

•

uncertainties related to and our ability to adapt to changes in government regulations, including healthcare laws and regulations (including the
Affordable Care Act);

•

risks arising from possible violations of legal, regulatory or licensing requirements of the markets in which we operate;

•

uncertainties related to general economic, regulatory and business conditions;

•

our ability to successfully implement our strategic initiatives;

•

the availability of and modifications to existing supplier funding programs and our ability to meet the terms to qualify for certain of these
programs;

•

our ability to adapt to changes in product pricing and other terms of purchase by suppliers of product;

•

the ability of customers and suppliers to meet financial commitments due to us;

•

changes in manufacturer preferences between direct sales and wholesale distribution;

•

changing trends in customer profiles and ordering patterns and our ability to meet customer demand for additional value-added services;

•

our ability to manage operating expenses and improve operational efficiencies in response to changing customer profiles;

•

our ability to meet performance targets specified by customer contracts under contractual commitments;

•

availability of and our ability to access special inventory buying opportunities;

•

the ability of business partners and financial institutions to perform their contractual responsibilities;

•

the effect of price volatility in the commodities markets, including fuel price fluctuations, on our operating costs and supplier product prices;

•

our ability to continue to obtain financing at reasonable rates and to manage financing costs and interest rate risk;

•

the risk that information systems are interrupted or damaged or fail for any extended period of time, that new information systems are not
successfully implemented or integrated, or that there is a data security breach in our information systems;

•

the risk that a decline in business volume or profitability could result in an impairment of goodwill or other long-lived assets;

•

our ability to timely or adequately respond to technological advances in the medical supply industry;

•

the costs associated with and outcome of outstanding and any future litigation, including product and professional liability claims;

•

adverse changes in U.S. and foreign tax laws and the outcome of outstanding tax contingencies and legislative and tax proposals; and

•

other factors described in “Item 1A. Risk Factors” of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016.
We undertake no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, except as required by applicable law.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
We are exposed to market risk from changes in interest rates related to our revolving credit facility. We had no outstanding borrowings and
approximately $5.1 million in letters of credit under the revolving credit facility at March 31, 2017. A hypothetical increase in interest rates of 100 basis
points would result in a potential reduction in future pre-tax earnings of approximately $0.1 million per year for every $10 million of outstanding borrowings
under the revolving credit facility.
Due to the nature and pricing of our Domestic segment distribution services, we are exposed to potential volatility in fuel prices. Our strategies for
helping to mitigate our exposure to changing domestic fuel prices has included entering into leases for trucks with improved fuel efficiency. We benchmark
our domestic diesel fuel purchase prices against the U.S. Weekly Retail On-Highway Diesel Prices (benchmark) as quoted by the U.S. Energy Information
Administration. The benchmark averaged $2.57 per gallon in the first three months of 2017, increased 24% from $2.07 per gallon in the first three months of
2016. Based on our fuel consumption in the first three months of 2017, we estimate that every 10 cents per gallon increase in the benchmark would reduce our
Domestic segment operating earnings by approximately $0.3 million on an annualized basis.
In the normal course of business, we are exposed to foreign currency translation and transaction risks. Our business transactions outside of the
United States are primarily denominated in the Euro and British Pound. We may use foreign currency forwards, swaps and options, where possible, to manage
our risk related to certain foreign currency fluctuations. However, we believe that our foreign currency transaction risks are low since our revenues and
expenses are typically denominated in the same currency.
Item 4. Controls and Procedures
We carried out an evaluation, with the participation of management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, of the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (pursuant to Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) as of the end of
the period covered by this report. Based upon that evaluation, the principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that our disclosure
controls and procedures were effective as of March 31, 2017. There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter
ended March 31, 2017, that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
Part II. Other Information
Item 1. Legal Proceedings
Certain legal proceedings pending against us are described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016. Through
March 31, 2017, there have been no material developments in any legal proceedings reported in such Annual Report.
Item 1A. Risk Factors
Certain risk factors that we believe could affect our business and prospects are described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2016. Through March 31, 2017, there have been no material changes in the risk factors described in such Annual Report.
Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities, Use of Proceeds and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
In October 2016, our Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase program of up to $100 million of the company’s outstanding common stock
to be executed at the discretion of management over a three-year period. The timing of repurchases and the exact number of shares of common stock to be
purchased will depend upon market conditions and other factors and may be suspended or discontinued at any time. Purchases under the share repurchase
program are made either pursuant to 10b5-1 plans entered into by the company from time to time and/or during the company’s scheduled quarterly trading
windows for officers and directors. We did not repurchase any shares for the three months ended March 31, 2017.
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Item 5. Other Information
(a) On May 2, 2017, Owens & Minor, Inc., through two wholly-owned subsidiaries, Barista Acquisition I, LLC and Barista Acquisition II, LLC
(collectively, the “Company”) entered into an Interest Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) to acquire all of the outstanding partnership interests
of Mediq USA Holdings, the owner of Byram Healthcare, a national leader in disposable medical supply delivery (“Byram”) from Mediq B.V. and Mediq
International B.V. (collectively, the “Sellers”) for total cash consideration of $380 million (the “Purchase Price”), subject to a customary working capital
adjustment as provided in the Purchase Agreement (the “Acquisition”). A portion of the Purchase Price will be held in escrow to secure the indemnification
obligations of the Sellers. Subject to the conditions, approvals and waiting periods discussed herein, it is expected that the Acquisition will be completed in
the third quarter of 2017.
The Company intends to fund the Acquisition (including transaction costs and expenses) with a combination of available cash and revolving loan
borrowings under its existing Amended Credit Agreement dated September 17, 2014.
The Purchase Agreement contains representations, warranties, covenants and indemnification provisions of the parties that are customary for
transactions of this type. Until the consummation of the transactions contemplated by the Purchase Agreement, the Sellers and Byram have agreed, subject to
certain exceptions, to conduct the Byram business in the ordinary course.
Completion of the Acquisition is subject to certain closing conditions, regulatory approvals and the satisfaction or waiver of customary conditions,
including (i) the expiration or termination of the applicable waiting period under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976 (as amended),
(ii) the absence of a material adverse effect with respect to Byram, (iii) the absence of certain legal impediments and (iv) receipt of written consent from the
U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Office of Inspector General that the obligations set forth in the Corporate Integrity Agreement, dated April
29, 2016, between Byram Healthcare Centers, Inc. and the Office of Inspector General of the United States Department of Health and Human Services, will
only apply to the Byram business following the closing of the Acquisition.
The Purchase Agreement contains certain termination rights for the parties, in certain circumstances, including: (i) by mutual written agreement of
the parties; (ii) by either party if the transaction is not consummated on or before August 30, 2017 (with up to two 30-day extensions), provided that at such
time the party seeking to terminate is not in material breach of its obligations under the Purchase Agreement or (iii) by either party for certain breaches of the
Purchase Agreement that are not cured.
The Acquisition does not require the approval of the Company’s stockholders, and the Company’s obligation to complete the Acquisition is not
conditioned on receipt by the Company of debt or other third-party financing.
The foregoing description of the Purchase Agreement does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the Purchase
Agreement, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit 10.1 to this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and is incorporated herein by reference. The Purchase
Agreement contains representations and warranties that the parties thereto made to each other solely for purposes of the Purchase Agreement as of specified
dates, are solely for the benefit of the parties to the Purchase Agreement and may be subject to important qualifications and limitations agreed to by the
parties thereto in connection with negotiating the terms thereof. Moreover, some of those representations and warranties may be subject to certain disclosures
between the parties and may be subject to a contractual standard of materiality different from those generally applicable to stockholders. The representations
and warranties were made for the purpose of allocating risk among the parties to the Purchase Agreement and should not be relied upon as a disclosure of
factual information.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
Owens & Minor, Inc.
(Registrant)
Date:

May 3, 2017

/s/ Paul C. Phipps
Paul C. Phipps
President & Chief Executive Officer

Date:

May 3, 2017

/s/ Richard A. Meier
Richard A. Meier
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer & President,
International
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Item 6. Exhibits
(a) Exhibits
10.1

Interest Purchase Agreement, dated as of May 2, 2017, by and among Owens & Minor, Inc., Barista Acquisition I, LLC,
Barista Acquisition II, LLC , Mediq B.V. , Mediq International B.V. and Mediq USA Holdings

31.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101.INS

XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF

XBRL Taxonomy Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
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MEDIQ INTERNATIONAL B.V.,
MEDIQ USA HOLDINGS,
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OWENS & MINOR, INC.
Dated as of May 2, 2017
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INTEREST PURCHASE AGREEMENT
This INTEREST PURCHASE AGREEMENT, dated as of May 2, 2017 (this “Agreement”), is by and among Barista
Acquisition I, LLC, a Virginia limited liability company (“Buyer A”), Barista Acquisition II, LLC, a Virginia limited liability
company (“Buyer B” and, together with Buyer A, the “Buyers”), Mediq B.V., a private limited liability company (besloten
vennootschap met beperkte aansprakelijkheid) incorporated under the laws of the Netherlands (“Mediq”), Mediq International B.V.,
a private limited liability company (besloten vennootschap met beperkte aansprakelijkheid) incorporated under the laws of the
Netherlands (“Mediq International” and, together with Mediq, the “Sellers”), Mediq USA Holdings, a Delaware general partnership
(the “Company”), and solely for the purposes of Section 10.20 of this Agreement, Owens & Minor, Inc., a Virginia corporation (the
“Guarantor”). The Buyers, the Sellers and the Company are sometimes individually referred to in this Agreement as a “Party” and
collectively as the “Parties”. Capitalized terms used in this Agreement shall have the meanings ascribed to them in Exhibit A
attached hereto.
WHEREAS, the Sellers collectively own one hundred percent (100%) of the partnership interests (the “Interests”) of the
Company;
WHEREAS, on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, the Buyers desire to purchase from the
Sellers, and the Sellers desire to sell to the Buyers, all of the Interests;
WHEREAS, the respective boards of directors or equivalent governing body, as applicable, of each of the Buyers, the
Sellers and the Company have approved this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby; and
WHEREAS, concurrently with the execution of this Agreement, the Group Companies and certain key employees of the
Group Companies listed on Schedule 1 (the “Key Employees”) have entered into retention agreements (collectively, the “Retention
Agreements”).
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the respective representations, warranties, covenants and
undertakings contained herein, and subject to and on the terms and conditions set forth herein, the Parties agree as follows:
ARTICLE I
PURCHASE AND SALE
Section 1.1 Purchase and Sale. Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, at the
Closing, the Sellers shall sell, assign, transfer and convey to the Buyers, and the Buyers shall purchase and acquire from the Sellers,
all of the Interests, free and clear of all Liens.
Section 1.2 Purchase Price. The aggregate purchase price for all of the Interests (the “Purchase Price”) shall be an
amount equal to the sum of:
(a) $380,000,000 (the “Base Purchase Price”);
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(b) plus the amount (if any) by which Net Working Capital exceeds the Target Net Working Capital;
(c) plus the Cash and Cash Equivalents;
(d) minus the Company Transaction Expenses;
(e)
minus the outstanding amounts of Indebtedness and Debt-Like Items of the Group Companies as of
immediately prior to the Closing; and
(f) minus the amount (if any) by which the Target Net Working Capital exceeds Net Working Capital.
Section 1.3 Closing Date Statements. Not less than three (3) Business Days prior to the Closing Date, the Company
shall deliver to the Buyers:
(a) a statement (the “Closing Date Financial Certificate”), signed by the Chief Financial Officer, which sets forth a
good faith estimate and which shall include reasonably detailed supporting calculations of (i) the Net Working Capital
(the “Estimated Closing Net Working Capital”), and the Estimated Net Working Capital Surplus or the Estimated Net Working
Capital Deficit, as the case may be, (ii) the Company Transaction Expenses (the “Estimated Closing Company Transaction
Expenses”), and (iii) the Cash and Cash Equivalents (the “Estimated Closing Cash”), and, in the case of (i), calculated in
accordance with the accounting principles set forth on Exhibit B (the “Working Capital Rules”) and presented consistent with
Exhibit C, which exhibit provides an illustrative calculation of Net Working Capital as of March 31, 2017. The Company shall
provide reasonable supporting detail to evidence the Company’s calculations, explanations and assumptions for the calculation of
amounts on the Closing Date Financial Certificate, it being agreed that (x) the Company will permit the Buyers and their
Representatives to review and comment in advance on the Closing Date Financial Certificate and (y) the Company shall consider in
good faith any reasonable comments provided by the Buyers on the Closing Date Financial Certificate; and
(b) a statement (the “Closing Date Indebtedness Statement”), prepared in accordance with Exhibit D and signed by
the Chief Financial Officer, which sets forth by lender or other party a good faith estimate of the Indebtedness and Debt-Like Items
of the Group Companies outstanding as of immediately prior to the Closing (the “Estimated Closing Indebtedness”). The Company
shall provide reasonable supporting detail to evidence the Company’s calculations, explanations and assumptions for the
calculation of amounts on the Closing Date Indebtedness Statement.
Section 1.4 Closing Payments. At the Closing, the Buyers shall:
(a) on behalf of the Company, pay or cause to be paid, by wire transfer of immediately available funds to such
account or accounts as the Company specifies to the Buyers pursuant to the Closing Date Financial Certificate, the aggregate
amount of the Estimated Closing Company Transaction Expenses;
-2-

(b) on behalf of the Company, pay or cause to be paid, by wire transfer of immediately available funds to such
account or accounts as the Company specifies to the Buyers pursuant to the Closing Date Indebtedness Statement and the Payoff
and Release Documents, the aggregate amount of the Payoff Indebtedness;
(c) pay or cause to be paid to the Escrow Agent, for deposit in the Indemnity Escrow Fund, the Indemnity Amount,
which shall be held by the Escrow Agent subject to and in accordance with the terms of the Escrow Agreement and the applicable
provisions of this Agreement; and
(d) pay or cause to be paid to the Sellers, by wire transfer of immediately available funds to such account or
accounts as the Sellers specify to the Buyers in accordance with written instructions delivered by the Sellers to the Buyers at least
three (3) Business Days prior to the Closing Date, the Closing Cash Payment.
Section 1.5 Post-Closing Adjustment.
(a) Within sixty (60) days after the Closing Date, the Buyers shall prepare and deliver to the Sellers a statement
(the “Preliminary Closing Statement”), which sets forth the Buyers’ good faith calculation of, and which shall include reasonably
detailed supporting calculations of, (i) the Net Working Capital, calculated in accordance with the Working Capital Rules and
presented consistent with Exhibit C (the “Closing Net Working Capital”), (ii) the amount of Indebtedness and Debt-Like Items of
the Group Companies outstanding as of immediately prior to the Closing (the “Closing Indebtedness”), prepared in accordance
with Exhibit D, (iii) the Company Transaction Expenses (the “Closing Company Transaction Expenses”), and (iv) the Cash and
Cash Equivalents (the “Closing Cash”). If the Buyers fail to produce the Preliminary Closing Statement within sixty (60) days after
the Closing Date, then the Estimated Closing Net Working Capital, Estimated Closing Company Transaction Expenses, Estimated
Closing Indebtedness and Estimated Closing Cash prepared by the Company shall become final and binding. Purchase accounting
or other adjustments arising out of the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall not be considered
for purposes of determining the Preliminary Closing Statement. The Preliminary Closing Statement shall be based on facts and
circumstances as they exist immediately prior to the Closing and shall exclude the effect of any act, decision, change in
circumstance, development or event arising or occurring on or after the Closing.
(b) The Preliminary Closing Statement shall become the Final Closing Statement and become final and binding
upon the Parties hereto on the date that is forty-five (45) days following the date on which the Preliminary Closing Statement was
received by the Sellers, unless prior to such date the Sellers deliver to the Buyers written notice of the Sellers’ disagreement with
any item (each item, a “Disputed Item” and collectively, the “Disputed Items”) contained in the Preliminary Closing Statement,
which notice shall set forth in reasonable detail the item, amount and basis for each Disputed Item (a “Notice of Disagreement”).
During the forty-five (45) day period following the Sellers’ receipt of the Preliminary Closing Statement, the Buyers shall after
reasonable advance notice by the Sellers (i) permit the Sellers and their accountants to consult with the Company and the Buyers’
accountants during normal business hours, and (ii) provide to the Sellers and their accountants under reasonable circumstances a
copy of the relevant books and records (including
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those of the Buyers’ accountants subject to the execution of appropriate agreements with the Buyers’ accountants) relating to the
preparation of the Preliminary Closing Statement. If a Notice of Disagreement is delivered to the Buyers, then the Preliminary
Closing Statement (as revised in accordance with clause (A) or (B) below) shall become the Final Closing Statement and become
final and binding upon the Parties on the earlier of the date (A) on which the Sellers and the Buyers resolve in writing any
differences they have with respect to the Disputed Items specified in the Notice of Disagreement, and (B) all Disputed Items are
finally resolved in writing by the Accounting Firm in accordance with Section 1.5(c). During the thirty (30) days following the
delivery to the Buyers of a Notice of Disagreement, the Buyers and the Sellers shall seek in good faith to resolve in writing any
differences they have with respect to the Disputed Items specified in the Notice of Disagreement. Any such Disputed Item resolved
in writing by the Buyers and the Sellers during the thirty (30) days following the delivery to the Buyers of a Notice of
Disagreement shall be final and binding upon the Parties. If the Buyers and the Sellers are able to resolve in writing all of the
Disputed Items set forth in the Notice of Disagreement within thirty (30) days following the delivery to the Buyers of such Notice
of Disagreement, then the Final Closing Statement shall be prepared in accordance with the agreement of the Buyers and the
Sellers.
(c) If the Buyers and the Sellers are unable to resolve the disputed items set forth in the Notice of Disagreement
within thirty (30) days following the delivery to the Buyers of such Notice of Disagreement, the Sellers and the Buyers shall submit
such dispute to be resolved by (x) Grant Thornton or (y) in the event such accounting firm is unable or unwilling to take such
assignment, a nationally recognized independent accounting firm mutually agreed upon by the Buyers and the Sellers
(the “Accounting Firm”). The Buyers and the Sellers shall submit to the Accounting Firm for review and resolution all Disputed
Items (but only such Disputed Items) that are set forth in the Notice of Disagreement which remain in dispute. The Buyers and the
Sellers shall instruct the Accounting Firm to select one of its partners experienced in purchase price adjustment disputes to make a
final determination of the Net Working Capital, the outstanding amounts of Indebtedness and Debt-Like Items as of immediately
prior to the Closing, the Company Transaction Expenses and the Cash and Cash Equivalents calculated with reference to the items
that are in dispute as set forth in the Notice of Disagreement. In resolving the items in the Notice of Disagreement that are still in
dispute and in determining the Net Working Capital, the outstanding amounts of Indebtedness and Debt-Like Items of the Group
Companies as of immediately prior to the Closing, the Company Transaction Expenses and the Cash and Cash Equivalents, the
Accounting Firm shall (i) not assign to any item in dispute a value that is (A) greater than the greatest value for such item assigned
by the Buyers, on the one hand, or the Sellers, on the other hand, or (B) less than the smallest value for such item assigned by the
Buyers, on the one hand, or the Sellers, on the other hand, (ii) make a final determination of the Disputed Items in accordance with
the provisions, the guidelines and the procedures set forth in this Agreement, (iii) act as an expert and not as an arbitrator,
(iv) render a final resolution in writing to the Buyers and the Sellers (which final resolution shall be requested by the Buyers and
the Sellers to be delivered not more than thirty (30) days following submission of such Disputed Items to the Accounting Firm or
such longer period as the Accounting Firm may reasonably require), which, absent manifest error, shall be final, conclusive and
binding on the Parties with respect to the Net Working Capital, the outstanding amounts of Indebtedness and Debt-Like Items of
the Group Companies as of immediately prior to the Closing, the Company Transaction Expenses and the Cash and Cash
Equivalents, and (v) not
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engage in independent factual investigation, not hear evidence from either the Buyers or the Sellers outside the presence of both the
Buyers and the Sellers, and not engage in ex parte communications with the Buyers or the Sellers. The fees and disbursements of
the Accounting Firm shall be borne by (A) the Buyers in the proportion that the aggregate dollar value of the Disputed Items
submitted to the Accounting Firm that are unsuccessfully disputed by the Buyers bears to the aggregate value of all such items so
disputed and (B) the Sellers in the proportion that the aggregate dollar value of the Disputed Items submitted to the Accounting
Firm that are unsuccessfully disputed by the Sellers bears to the aggregate value of all such items so disputed.
(d) The Preliminary Closing Statement (as adjusted by the agreement of the Parties or at the direction of the
Accounting Firm, as applicable) shall be deemed final and binding upon the Parties hereto and shall become the Final Closing
Statement for the purposes of this Section 1.5 upon the earliest of the (i) failure of the Sellers to notify the Buyers of a dispute
within forty-five (45) days after delivery to the Sellers of the Preliminary Closing Statement, (ii) resolution of all disputes, pursuant
to Section 1.5(b), by the Buyers and the Sellers, or (iii) resolution of all remaining disputes, pursuant to Section 1.5(c), by the
Accounting Firm.
(e) Within five (5) Business Days following the determination of the Final Closing Statement:
(i) if there is a Final Deficit, then the Sellers shall pay an amount equal to such Final Deficit to the Buyers
in accordance with Section 1.5(f); and
(ii) if there is a Final Surplus, then the Buyers shall pay an amount equal to such Final Surplus to the Sellers
in accordance with Section 1.5(f).
(f) All payments required under this Section 1.5 shall be made in cash by wire transfer of immediately available
funds to such bank account(s) as shall be designated in writing by the recipient(s).
(g) The Parties acknowledge the procedures set forth in this Section 1.5 are not intended to permit the introduction
of accounting methods, policies, practices, procedures, classifications or estimation methodologies in connection with the
determination of Net Working Capital other than as required by the Working Capital Rules.
Section 1.6 Withholding. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, the Buyers shall be entitled
to withhold from any amount otherwise payable pursuant to this Agreement such amounts as are required to be withheld under
applicable Law. To the extent that amounts are so withheld and paid over to the appropriate taxing authority, such withheld amounts
shall be treated for all purposes of this Agreement as having been paid to the Person in respect of which such deduction and
withholding was made. In the event that the Buyers determine that withholding is required under applicable Law with regard to
amounts otherwise payable to the Sellers under this Agreement, the Buyers shall promptly notify the Sellers of such withholding
obligation and the Buyers shall work in good faith with the Sellers to avoid the application of any such withholding obligation. In
connection with any payments to be made by the Buyers pursuant to Section 1.4(a) and Section 1.4(b), to the extent such payments
are made to non-U.S. Persons, the
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Company shall deliver to the Buyers reasonably in advance of the Closing Date any necessary Tax forms as required under the
Code or any local, state or foreign Tax Laws to establish the appropriate withholding Taxes (if any) and Tax reporting required in
connection with such payments.
ARTICLE II
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY
Subject to the terms, conditions and limitations set forth in this Agreement, the Company hereby represents and warrants to
the Buyers as follows:
Section 2.1 Organization. The Company (a) is a general partnership duly organized, validly existing and in good
standing under the Laws of the State of Delaware, and (b) has all requisite general partnership power and general partnership
authority to own, lease and operate its properties and to carry on in all material respects its businesses as owned or conducted on
the date hereof. The Company is duly qualified or licensed and in good standing to do business as a foreign entity under the Laws
of each jurisdiction in which the nature of its business, or the ownership, leasing or operation of its properties or assets, makes such
qualification necessary, except where the failure of such qualification, license or registration would not reasonably be expected to
have a Material Adverse Effect.
Section 2.2
Authorization. The Company has all requisite general partnership power and general partnership
authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and the Company Ancillary Documents, to perform its obligations hereunder and
thereunder, and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. The execution, delivery and performance of this
Agreement and the Company Ancillary Documents, and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby,
have been duly authorized by all necessary general partnership action on the part of the Company, and no other general partnership
action or proceeding on the part of the Company, any Company Subsidiary or the Sellers is required to authorize the execution,
delivery and performance hereof and thereof by the Company, and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and
thereby. Subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency and other similar Laws affecting the enforceability of creditors’ rights
generally, general equitable principles and the discretion of courts in granting equitable remedies, (a) this Agreement has been duly
authorized, executed and delivered by the Company and, assuming that this Agreement has been duly authorized, executed and
delivered by the other Parties, constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of the Company, enforceable against the Company
in accordance with its terms, and (b) as of the Closing Date, the Company Ancillary Documents shall be duly authorized, executed
and delivered by the Company and, assuming that such Company Ancillary Documents have been duly authorized, executed and
delivered by the other parties thereto, shall constitute the legal, valid and binding obligations of the Company, enforceable against
the Company in accordance with their terms.
Section 2.3 Capitalization of the Company. As of the date hereof, the Interests constitute all the Equity Interests of
the Company, and as of the Closing the Interests shall constitute all of the Equity Interests of the Company. The Interests are held
of record by the Sellers in the respective amounts set forth on Schedule 2.3, free and clear of Liens other than Permitted Liens.
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Except as set forth on Schedule 2.3, the Company has no Equity Interests or securities containing any equity features authorized,
issued or outstanding, and there are no agreements, options, warrants or other rights or arrangements existing or outstanding which
provide for the sale or issuance of any of the foregoing by the Company. Except for the Interests, there are no outstanding (i) Equity
Interests or voting securities of the Company, (ii) securities convertible or exchangeable into Equity Interests of the Company, (iii)
options, warrants, purchase rights, subscription rights, preemptive rights, conversion rights, exchange rights, calls, puts, rights of
first refusal or other Contracts that require the Company to issue, sell or otherwise cause to become outstanding or to acquire,
repurchase or redeem Equity Interests of the Company or (iv) stock appreciation, phantom stock, profit participation or similar
rights with respect to the Company. All of the outstanding Interests of the Company have been duly authorized. Except as set forth
on Schedule 2.3, there are no preemptive or subscription rights or other similar rights in respect of the Interests and there are no
Liens (other than Permitted Liens) on, or voting trusts, shareholder agreements, proxies or other contractual obligations relating to,
the ownership, transfer or voting of the Interests. There is no contractual obligation, or provision in the organizational documents of
the Company which requires the Company to issue, sell, redeem or otherwise acquire, or make any payment (including any
dividend or distribution) in respect of, the Interests.
Section 2.4 Company Subsidiaries.
(a)
Schedule 2.4 sets forth a true and complete list of the name, jurisdiction of organization, authorized
capitalization, the number of type of all issued and outstanding capital stock or other equity securities and the current ownership of
all issued and outstanding capital stock or other equity securities of each Company Subsidiary. Except as set forth on Schedule 2.4,
there are no contracts to which the Company or any Company Subsidiary is a party or by which the Company or any Company
Subsidiary is bound to (i) repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any shares of the capital stock or other equity securities of any
Company Subsidiary or (ii) vote or dispose of any shares of the capital stock or other equity securities of any Company Subsidiary.
(b) Each Company Subsidiary (i) is a duly organized and validly existing corporation, partnership or limited
liability company in good standing under the Laws of the jurisdiction of its organization, and (ii) has all requisite corporate,
partnership or limited liability company authority to own, lease and operate its properties and to carry on in all material respects its
businesses as owned or conducted on the date hereof. Each Company Subsidiary is duly qualified or licensed and in good standing
to do business as a foreign entity under the Laws of each jurisdiction in which the nature of its business, or the ownership, leasing
or operation of its properties or assets, makes such qualification necessary, except where the failure of such qualification, license or
registration would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
(c) Except as set forth on Schedule 2.4(c), (i) all of the outstanding Equity Interests of each Company Subsidiary
are validly issued, fully paid, nonassessable and free of preemptive rights and are owned by the Company, whether directly or
indirectly, free and clear of all Liens (other than Permitted Liens), (ii) there are no options, warrants, convertible or exchangeable
securities, subscriptions, rights (including any preemptive rights), calls, commitments of any character whatsoever or other
agreements relating to, or the value of which is based on, the Equity
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Interests of any Company Subsidiary or obligating the Company or any Company Subsidiary to issue, deliver or sell any Equity
Interests of, or any other security or interest in, any Company Subsidiary and (iii) there are no voting trusts, shareholder
agreements, proxies or other agreements in effect with respect to the voting or transfer of any Equity Interests of or any other
interests in any Company Subsidiary.
Section 2.5
Consents and Approvals; No Violations. Except as set forth on Schedule 2.5, and subject to the
applicable requirements of the HSR Act, neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement nor the consummation of the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement will (a) conflict with or result in any breach of any provision of the Organizational
Documents of any Group Company, (b) require any filing with, or the obtaining of any material permit, authorization, consent or
approval of, any Governmental Entity, (c) result in a default (with or without notice or lapse of time) under, conflict with, or result
in a breach of any of the terms or provisions of, or give rise to any consent rights or right of termination, cancellation or
acceleration of any obligation, the loss of any benefit, or the imposition of any additional obligations under, any of the terms,
conditions or provisions of any Company Material Contract or Company IP Agreement, (d) result in the creation of any Lien on
any property or asset of the Company or any Group Company, or (e) violate any Law, order, injunction or decree applicable to any
Group Company, excluding from the foregoing clauses (b), (c), (d) and (e) such requirements, violations, conflicts, defaults or
rights which would not reasonably be expected to be material to the Group Companies.
Section 2.6 Financial Statements. Attached hereto as Schedule 2.6 are copies of (a) the unaudited consolidated
balance sheet of the Company and the Company Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2015, and the related unaudited consolidated
statement of operations of the Company and the Company Subsidiaries for the fiscal year then ended, (b) the unaudited
consolidated balance sheet of the Company and the Company Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2016, and the related unaudited
consolidated statement of operations of the Company and the Company Subsidiaries for the fiscal year then ended ((a) and (b)
collectively referred to as the “Financial Statements”), and (c) the unaudited consolidated balance sheet of the Company and the
Company Subsidiaries as of March 31, 2017 (the “Interim Balance Sheet”) and the related unaudited consolidated statement of
operations of the Company and the Company Subsidiaries for the three (3) month period then ended (together with the Interim
Balance Sheet, the “Interim Financial Statements”). Except as set forth on Schedule 2.6, each of the Financial Statements and the
Interim Financial Statements (i) has been prepared in accordance with IFRS in all material respects and applied on a consistent
basis throughout the periods indicated (except as may be indicated in the notes thereto), and (ii) do not materially misstate the
consolidated financial position and results of operations of the Company and all the Company Subsidiaries as at the respective
dates thereof and for the respective periods indicated therein in accordance with IFRS, except as otherwise noted therein and
subject to the absence of notes and, in the case of the Interim Financial Statements, to normal and recurring year-end adjustments.
The system of internal controls over financial reporting of the Company and any Company Subsidiary is sufficient to provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of the Financial Statements and the Interim
Financial Statements in accordance with IFRS in all material respects, except as otherwise noted therein and subject to the absence
of notes and, in the case of the Interim Financial Statements, to normal and recurring year-end adjustments.
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Section 2.7 No Undisclosed Liabilities. Except as set forth in the Interim Balance Sheet or Schedule 2.7, the
Company and the Company Subsidiaries do not have any liabilities or obligations of the type required to be disclosed in the Interim
Balance Sheet in accordance with IFRS, except for liabilities and obligations (a) incurred since the Balance Sheet Date in the
Ordinary Course, (b) incurred since the Balance Sheet Date pursuant to or in connection with this Agreement or the transactions
contemplated hereby, (c) disclosed in this Agreement (or its Schedules), (d) under the executory portion of a Contract to which any
Group Company is a party that has not yet been performed (none of which arise from a breach or failure to comply with such
Contract) or (e) which would not reasonably be expected to be material to the Group Companies.
Section 2.8
through the date hereof:

Absence of Certain Changes. Except as set forth on Schedule 2.8, since the Balance Sheet Date and

(a) the Group Companies have conducted their business in all material respects in the Ordinary Course;
(b) there has been no Material Adverse Effect;
(c) there has been no casualty, loss, damage or destruction of any property that is material to the Group Companies
and that is not covered by insurance;
(d) there has been no material change in the accounting methods or practices of any Group Company or any
change in depreciation or amortization policies or rates theretofore adopted by any of the Group Companies; and
(e) none of the Group Companies has taken any action which, if taken after the execution and delivery of this
Agreement without the prior consent of the Buyers, would have constituted a material breach of Section 5.1, or has entered into any
agreement, commitment or transaction with respect to any of the foregoing.
Section 2.9 Real Property; Personal Property.
(a) None of the Group Companies owns any real property.
(b) Schedule 2.9(b) lists all real property leased, subleased or otherwise used or occupied by any Group Company
as either lessor or lessee (each, a “Leased Real Property” and collectively, the “Leased Real Properties”), the name of the landlord,
the name of the entity holding such leasehold interest and the street address of each Leased Real Property.
(c)
Schedule 2.9(c) sets forth a true, correct and complete list of all leases, subleases and other agreements
(including all amendments thereto) with respect to the Leased Real Properties (each, a “Lease” and collectively, the “Leases”).
True, correct and complete copies of each of the Leases have been made available to the Buyers.
(d) The Leased Real Properties constitute all of the real property owned, leased, occupied or otherwise utilized in
connection with the business of the Group Companies.
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(e) With respect to each Leased Real Property, and except as set forth on Schedule 2.9(e): (i) the Company or one
of the Company Subsidiaries has good leasehold title to such Leased Real Property, free and clear of any and all Liens except for
Permitted Liens; (ii) subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or similar Laws of general applicability relating
to or affecting creditors’ rights and to general principles of equity, the Lease for such Leased Real Property is legal, valid, binding,
enforceable and in full force and effect in all respects, except where the failure of such Leased Real Property to be legal, valid,
binding, enforceable or in full force and effect would not reasonably be expected to be material to the Group Companies; (iii) no
Group Company has given or received any written notice of default under any Lease which has not been cured, no event has
occurred or circumstance exists which, with the delivery of written notice, the passage of time or both, would constitute a material
breach or material default under such Lease on the part of the applicable Group Company, nor, to the Knowledge of the Company,
on the part of the other party thereto; (iv) no security deposit or portion thereof deposited with respect to such Lease has been
applied in respect of a breach or default thereunder which has not been replenished to the extent required under such Lease; (v) no
Group Company owes any brokerage commissions or finder’s fees with respect to such Lease; (vi) no Group Company has
subleased, licensed or otherwise granted any Person the right to use or occupy the Leased Real Property (or any portion thereof)
that is the subject matter of such Lease; (vii) no Group Company has collaterally assigned or granted any other security interest in
such Leased Real Property or any interest therein; (viii) the buildings and improvements on the Leased Real Properties are in good
operating condition and are adequate and suitable for their current uses and purposes, except where the failure of such Leased Real
Property to be in good operating condition would not reasonably be expected to be material to the Group Companies; and (ix) to
the Knowledge of the Company, no rights of first refusal or options to purchase are in effect as to all or any material portion of the
Leased Real Property.
(f) Except as set forth in Schedule 2.9(f) or except as would not reasonably be expected to be material to the Group
Companies, a Group Company has good and marketable title to each item of equipment, machinery and other tangible personal
property reflected in the Interim Financial Statements as owned by a Group Company, free and clear of all Liens (other than
Permitted Liens).
(g) Except as set forth in Schedule 2.9(g) or except as would not reasonably be expected to be material to the
Group Companies, the buildings (including all components of such buildings, structures and other improvements), equipment,
machinery and other tangible personal property owned or leased by, or licensed to, the Group Companies are sufficient to conduct
the business and operations of the Group Companies after the Closing in all respects in the same manner as conducted as of the date
hereof. Except as set forth in Schedule 2.9(g) or except as would not reasonably be expected to be material to the Group
Companies, such buildings, equipment, machinery and other tangible personal property are in in all respects in good operating
condition and maintenance and repair, ordinary wear and tear excepted.
Section 2.10 Intellectual Property.
(a) Schedule 2.10(a)(i) contains a true, correct and complete list of all (i) Company Registered Intellectual Property
including, as appropriate, the jurisdiction of registration
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or application, the registered owner or applicant, and the registration and application dates and numbers and (ii) material Company
Software. A Group Company possesses all right, title and interest in the Company Registered Intellectual Property. Except as set
forth on Schedule 2.10(a)(ii) and except as would not reasonably be expected to be material to the Group Companies, the Company
Registered Intellectual Property is subsisting, valid and enforceable. All maintenance fees necessary to maintain the Company
Registered Intellectual Property through the Closing Date have been paid.
(b) (i) A Group Company owns or is authorized to use pursuant to valid written license, all material Intellectual
Property used or held for use in the conduct of the business of the Group Companies (the “Company Intellectual Property”), free
and clear of all Liens (other than Permitted Liens), and, except for the Intercompany IP provided under the Transition Services
Agreement, such ownership or valid right to use the Company Intellectual Property will not be affected by the execution, delivery
or performance of this Agreement or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby; (ii) there are no judgments finding
any of the Company Intellectual Property to be invalid or unenforceable; and (iii) there are no proceedings pending or, to the
Knowledge of the Company, threatened, that challenge the validity, use, ownership, or enforceability of the Company Intellectual
Property. Schedule 2.10(b) contains a true, correct and complete list of all Intercompany IP.
(c) Schedule 2.10(c) sets forth a listing of (i) each Inbound License other than agreements for Commercially
Available Software or “shrink-wrap” agreements, and (ii) each Outbound License, other than any non-exclusive licenses to
customers, contractors and distributors entered into in the Ordinary Course.
(d) (i) Except as would not reasonably be expected to be material to the Group Companies, neither the use of the
Intellectual Property as currently used by any of the Group Companies in the conduct of their business, nor the conduct of their
business as currently conducted, infringes, misappropriates or violates the rights of any Person in any Intellectual Property, and (ii)
no Group Company has received any claim or notice in writing or, to the Knowledge of the Company, otherwise (including any
“cease and desist” letters, patent assertions or adverse invitations to license) in the past two (2) years, and no proceeding is pending
or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened, alleging any of the same.
(e) (i) There are no claims, proceedings, actions, suits, hearings, arbitrations, investigations, charges, complaints,
demands or similar actions currently pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened in writing, or that have been
brought within the last two (2) years, by any Group Company against any Person alleging infringement, misappropriation, or
violation of any Company Intellectual Property; and (ii) to the Knowledge of the Company, no Person is currently infringing upon,
misappropriating, or otherwise violating any of the Company Intellectual Property.
(f)
Each Group Company has taken commercially reasonable measures to protect its trade secrets and other
proprietary or confidential information, and, except as would not reasonably be expected to be material to the Group Companies,
no Group Company has disclosed
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any such information to any other Person except in the Ordinary Course and subject to obligations of confidence.
(g) Except as would not reasonably be expected to be material to the Group Companies, no Group Company is in
breach or default in the performance of any term or condition contained in any Company IP Agreement, nor, to the Knowledge of
the Company, has an event occurred that with notice or lapse of time would constitute a breach or default by a Group Company.
(h) To the Knowledge of the Company, in the past two (2) years, there have been no breaches or failures of any
software, hardware, databases, computer equipment or other information technology owned by or operated on behalf of any Group
Company that would reasonably be expected to be material to the Group Companies.
Section 2.11 Litigation. Except as set forth on Schedule 2.11 or as would not reasonably be expected to be material
to the Group Companies (x) to the Knowledge of the Company, there is no investigation pending or threatened, by any
Governmental Entity with respect to the Group Companies; and (y) there are no claims, actions, suits, proceedings, arbitrations or
mediations pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company currently threatened, against any of the Group Companies or any of their
respective assets or properties at Law or in equity. Neither the Company nor any Company Subsidiary is subject to any unsatisfied
order, judgment, injunction, ruling, decision, award or decree of any Governmental Entity.
Section 2.12 Company Material Contracts.
(a)

Schedule 2.12(a) sets forth a true, correct and complete list of the Company Material Contracts as of the date

hereof.
(b) The Company Material Contracts (except those that lapse after the date hereof in accordance with their terms)
are in full force and effect in all material respects in accordance with their respective terms with respect to the applicable Group
Company and the other party thereto, assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery by such other party, subject to
bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and similar Laws of general applicability relating to or affecting creditors’
rights and to general principles of equity. Except as set forth on Schedule 2.12(b), there does not now exist, under any Company
Material Contract any event of material default or event or condition that constitutes a material violation, breach or event of default
thereunder on the part of the applicable Group Company.
Section 2.13 Tax Returns; Taxes. Except as otherwise disclosed on Schedule 2.13:
(a) Since its date of formation, the Company has had an election in place to be treated as a corporation for U.S.
federal Tax purposes;
(b) all Tax Returns required to be filed by or with respect to the Group Companies have been timely filed, and all
such Tax Returns are complete and correct in all material respects solely in relation to the ultimate tax liability calculated and
reflected on such Tax Returns;
-12-

(c) all Taxes due and owing by any of the Group Companies (whether or not such Taxes are shown or required to
be shown on a Tax Return) have been timely paid in full, except to the extent such amounts are being contested in good faith
through appropriate proceedings, as detailed on Schedule 2.13(c);
(d) no examination or audit of any Tax Return relating to any Taxes of the Group Companies or with respect to any
Taxes due from or with respect to the Group Companies by any Governmental Entity (including jurisdictions where the Group
Companies have not filed Tax Returns) is currently in progress or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened in writing. No
material assessment of Tax has been proposed in writing against any of the Group Companies or any of their assets or properties.
There are no outstanding agreements, waivers or arrangements extending the statutory period of limitation applicable to any claim
for, or the period for the collection or assessment of, Taxes due from or with respect to any of the Group Companies for any taxable
period, other than pursuant to an extension of time to file obtained in the Ordinary Course;
(e) no claim has ever been made in writing by any authority in a jurisdiction where the Group Companies do not
file Tax Returns that any of the Group Companies is or may be subject to taxation by that jurisdiction;
(f) the Group Companies have withheld and paid all Taxes required to have been withheld and paid by the Group
Companies in connection with amounts paid to any employee, independent contractor, creditor, shareholder or other third party;
(g) there are no Liens for Taxes against any asset of the Group Companies (other than Liens for Taxes which are
not yet due and payable);
(h) none of the Group Companies will be required to include in a taxable period ending after the Closing Date
taxable income attributable to income that accrued in a taxable period prior to the Closing Date but was not recognized in a taxable
period ending on or before the Closing Date as a result of (i) any change in method of accounting or use of an improper method of
accounting on or prior to the Closing Date; (ii) any intercompany transaction among the Group Companies under Section 1502 on
or prior to the Closing Date; (iii) any installment sale or open transaction occurring on or prior to the Closing Date where any
portion of the future payments has been included as an asset in the calculation of Net Working Capital without the inclusion in
liabilities of the associated Tax liability, other than with respect to sales from inventory in the Ordinary Course; or (iv) any closing
agreement as described in Section 7121 of the Code entered into prior to the Closing;
(i) no Group Company is a party to any Tax allocation or sharing agreement under which any Group Company will
have any liability after the Closing Date for Taxes of any Person that is not a member of the Group Companies (excluding
commercial agreements the primary subject of which is not Taxes);
(j) none of the Group Companies (A) is or has ever been a member of an affiliated group of corporations filing a
consolidated federal income Tax Return (other than the group to which they are currently members and the common parent of
which is the Company), or (B) has any liability for the Taxes of any Person (other than the Company or any of the Company
Subsidiaries)
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under Treasury Regulations Section 1.1502-6 (or any similar provision of any state, local, or foreign law), as a transferee or
successor, by Contract (excluding commercial agreements the primary subject of which is not Taxes) or otherwise;
(k)

within the meaning of Treasury Regulation Section 1.6011-4 or 6707A(c)(1) or comparable provisions of any
state or foreign Law, no Group Company is or has been a party to any “reportable transaction” that is or was required to be included
in a disclosure statement accompanying a Tax Return, other than a listed transaction described in Treasury Regulation
Section 1.6011-4(b)(5) and described on Schedule 2.13(k);
(l) the Group Companies have collected all sales and use Taxes required to be collected, and have remitted, or will
remit on a timely basis, such amounts to the appropriate Governmental Entities, or have been furnished properly completed
exemption certificates and have maintained all such records and supporting documents in the manner required by all applicable
sales and use Tax statutes and regulations;
(m) no Group Company has been either a “distributing corporation” or a “controlled corporation” (within the
meaning of Section 355(a)(1)(A) of the Code) in a distribution of stock qualifying or intended to qualify, in whole or in part, for
tax-free treatment under Section 355 of the Code in the two years prior to the date of this Agreement; and
(n) the Company has not been a “United States real property holding corporation” as such term is defined in
Section 897(c)(2) of the Code during the applicable testing period Section 897(c)(1)(A)(ii) of the Code.
Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement or otherwise, (i) the representations and warranties contained in Section
2.7, Section 2.8, Section 2.13 and Section 2.16 constitute the sole and exclusive representations and warranties of the Group
Companies relating to any Taxes or Tax Returns and (ii) nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as providing a representation
or warranty with respect to the existence, amount, expiration date or limitations on (or availability of) any Tax attribute (including
methods of accounting) of any of the Group Companies that is or may be available to offset or reduce any Taxes of the Group
Companies for any Post-Closing Tax Period.
Section 2.14 Environmental Matters.
(a) Except as would not reasonably be expected to be material to the Group Companies, each Group Company is,
and has for the past three (3) years been, in compliance in all respects with all applicable Environmental Laws, which compliance
includes obtaining, possessing and complying in all respects with all Environmental Permits required pursuant to Environmental
Laws for the occupation of its facilities and the operation of its business and making all filings that may be required by applicable
Environmental Laws.
(b) No Group Company has (i) treated, stored, disposed of, arranged for or permitted the disposal of, transported,
handled, exposed any Person to, or Released any Hazardous Substance or (ii) owned, leased or operated any site, facility or
property, which is or has been contaminated by any Hazardous Substance by any Group Company, in each of (i) and (ii) that would
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reasonably be expected to be material to the Group Companies pursuant to any Environmental Laws. No facility owned, leased or
occupied by the Group Companies contains: polychlorinated biphenyls, asbestos-containing materials, aboveground or
underground storage tanks, or any landfills, surface impoundments or disposal areas, in each case that would reasonably be
expected to be material to the Group Companies pursuant to Environmental Laws.
(c) To the Knowledge of the Company, none of the Group Companies has assumed, undertaken or otherwise
become subject to any material obligation or liability of any other Person relating to any Environmental Laws.
(d) No Group Company is, or may be, subject to any pending, or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened,
claim by any Governmental Entity (i) based upon any provision of any Environmental Law and arising out of any act or omission
of any Group Company or any of their respective employees, agents or Representatives, or (ii) arising out of the ownership, use,
control or operation by any Group Company of any facility, site, area or property from which there was a Release of any Hazardous
Substance, in each case, which claim, if adversely resolved, would reasonably be expected to be material to any of the Group
Companies.
(e)
Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Agreement or otherwise, the representations and warranties
contained in this Section 2.14 constitute the sole and exclusive representations and warranties of the Company relating to
Environmental Laws.
Section 2.15 Licenses and Permits. Except for non-healthcare related Licenses obtained in the Ordinary Course,
Schedule 2.15 sets forth a true, correct and complete list of all Licenses held by any of the Group Companies. The Group
Companies own or possess all Licenses that are necessary to enable them to carry on their respective operations as presently
conducted, except, in each case, where the failure to own or possess any such License would not reasonably be expected to be
material to the Group Companies. Except as otherwise disclosed on Schedule 2.15, each of the Group Companies has been for the
past three (3) years and is in compliance with the terms of all such Licenses, except where the failure to be in compliance would not
reasonably be expected to be material to the Group Companies. There is not now pending nor, to the Knowledge of the Company,
threatened in writing any action by or before any Governmental Entity, or entity acting on behalf of any such Governmental Entity,
to revoke, cancel, rescind, modify or refuse to renew any License, and all of such Licenses are in good standing, except where any
such action, or consequences thereof, would not reasonably be expected to be material to the Group Companies.
Section 2.16 Company Benefit Plans.
(a) Schedule 2.16(a) contains a true, correct and complete list of all Company Benefit Plans. With respect to each
Company Benefit Plan, the Company has delivered or made available to the Buyers complete and accurate copies of (i) such
Company Benefit Plan (or, in the case of any unwritten Company Benefit Plan, a written description thereof), (ii) each trust,
insurance, annuity or other funding Contract related thereto, (iii) the most recent summary plan description and any summary of
material modifications (if any) prepared for each Company Benefit Plan, (iv) the two (2) most recent financial statements and
actuarial or other valuation reports prepared with respect to any Company Benefit Plan, (v) the most recent determination or
opinion letter from the
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Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) covering any Company Benefit Plan intended to be tax qualified under Section 401(a) of the
Code and (vi) the two (2) most recent annual reports on Form 5500 required to be filed with respect to any Company Benefit Plan
(if any).
(b) Except as set forth on Schedule 2.16(b), or to the extent that any breach of the representations set forth in this
Section 2.16(b) would not reasonably be expected to be material to the Group Companies:
(i) No Company Benefit Plan is a “multiemployer pension plan” (as defined in Sections 3(37) or 4001(a)(3)
of ERISA) or a “multiple employer plan” described in Section 413(c) of the Code, and the Company has no obligation or
liability in connection with any such “multiemployer plan” or “multiple employer plan”;
(ii) No Company Benefit Plan is subject to Section 302 or Title IV of ERISA or Section 412 of the Code or
is otherwise a defined benefit plan and the Company has no obligation or liability in connection with any such Company
Benefit Plan;
(iii) In the past three (3) years, each Company Benefit Plan has been established, administered and operated
in all respects in accordance with its terms and in compliance with applicable Laws, including ERISA and the Code;
(iv)
No liability, claim, action or litigation has been made, commenced or, to the Knowledge of the
Company, threatened in the past three (3) years, and to the Knowledge of the Company no investigation has been made,
commenced or threatened in the past three (3) years, with respect to any Company Benefit Plan (other than routine claims
for benefits payable in the Ordinary Course, and appeals of denied such claims);
(v) Each Company Benefit Plan intended to be “qualified” within the meaning of Section 401(a) of the
Code has received a favorable determination letter from the U.S. IRS, or is comprised of a master or prototype plan that has
received a favorable opinion letter from the IRS, and no event has occurred and no condition exists which would reasonably
be expected to result in the revocation of any such determination letter or opinion letter;
(vi) No Company Benefit Plan provides for post-employment or retiree welfare benefits, except as required
by applicable Laws, and the Company has no obligation or liability in connection with any such Company Benefit Plan;
(vii) No Group Company nor, to the Knowledge of the Company, any other “disqualified person” or “party
in interest” (as defined in Section 4975(e)(2) of the Code and Section 3(14) of ERISA, respectively) has engaged in any
transactions in the past three (3) years in connection with any Company Benefit Plan that would reasonably be expected to
result in the imposition of a penalty pursuant to Section 502 of ERISA, damages pursuant to Section 409 of ERISA or a tax
pursuant to Section 4975 of the Code; and
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(viii) No Group Company has filed in the past two (2) years an application under the IRS Employee Plans
Compliance Resolution System or the Department of Labor’s Voluntary Fiduciary Correction Program with respect to any
Company Benefit Plan.
(c) No amount or other entitlement that could be received as a result of the transactions contemplated hereby (alone
or in conjunction with any other event, including any termination of employment) by any Disqualified Individual will constitute an
“excess parachute payment” (as defined in Section 280G(b)(1) of the Code). Schedule 2.16(c) sets forth, with respect to each
Disqualified Individual, (i) such person’s name, title and a reasonable estimate of such person’s “base amount” and (ii) a calculation
of the aggregate present value of the “parachute payments” (each, as defined in Section 280G of the Code) such person could
receive. Except as provided on Schedule 2.16(c), no Participant is entitled to receive any gross-up or additional payment by reason
of any Tax being imposed on such person, including any Tax required by Section 409A or 4999 of the Code. Notwithstanding
anything in this Section 2.16(c) to the contrary, this Section 2.16(c) does not include, and no representation or warranty is made
with respect to, any amounts or other entitlements that could be received by any Disqualified Individual in connection with
agreements or arrangements entered into with the Buyers or their Affiliates, whether prior to, on or after the date hereof, unless
such agreements or arrangements (including all information required to determine the aggregate present value of the “parachute
payments” (each, as defined in Section 280G of the Code) such person could receive thereunder) have been provided to the Sellers
no later than three (3) Business Days prior to the date hereof.
(d) Each Company Benefit Plan which is a “nonqualified deferred compensation plan” (within the meaning of
Section 409A of the Code) is and has been operated and administered in compliance with, and is and has been in documentary
compliance with, Section 409A of the Code and any proposed and final guidance under Section 409A of the Code.
(e) To the Knowledge of the Company, none of the Group Companies has received notice of and there are no
investigations by any Governmental Entity with respect to termination proceedings or other claims, suits or proceedings (except
routine claims for benefits payable in the Ordinary Course) against or involving any Company Benefit Plan. Each Company Benefit
Plan intended to be tax “qualified” has been administered in all respects in accordance with its terms and in compliance with
applicable laws, including ERISA and the Code. Each of the Group Companies has made all required corrective contributions to
any Company Benefit Plan that is intended to be tax-qualified under the Code.
(f) Except as provided on Schedule 2.16(f), neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement or any other
agreement, certificate or document delivered pursuant to or in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby nor the
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, in each case, alone or in combination with any other event
(including any termination of employment), will (i) accelerate the time of the payment or vesting of, or increase the amount of, or
result in the payment, funding or forfeiture of compensation or benefits payable to any Participant, or trigger any other material
obligation under any Company Benefit Plan, (ii) result in any material breach or violation of any Company Benefit Plan or (iii)
limit or restrict the
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right of the Buyers to merge, amend or terminate any Company Benefit Plan on or after the Closing Date.
Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement or otherwise, the representations and warranties contained in Section 2.16
constitute the sole and exclusive representations and warranties of the Group Companies relating to ERISA or other Laws relating
to employee benefit matters.
Section 2.17 Labor Relationships.
(a) None of the Group Companies’ employees are represented by a labor organization or group that was either
voluntarily recognized or certified by any labor relations board (including the United States National Labor Relations Board) or by
any other Governmental Entity.
(b) None of the Group Companies’ employees are a signatory to a collective bargaining agreement with any trade
union, or, to the Knowledge of the Company, any labor organization or group, in each case with respect to their employment with
any of the Group Companies. No grievance or arbitration proceeding arising out of or under any collective bargaining agreement
has occurred, is pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, has been threatened in the last three (3) years.
(c) No labor dispute, walk out, strike, hand billing, picketing, or work stoppage involving the employees of the
Group Companies has occurred, is in progress or, to the Knowledge of the Company, has been threatened in the last three (3) years.
(d) All Group Company employees who have been classified as exempt under the FLSA or applicable state and
local Laws have been properly classified and treated as such. All Persons who have provided services to a Group Company as
independent contractors have been properly classified as independent contractors, rather than as employees, for purposes of all
applicable Laws. Each Group Company (i) has withheld, paid and reported all amounts required by Law or by contract to be
withheld, paid and reported with respect to compensation, wages, salaries and other payments to employees or independent
contractors, (ii) is not liable for any arrears of wages or any Taxes or any penalty for failure to comply with any Law, and (iii) is not
liable for any payment to any trust or other fund governed by or maintained by or on behalf of any Governmental Entity with
respect to unemployment compensation benefits, social security or any other applicable social insurance, or other benefits or
obligations for its employees (other than routine payments to be made in the Ordinary Course).
(e) Except as would not reasonably be expected to be material to the Group Companies, and except as set forth on
Schedule 2.17(e), each Group Company is, and has been within the last three (3) years, in compliance with all applicable Laws with
respect to labor relations, employment and employment practices, occupational safety and health standards, including the
Occupational Safety and Health Act, 29 U.S.C. § 651, et seq., OSHA regulations, 29 CFR § 1910, et seq., and similar state statutes
and regulations, terms and conditions of employment, payment of wages, classification of employees, immigration, visa, work
status, pay equity and workers’ compensation (collectively, “Labor Laws”), including the development and implementation of a
Hazard Communication Program.
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Section 2.18 Compliance with Laws. Except as set forth on Schedule 2.18 or except as would not reasonably be
expected to be material to the Group Companies, the business of the Company and the Company Subsidiaries is and, for the past
three (3) years, has been conducted in compliance in all respects with applicable Law. No representation or warranty is given under
this Section 2.18 with respect to Taxes, Environmental Laws, ERISA or other Laws relating to employee benefit matters, Labor
Laws or Federal and State Health Care Laws, which matters are covered under Sections 2.13, 2.14, 2.16, 2.17 and 2.22,
respectively.
Section 2.19 Certain Fees. The Buyers shall not be obligated to pay or bear (e.g., by virtue of any payment by or
obligation of any of the Sellers or the Group Companies at or at any time after the Closing) any brokerage, finder’s or other fee or
commission to any broker, finder or investment banker in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement based
on arrangements made by or on behalf of any of the Sellers or the Group Companies or any of their respective Affiliates.
Section 2.20
Insurance Policies. Schedule 2.20 contains a true, correct and complete list of all the existing
insurance policies carried by or for the benefit of the Group Companies. All such insurance policies are legal, valid, binding, in full
force and effect and enforceable in accordance with their terms and shall be maintained by the applicable Group Company in full
force and effect in all material respects as they apply to any matter, action or event relating to the Group Companies occurring
through the Closing Date. Except as would not reasonably be expected to be material to the Group Companies, with respect to each
such insurance policy, (a) neither the Company, nor any of the Company Subsidiaries, nor, to the Knowledge of the Company, any
other party to the policy is in breach or default (including with respect to the payment of premiums or the giving of notices), and no
event has occurred that, with or without notice or the lapse of time, would constitute such a breach or default, or permit
termination, modification, premium increase, revocation, or acceleration, under the policy; and (b) neither the Group Companies,
nor, to the Knowledge of the Company, any other party to the policy has repudiated any provision thereof.
Section 2.21
Affiliate Transactions. Except for employment relationships and compensation, benefits, travel
advances and employee loans in the Ordinary Course, the Inbound Licenses with respect to Intercompany IP set forth on Schedule
2.10(b), or as disclosed on Schedule 2.21, during the past one (1) year no Group Company is or has been a party to any Contract
(other than arms-length Contracts with the Advent Portfolio Companies) with any Affiliate of (i) any Group Company or (ii) any
Seller (other than any such Contract between the Company and a Company Subsidiary or between and among Company
Subsidiaries).
Section 2.22
the Group Companies:

Health Care Regulatory Compliance. Except as would not reasonably be expected to be material to

(a)
No Group Company has been charged with, received any notice of or is now, to the Knowledge of the
Company, under investigation with respect to, a violation of any applicable Federal and State Health Care Laws. Except as set forth
on Schedule 2.22(a), no Group Company is a party to, or bound by, any order, corporate integrity agreement, deferred prosecution
agreement,
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consent decree, judgment or settlement agreement with any Governmental Entity and no such order, agreement, consent decree,
judgment or settlement is pending.
(b) Except as set forth on Schedule 2.22(b), neither the Group Companies nor, to the Knowledge of the Company,
any of their respective officers or directors (i) has been charged with or convicted of any criminal offense relating to the delivery of
an item or service under Medicare, Medicaid or any other Federal Health Care Program, or relating to the unlawful distribution,
prescription, dispensing or delivery of a controlled substance, (ii) has been debarred, excluded or suspended from participation in
Medicare, Medicaid or any other Federal Health Care Program, (iii) has had a civil monetary penalty assessed against such Person
under Section 1128A of the Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. ch. 7), (iv) is currently listed on the General Services Administration
published list of parties excluded from federal procurement programs and non-procurement programs, or (v) to the Knowledge of
the Company, is the target or subject of any current or potential investigation relating to any Medicare, Medicaid or any other
Federal Health Care Program-related offense.
(c) Except as set forth on Schedule 2.22(c), the Group Companies have been for the previous four (4) years and are
in compliance with all Federal and State Health Care Laws and material Federal Health Care Program requirements. Except as set
forth on Schedule 2.22(c), neither the Group Companies nor, to the Knowledge of the Company, any of their officers or directors
has, during the past two (2) years, received any subpoena, civil investigative demand or other written request for information from
a Governmental Entity relating to a violation of any applicable Federal and State Health Care Law.
(d) Except as set forth on Schedule 2.22(d), each of the Group Companies that bills a Federal Health Care Program
is duly accredited and enrolled and in good standing to participate in such program and is in compliance with all applicable state
and federal conditions of payment and of participation in such programs, including Medicare’s DMEPOS Supplier Standards.
Except as set forth on Schedule 2.22(d), each of the Group Companies are parties to valid supplier, provider or other participation
contracts for payment by any Governmental Payor and any Third Party Payor Program in accordance with the requirements of such
contracts, to the extent required.
(e) Except as set forth on Schedule 2.22(e), no Group Company nor, to the Knowledge of the Company, any of
their respective officers, directors or employees has, directly or indirectly, provided any remuneration or made any bribe, payoff,
influence payment, kickback, or other illegal or improper payment in violation of applicable Law, in cash or in kind, to any Person,
private or public, regardless of form, whether in money, property, or services (i) to induce such Person to order any item or service
for which payment may be made in whole or in part under any Federal Health Care Program, (ii) to obtain favorable treatment in
securing business, (iii) to pay for favorable treatment for business secured or (iv) to obtain special concessions or for special
concessions already obtained, for or in respect of the Group Companies or any affiliate thereof.
(f) Except as set forth on Schedule 2.22(f), during the past four (4) years all billing and documentation practices by
the Company and the Company Subsidiaries for all Third Party Payor Programs and Federal Health Care Programs have complied
with all applicable Laws,
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including the Federal and State Health Care Laws, and agreements with such Third Party Payor Programs and Federal Health Care
Programs.
(g) Except as set forth on Schedule 2.22(g), other than non-material audits received in the Ordinary Course, none
of the Group Companies is currently subject to any outstanding audit by any Governmental Entity or fiscal intermediary or carrier
or other contractor operating on behalf of any Governmental Entity, including a ZPIC, OIG or RAC auditor. Any multi-patient audit
disclosed on Schedule 2.22(g) contains at least the following information: the identity of the auditing agency, intermediary or
carrier and the current status of the audit. For any RAC audit initiated since January 1, 2015, Schedule 2.22(g) contains at least the
following information: the identity of the auditing agency, intermediary or carrier, a summary and the current status and level of
appeal, if any, of such RAC audit.
(h) Except as set forth on Schedule 2.22(h) (i) each of the Group Companies is and has been for the past three (3)
years in compliance, in all material respects, with all (A) Laws relating to the use (including to de-identify or aggregate), collection,
storage, disclosure, dissemination, transfer, and protection of Personal Data (collectively, “Privacy Laws”), (B) Contracts relating to
the use (including to de-identify or aggregate), collection, storage, disclosure, dissemination, transfer, and protection of Personal
Data, (C) data security programs, policies and procedures of each of the Group Companies and (D) applicable Business Associate
Agreements (clauses (A) through (D), collectively, “Privacy Restrictions”), (ii) there are no claims, actions, suits, or other
proceedings alleging breaches or violations of any Privacy Restrictions pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened
against any of the Group Companies, and (iii) the transactions contemplated by this Agreement will not result in a breach or
violation of any Privacy Restrictions. Except as set forth on Schedule 2.22(h), each of the Group Companies has entered into
Business Associate Agreements in accordance with applicable Privacy Laws. Except as set forth on Schedule 2.22(h), during the
past three (3) years none of the Group Companies has experienced any security or data breaches compromising or otherwise
involving Personal Data owned, held or transmitted by such Group Company, in each case that required notification to any Person
or Governmental Entity under applicable Privacy Laws. Except as set forth on Schedule 2.22(h), no Group Company performs any
operations, transmits or stores any Personal Data, or provides any services to patients or customers or other third parties, outside of
the United States of America. Except as set forth on Schedule 2.22(h), each Group Company’s agreements with third party service
providers who have access to Personal Data do not grant such service provider any right that conflicts in any material respect with
the Privacy Restrictions of the Group Companies. Except as set forth on Schedule 2.22(h), to the Knowledge of the Company, there
has been no loss, destruction or damage of or unauthorized access to, disclosure or other misuse of Personal Data held by or
accessible to such third party service provider.
(i)
Except as set forth on Schedule 2.22(i), each Group Company has (i) timely filed with the appropriate
Governmental Entity all abandoned or unclaimed property reports required to be filed by or with respect to it, either separately or
as part of an affiliated group of entities, pursuant to any applicable Laws, on or prior to the Closing Date, and such reports were
true, correct and complete in all material respects when filed; (ii) properly paid over (or escheated) to such Governmental Entity all
sums constituting unclaimed property as of the Closing Date; and (iii) with
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respect to property for which the dormancy period may be running as of the Closing Date, reserved sufficient sums to pay over (or
escheat) to the appropriate Governmental Entity all amounts that may become due in the future.
Section 2.23 Material Customers; Material Suppliers.
(a) Schedule 2.23(a) sets forth a true, correct and complete list of each customer of the Group Companies (taken as
a whole) from which the Group Companies received in excess of $2,500,000, measured by dollar volume of payments by such
customers to or as directed by the Group Companies, for the twelve (12)-month period ended on the Balance Sheet Date (the
“Material Customers”). Except as would not reasonably be expected to be material to the Group Companies, since December 31,
2015, no Group Company has received any written or, to the Knowledge of the Company, oral notice that (i) any Material
Customer has changed or may change the mix of products and/or services provided by a Group Company for which such Material
Customer provides reimbursement or (ii) any Material Customer has reduced or may reduce the reimbursement rate for the
products and/or services provided by a Group Company for which such Material Customer provides reimbursement.
(b) Schedule 2.23(b) sets forth a true, correct and complete list of (i) each supplier from whom a Group Company
purchased raw materials, supplies, merchandise, services and other goods at an aggregate cost per supplier in excess of $2,500,000
during the twelve (12) month period ended on the Balance Sheet Date, and (ii) each sole source supplier of a Group Company (such
suppliers described in clauses (i) and (ii) are collectively referred to as “Material Suppliers”) and the amount for which each such
Material Supplier invoiced the applicable Group Company during such period. Except as would not reasonably be expected to be
material to the Group Companies, since December 31, 2015, no Group Company has received any written or, to the Knowledge of
the Company, oral notice that any Material Supplier has ceased or may cease to supply raw materials, supplies, merchandise,
services and other goods to a Group Company after the date hereof on terms and conditions similar in all material respects to those
imposed on current sales to such Group Company.
ARTICLE III
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE SELLERS
Subject to the terms, conditions and limitations set forth in this Agreement, the Sellers hereby represent and warrant to the
Buyers as follows:
Section 3.1 Organization. Each of the Sellers is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the
laws of its jurisdiction of organization and has all requisite power and authority to own, lease and operate all of its properties and
assets and to conduct its business as it is now being conducted. Each of the Sellers is duly qualified or licensed and in good
standing to do business as a foreign corporation in each jurisdiction in which the nature of its business, or the ownership, leasing or
operation of its properties or assets, makes such qualification necessary, except where the failure to be so qualified, licensed or in
good standing would not reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on, or cause a material delay to, the ability of the
Sellers
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to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Seller Ancillary Documents.
Section 3.2 Authorization. Each of the Sellers has all requisite private limited liability company power and private
limited liability company authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and the Seller Ancillary Documents, to perform its
obligations hereunder and thereunder and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. The execution,
delivery and performance of this Agreement by each of the Sellers, and of the Seller Ancillary Documents by each of the Sellers
party thereto, and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, have been duly authorized by all
necessary private limited liability company action on the part of each Seller, as the case may be, and no other action on the part of
either of the Sellers or their respective equity holders is required to authorize the execution, delivery and performance hereof and
thereof by either of the Sellers, and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. Except as enforcement
may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other Laws of general application affecting
enforcement of creditors’ rights or by principles of equity (regardless of whether enforcement is sought in a proceeding at law or in
equity), (a) this Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by each of the Sellers and, assuming that this Agreement has been
duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Buyers and the Company, constitutes the valid and binding obligation of each of the
Sellers, enforceable against each of the Sellers in accordance with its terms, and (b) as of the Closing Date, the Seller Ancillary
Documents shall be duly executed and delivered by each of the Sellers party thereto and, assuming that such Seller Ancillary
Documents have been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the other parties thereto, shall constitute the valid and binding
obligations of each of the Sellers party thereto, enforceable against each of the Sellers party thereto in accordance with their terms.
Section 3.3 Consents and Approvals; No Violations. Except for applicable requirements of the HSR Act and as set
forth on Schedule 3.3, neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated
hereby will (a) conflict with or result in any breach of any provision of the Organizational Documents of the Sellers, (b) require any
filing with, or the obtaining of any permit, authorization, consent or approval of, any Governmental Entity, (c) result in a default
under or, conflict with or give rise to any consent rights or right of termination, cancellation or acceleration under, any of the terms,
conditions or provisions of any note, mortgage, other evidence of indebtedness, guarantee, license, agreement, lease or other
contract, instrument or obligation to which either Seller is a party or by which a Seller or any of its assets may be bound, or
(d) violate any Law, order, injunction or decree applicable to either Seller, excluding from the foregoing clauses (b), (c) and (d)
such requirements, violations, conflicts, defaults or rights which would not be reasonably likely to materially and adversely affect
or restrict the Sellers’ ability to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the Seller Ancillary Documents.
Section 3.4 Ownership of Interests. As of the date hereof the Sellers are, and as of the Closing Date immediately
prior to giving effect to the Closing the Sellers shall be, the record and beneficial owner of all of the Interests free and clear of all
Liens other than Permitted Liens and other than Liens that will be released in connection with the payoff of the Indebtedness of the
Group Companies prior to, or substantially simultaneously with, the Closing. Except as set forth
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on Schedule 3.4, neither Seller is a party to any option, warrant, right, contract, call, pledge, put or other agreement or commitment
provision for the disposition or acquisition of such Seller’s interest in the Company and neither Seller is party to any voting trust,
proxies or other agreements or understanding with respect to the voting of the equity interests of the Group Companies.
Immediately following the Closing, the Buyers will be the record and beneficial owner of the Interests free and clear of any Liens
except for Liens imposed or granted by the Buyers and Permitted Liens.
Section 3.5 Litigation. There is no claim, action, suit, proceeding or governmental investigation pending or, to the
Knowledge of the Sellers, threatened against either Seller, by or before any Governmental Entity or by any third party which
challenges the validity of this Agreement or the Seller Ancillary Documents or which would be reasonably likely to materially and
adversely affect or restrict the Sellers’ ability to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby.
Section 3.6 Certain Fees. The Buyers shall not be obligated to pay or bear (e.g., by virtue of any payment by or
obligation of the Sellers at or at any time after the Closing) any brokerage, finder’s or other fee or commission to any broker, finder
or investment banker in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement based on arrangements made by or on
behalf of any of the Sellers or any of their Affiliates.
ARTICLE IV
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE BUYERS
The Buyers hereby represent and warrant to the Company and the Sellers as follows:
Section 4.1 Organization. The Buyers are duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of
their respective states of organization and have all requisite power and authority to own, lease and operate all of their properties and
assets and to conduct their business as it is now being conducted. The Buyers are duly qualified or licensed and in good standing to
do business as a foreign corporation in each jurisdiction in which the nature of their business, or the ownership, leasing or operation
of their properties or assets, makes such qualification necessary, except where the failure to be so qualified, licensed or in good
standing would not reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on, or cause a material delay to, the ability of the
Buyers to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Buyer Ancillary Documents.
Section 4.2 Authorization. Each of the Buyers has all requisite power and authority to execute and deliver this
Agreement and the Buyer Ancillary Documents, to perform its obligations hereunder and thereunder and to consummate the
transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the Buyer Ancillary
Documents by each of the Buyers, and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, have been duly
authorized by all necessary action on the part of each Buyer, as the case may be, and no other action on the part of either of the
Buyers or their respective equity holders is required to authorize the execution, delivery and performance hereof and thereof by
either of the
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Buyers and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. Except as enforcement may be limited by
applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other Laws of general application affecting enforcement of
creditors’ rights or by principles of equity (regardless of whether enforcement is sought in a proceeding at law or in equity), (a) this
Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by each of the Buyers and, assuming that this Agreement has been duly
authorized, executed and delivered by the Sellers and the Company, constitutes the valid and binding obligation of each of the
Buyers, enforceable against each of the Buyers in accordance with its terms, and (b) as of the Closing Date, each of the Buyer
Ancillary Documents shall be executed and delivered by each of the Buyers party thereto and, assuming that such Buyer Ancillary
Documents have been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the other parties thereto, shall constitute the valid and binding
obligations of each of the Buyers party thereto, enforceable against each of the Buyers party thereto in accordance with their terms.
Section 4.3 Consents and Approvals; No Violations. Except for applicable requirements of the HSR Act and as set
forth on Schedule 4.3, neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated
hereby will (a) conflict with or result in any breach of any provision of the Organizational Documents of the Buyers, (b) require
any filing with, or the obtaining of any permit, authorization, consent or approval of, any Governmental Entity, (c) violate, conflict
with or result in a default (or any event which, with notice or lapse of time or both, would constitute a default) under, or give rise to
any consent rights or right of termination, cancellation or acceleration under, any of the terms, conditions or provisions of any note,
mortgage, other evidence of indebtedness, guarantee, license, agreement, lease or other contract, instrument or obligation to which
either Buyer is a party or by which a Buyer or any of its assets may be bound, or (d) violate any Law, order, injunction or decree
applicable to the Buyers, excluding from the foregoing clauses (b), (c) and (d) such requirements, violations, conflicts, defaults or
rights which would not be reasonably likely to materially and adversely affect or restrict a Buyer’s ability to consummate the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the Buyer Ancillary Documents.
Section 4.4 Litigation. There is no claim, action, suit, proceeding or governmental investigation pending or, to the
knowledge of the Buyers, threatened against the Buyers, by or before any Governmental Entity or by any third party which
challenges the validity of this Agreement or the Buyer Ancillary Documents or which would be reasonably likely to materially and
adversely affect or restrict either Buyer’s ability to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
Section 4.5 Financial Capability. The Buyers have on the date hereof access to, and will have available as of the
Closing Date, sufficient cash on hand, and at all times will have the financial capacity, necessary to consummate the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein. The Buyers affirm that it is not a
condition to Closing or to any of their obligations under this Agreement that the Buyers obtain financing for the transactions
contemplated hereby or thereby.
Section 4.6 Solvency. Immediately after giving effect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, each of
the Buyers and their Subsidiaries, including the Group
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Companies, shall not (a) be insolvent or left with unreasonably small capital, (b) have incurred debts beyond their ability to pay
such debts as they mature, or (c) have liabilities in excess of the reasonable market value of their assets.
Section 4.7 Acquisition of Interests for Investment. The Buyers have such knowledge and experience in financial
and business matters that they are capable of evaluating the merits and risks of their participation in the transactions contemplated
by this Agreement, and the Buyers confirm that they have made an independent investigation, analysis and evaluation of the
Company and its Subsidiaries and their respective properties, assets, businesses, financial conditions, documents, information and
records. The Buyers are acquiring the Interests for investment and not with a view toward or for sale or in connection with any
distribution thereof, or with any present intention of distributing or selling the Interests. The Buyers understand and agree that the
Interests may not be sold, transferred, offered for sale, pledged, hypothecated or otherwise disposed of without registration under
the Securities Act, except pursuant to an exemption from such registration available under the Securities Act, and without
compliance with state, local and foreign securities Laws, in each case, to the extent applicable.
Section 4.8 Certain Fees. Neither the Company nor any Seller shall be directly or indirectly obligated to pay or
bear (e.g., by virtue of any payment by or obligation of the Buyers or any of their Affiliates at or at any time after the Closing) any
brokerage, finder’s or other fee or commission to any broker, finder or investment banker in connection with the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement based on arrangements made by or on behalf of the Buyers or any of their Affiliates.
ARTICLE V
COVENANTS
Section 5.1 Conduct of the Business. The Company agrees that, during the period from the date of this Agreement
to the earlier of (x) termination of this Agreement in accordance with Section 8.1 and (y) the Closing, except as otherwise required
to comply with Law, expressly contemplated by this Agreement, set forth on Schedule 5.1, or consented to by the Buyers in writing
following the date hereof (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed):
(a) the Company will use its commercially reasonable efforts to (i) conduct its business in the Ordinary Course in
all material respects and cause any Company Subsidiary to conduct its business in the Ordinary Course in all material respects, and
(ii) maintain, preserve and retain in all material respects relationships with those suppliers, vendors and customers that are material
to the Group Companies; and
(b) the Company shall not, and shall cause each Company Subsidiary not to, effect any of the following;
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(i) make any change in or amendment to its partnership agreement, certificate of incorporation or its bylaws, certificate of formation or limited liability company agreement (or the equivalent thereof), as applicable, in any
material respect;
(ii) issue, pledge, dispose of, grant, transfer, encumber, deliver, sell, or authorize to issue, pledge, dispose
of, grant, transfer, encumber, deliver or sell, any of its Equity Interests, any securities convertible into or exchangeable for,
or options, warrants or rights to purchase or subscribe for, or enter into any Contract with respect to the issuance or sale of,
any shares of its Equity Interests, as applicable;
(iii)
Equity Interests;

adjust, split, combine, redeem, subdivide or reclassify, or purchase or otherwise acquire, any of its

(iv) sell, lease or otherwise dispose of any of its properties or assets that are material to its business other
than sales of inventory in the Ordinary Course;
(v)
adopt a plan of complete or partial liquidation, dissolution, merger, consolidation, restructuring,
recapitalization or other reorganization of the Company or any Company Subsidiary (other than the consummation of the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement);
(vi) amend, waive, modify or terminate any Company Material Contract or enter into a Contract which, had
it been entered into prior to the date hereof, would have been a Company Material Contract;
(vii) (A) incur any Indebtedness, other than short-term Indebtedness or letters of credit incurred in the
Ordinary Course or borrowings under existing credit facilities, or (B) make any loans or advances to any other Person, other
than loans and advances to employees consistent with past practice;
(viii) other than in the Ordinary Course, grant or agree to grant to any Participant any increase in wages or
bonus, severance, profit sharing, retirement, insurance or other compensation or benefits, or establish, adopt, enter into,
terminate or amend, or take any action to accelerate the vesting of any compensation or benefits under, any Company
Benefit Plan, collective bargaining agreement or any new compensation or employee benefit plans or arrangements, except
as may be required under (A) applicable Law, (B) pursuant to the Company Benefit Plans or collective bargaining
agreements of the Company or any of the Company Subsidiaries in effect on the date hereof, or (C) pursuant to
employment, retention, change-of-control or similar type Contracts existing as of the date hereof;
(ix) authorize, or make any commitment with respect to capital expenditures for the Company and the
Group Companies (i) in excess of $50,000 individually per equipment, product or item or (ii) in excess of $250,000 in the
aggregate;
(x) (1) other than in the Ordinary Course, (A) change any Tax accounting period or any method of Tax
accounting, except as required by Law; (B) amend any material
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Tax election not required by Law that could have a continuing effect on any Group Company following the Closing Date;
(C) file any amended Tax Return with respect to Taxes; (D) settle, resolve or compromise a dispute or claim with respect to
Taxes or Tax benefits; or (E) extend any limitation period applicable to a Tax liability or (2) enter into or amend a Tax
sharing, Tax allocation or Tax indemnification agreement (other than agreements entered into in the Ordinary Course, the
principal purpose of which does not pertain to Tax);
(xi) make any change in any method of accounting or accounting practice or policy, except as required by
IFRS or applicable Law;
(xii) commence or settle any material action, dispute, legal proceeding, arbitration or mediation or similar
action to which any of the Group Company is a party, in excess of $100,000 individually or that would restrict or otherwise
adversely affect any Group Company’s use of any Intellectual Property;
(xiii) other than in the Ordinary Course, cancel or forgive any material Indebtedness owed to the Company
or any of the Company Subsidiaries, other than Indebtedness of the Company to a Company Subsidiary or Indebtedness of a
Company Subsidiary to the Company or to another Company Subsidiary;
(xiv) other than in the Ordinary Course, transfer, modify, grant rights to, dispose of, terminate, cancel or
abandon, or fail to renew, maintain, diligently pursue applications for or defend, any material Company Intellectual Property
or enter into any agreements substantially relating to Company Intellectual Property;
(xv) acquire by merging, consolidating with, or by purchasing all or a substantial portion of the assets or
equity securities of, or by any other manner, any corporation, partnership, joint venture or other entity; or
(xvi) authorize any of, or commit or agree to take any of, the foregoing actions in respect of which it is
restricted by the provisions of this Section 5.1.
Section 5.2 Regulatory Undertakings.
(a) Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, each Party shall use its commercially reasonable efforts
to take, and cause to be taken, all actions and do, and cause to be done, and to assist and cooperate with the other Party in doing, all
things necessary, proper or advisable under Law in order to consummate, as promptly as practicable after the date hereof, the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including (i) preparing and filing as promptly as practicable after the date hereof with
any Governmental Entity or other third party all documentation to effect all necessary, proper or advisable filings, notices, petitions,
statements, registrations, submissions of information, applications and other documents and (ii) obtaining and maintaining all
approvals, consents, waivers, clearances, registrations, permits, authorizations and other confirmations from any Governmental
Entity or other third party that are necessary, proper or advisable to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement,
including the consents identified on Schedule 5.2(a); provided that this Section 5.2(a) shall not require any Party to make
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any payment (other than Ordinary Course payments required to be made under an existing Contract) or concession to any
Governmental Entity or other third party except as expressly contemplated by the other provisions of this Agreement. The Buyers
shall be responsible for and pay one hundred percent (100%) of the filing fees associated with any of the notifications, consents,
approvals or filings with Governmental Entities pursuant to this Section 5.2(a).
(b) In furtherance and not in limitation of the foregoing, each of the Buyers and the Company and their respective
Affiliates shall make an appropriate filing of a Notification and Report Form pursuant to the HSR Act with respect to the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement with the United States Federal Trade Commission (the “FTC”) and the Antitrust
Division of the United States Department of Justice (the “Antitrust Division”) as promptly as reasonably practicable after the date
hereof and in any event within ten (10) Business Days after the date hereof. The Buyers shall be responsible for and pay one
hundred percent (100%) of the filing fees associated with such filing. Each of the Buyers and the Company shall (i) respond as
promptly as practicable to any inquiries received from the FTC or the Antitrust Division for additional information or
documentation and to all inquiries and requests received from any State Attorney General or other Governmental Entity in
connection with antitrust, competition, trade regulation or similar matters, and (ii) not extend any waiting period under the HSR
Act or enter into any agreement with the FTC or the Antitrust Division not to consummate the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement, except with the prior written consent of the other Party.
(c) Subject to the last two sentences of this Section 5.2(c), the Buyers agree to, and agree to cause their Affiliates
and representatives to, use their reasonable best efforts and to take promptly any and all steps and actions necessary to avoid or
eliminate each and every impediment that may be asserted by any Governmental Entity or any other Person with respect to the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement so as to enable the Closing to occur expeditiously, but in any event prior to the
Outside Date, including, as applicable, (i) providing information to such Persons and (ii) proposing, negotiating, committing to or
effecting, by consent decree, hold separate order or otherwise, (A) the sale, divesture or disposition of, or holding separate (through
the establishment of a trust or otherwise), such of their and their Affiliates’ assets, properties and businesses and of the assets,
properties and businesses of the Group Companies, (B) the termination, modification or extension of existing relationships and
contractual rights and obligations of them, their Affiliates or the Group Companies, (C) the establishment or creation of
relationships and contractual rights and obligations of them, their Affiliates or the Group Companies, (D) the termination of any
relevant venture or other arrangement and (E) any other change or restructuring of the Buyers, their Affiliates or the Group
Companies, in each case, as may be required to be taken in order to avoid the entry of, or to effect the dissolution of, any decree,
order, judgment, injunction, temporary restraining order or other order in any litigation, which would otherwise have the effect of
materially delaying or preventing the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or that would make the consummation
of the transactions contemplated hereby unlawful. In addition, the Buyers shall oppose, through and including litigation on the
merits (and all appeals with respect thereto), any claim asserted in court or other forum by any Governmental Entity or other Person
in order to avoid entry of, or to have vacated or terminated, any decree, order or judgment (whether temporary, preliminary or
permanent) that would restrain or prevent the Closing prior to the Outside Date. Nothing in this Agreement shall require (or be
deemed to require) the Buyers or any of their
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Affiliates to agree to or take any action with respect to the matters set forth in this Section 5.2 that would, individually or in the
aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on the financial condition or result of operations of the Buyers
or their Affiliates (including, after the Closing, the Group Companies), taken as a whole. For the avoidance of doubt, the Buyers
and their Affiliates shall not be required (and the Buyers shall not require the Group Companies to, and the Group Companies shall
not be required to), take any action with respect to any order or any applicable Law which is not conditioned upon the
consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
(d) Each Party shall (i) promptly notify the other Parties of any written communication relating to the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement to that Party from the FTC, the Antitrust Division, any State Attorney General or any other
Governmental Entity and, subject to Law, permit the other Parties to review in advance any proposed written communication
relating to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement to any of the foregoing and incorporate the other Parties’ reasonable
comments, (ii) not participate in or agree to participate in any substantive meeting or discussion with any Governmental Entity in
respect of any filing, investigation or inquiry concerning any antitrust, competition or trade regulation matters in connection with
this Agreement unless it consults with the other Parties in advance and, to the extent permitted by such Governmental Entity, gives
the other Parties the opportunity to attend and participate thereat and (iii) furnish the other Parties with copies of all
correspondence, filings, and communications (and memoranda setting forth the substance thereof) between them and their
Affiliates and their respective Representatives, on the one hand, and any Governmental Entity or members or their respective staffs,
on the other hand, with respect to any antitrust, competition or trade regulation matters in connection with this Agreement, except
that any materials concerning the Company’s valuation of the transaction, the Company’s internal financial information or
competitively sensitive information of the Company and its Subsidiaries may be redacted or limited to outside counsel pursuant to
any applicable joint defense or common interest agreement. Without limiting the foregoing, the Buyers agree that, at any time in an
investigation, if a Governmental Entity suggests or proffers a settlement of the investigation to permit the transactions contemplated
by this Agreement to be consummated, the Buyers shall promptly (and in any event within three (3) Business Days) communicate
the terms of the offer to the Company.
(e)
Promptly following the execution of this Agreement and, subject to the Buyers promptly providing all
information reasonably requested by the Sellers that is required to complete all notifications set forth on Schedule 5.2(e), no later
than twenty (20) Business Days from and after the date hereof, the Company shall provide all notifications required to be made
prior to the Closing pursuant to Federal and State Health Care Laws to the appropriate state agencies with respect to licenses and
registrations of the Company, including the notifications set forth on Schedule 5.2(e). The Company shall promptly deliver to the
Buyers complete and accurate copies of all such notifications and all notices, correspondence and other written communication
received by the Company with respect to such notifications. The Company shall consult with the Buyers regarding the strategy and
process to respond to any such notices, correspondence or other written communication received from a state agency and, prior to
the submission thereof, provide the Buyers with a reasonable opportunity to comment on the response or any additional material
proposed to be submitted by the Company to the state agency. The Buyers shall be responsible for and pay one
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hundred percent (100%) of the filing fees associated with any of the notifications to state agencies pursuant to this Section 5.2(e).
(f) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, between the date hereof and the Closing Date, the
Sellers, the Company and the Buyers shall cooperate in good faith to identify any Licenses required by Law to carry on the
business and operations of the Group Companies that are not currently held by the Group Companies (the “Additional Licenses”).
From the date hereof until the Closing Date, the Sellers and the Company shall use reasonable best efforts to obtain the Additional
Licenses at the Sellers’ sole cost and expense.
Section 5.3 Release of Liens. The Company shall cause all Liens (other than Permitted Liens) securing the Payoff
Indebtedness to be released prior to the Closing or substantially simultaneously with the Closing.
Section 5.4 Public Announcements. Except as otherwise required by Law or the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission disclosure obligations or the rules of any stock exchange or national market system (in which event the Parties shall
use commercially reasonably efforts to consult with each other in advance and provide the non-disclosing Parties a reasonable
opportunity to review and comment on any such disclosure), none of the Parties shall, and each Party shall cause its Affiliates not
to, make or issue any public announcement, press release to the general public or public statement or comment in response to any
inquiry made with respect to this Agreement or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement without the prior written consent
of the other Parties, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned.
Section 5.5 Supplemental Disclosure.
(a) The Company may, from time to time prior to the date falling five (5) Business Days prior to the Closing, by
notice in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, supplement, amend or add a Schedule with a corresponding reference to be
added to this Agreement (each, a “Supplement”) to add new information that arises out of or relates to facts or conditions that did
not exist as of the date of this Agreement. The delivery of any Supplement pursuant to this Section 5.5(a) will not cure any breach
that otherwise might exist or come to exist hereunder by reason of such matters reflected in any Supplement; provided, that if (i)
the Closing occurs or (ii) the Buyers do not, within five (5) Business Days of the delivery of any Supplement, give notice to the
Sellers that such Supplement constitutes a breach of this Agreement that, if not cured, would enable the Buyers to terminate this
Agreement pursuant to Section 8.1(b) (and that in the absence of a cure the Buyers would intend to terminate this Agreement), then
any such Supplement will be effective to cure and correct for purposes of Section 6.3(a) and Section 9.1(a) any breach as of the
Closing Date of any representation or warranty (other than a breach as of the Closing Date of a Fundamental Representation) that
would have existed if the Company had not made such Supplement, and, solely for purposes of determining whether a breach of
any representation or warranty (other than a breach of a Fundamental Representation) has occurred, all references to any Schedule
hereto that is supplemented, amended or added as provided in this Section 5.5(a) shall after the Closing be deemed to be a reference
to such Schedule as so supplemented, amended or added.
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(b) The Company shall, from time to time prior to the date falling five (5) Business Days prior to the Closing, by
notice in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, Supplement a Schedule if the Company becomes aware of any fact or
condition that occurred prior to the date of this Agreement and that would have been required to be set forth or described in the
Schedules (each, an “Existing Condition”). The delivery of any Supplement pursuant to this Section 5.5(b) will not cure any breach
that otherwise might exist or come to exist hereunder by reason of such matters reflected in any such Supplement. Notwithstanding
anything in this Agreement to the contrary, any breach by the Company of this Section 5.5(b) shall be deemed for all purposes
(including for purposes of Article IX) to constitute a breach of the applicable representation and warranty to which any such
Existing Condition relates and shall not constitute a breach of covenant.
Section 5.6 Tax Matters.
(a) The Buyers and the Company shall (but subject to Section 5.6(g)) prepare or cause to be prepared and timely
file or cause to be timely filed all Tax Returns of the Group Companies for all Pre-Closing Tax Periods (other than Straddle
Periods) that are required to be filed after the Closing Date. The Sellers shall reimburse the Buyers for any third-party costs actually
incurred in connection with such preparation and filing, promptly upon the Buyers’ delivery of an invoice or similar statement for
such costs. Subject to Section 5.6(b), the Company shall prepare any such Tax Return in a manner consistent with past practice
except as required by Law, and shall provide to the Sellers a draft of such Tax Return at least thirty (30) days prior to the due date
for filing such Tax Return, taking into account any extensions. No later than fifteen (15) days after receipt by the Sellers of such
Tax Return, the Sellers shall notify the Buyers and the Company of the existence of any objection the Sellers may have to any items
set forth on such draft Tax Return. If, after consulting in good faith, the Sellers and the Company are unable to resolve such
objection(s) in a mutually agreeable manner, such objection(s) shall be referred to the Accounting Firm for resolution, the costs of
which shall be borne by the Party whose position loses, or equitably allocated amongst the Parties based on whose positions do not
prevail as determined by the Accounting Firm. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Sellers shall be responsible for a portion of the
costs of the Accounting Firm in the event, and to the extent, of a determination by the Accounting Firm to the effect that any
computations relating to Taxes in the statements delivered pursuant to Section 1.3 were in error. To the extent necessary, the Buyers
and the Company shall cause any such Tax Returns, as finally agreed upon or as finally determined by the Accounting Firm, to be
filed in a timely manner (taking into account all extensions). All Tax Returns relating to a Straddle Period shall be prepared and
timely filed by the Buyers, and the Sellers shall be given a reasonable opportunity to review and comment on any such Tax Returns.
The Buyers shall prepare any such Straddle Period Tax Return in a manner consistent with past practice except as required by Law,
and shall provide to the Sellers a draft of such Tax Return at least thirty (30) days prior to the due date for filing such Tax Return,
taking into account any extensions. No later than fifteen (15) days after receipt by the Sellers of such Tax Return, the Sellers shall
notify the Buyers of the existence of any objection the Sellers may have to any items set forth on such draft Tax Return. If, after
consulting in good faith, the Sellers and the Buyers are unable to resolve such objection(s) in a mutually agreeable manner, such
objection(s) shall be referred to the Accounting Firm for resolution, the costs of which shall be borne by the Party whose position
loses, or equitably allocated amongst
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the Parties based on whose positions do not prevail as determined by the Accounting Firm. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the
Sellers shall be responsible for a portion of the costs of the Accounting Firm in the event, and to the extent, of a determination by
the Accounting Firm to the effect that any computations relating to Taxes in the statements delivered pursuant to Section 1.3 were
in error. No later than five (5) Business Days prior to the due date of any Taxes shown as due on the Tax Returns described in this
clause (a) with respect to a Pre-Closing Tax Period, the Sellers shall pay the Buyers such amounts (without duplication for any
amounts taken into account as a component of Net Working Capital, Company Transaction Expenses, Cash and Cash Equivalents,
Indebtedness, Debt-Like Items or otherwise as an adjustment to the Purchase Price under Article I) by wire transfer of immediately
available funds, and if any such payment is not made, the Buyer Indemnified Parties may make a claim for any such amounts
pursuant to Article IX of this Agreement. With respect to any Straddle Periods, the Sellers’ obligations shall be governed by
Section 5.6(b) such that Sellers are only obligated to pay the Taxes allocated to the portion of the taxable period ending on or prior
to the Closing Date.
(b) The Parties agree that to the maximum extent permitted by applicable Law the income Tax Returns for the
Group Companies for the period ending on the Closing Date (the “Company Short Year Income Tax Returns”) shall include all of
the income, deductions and credits for all of the activities of the Group Companies through the end of the tax year of the Group
Companies ending on the Closing Date, in a manner consistent with Treasury Regulations Section 1.1502-76. In connection
therewith, for the avoidance of doubt, no election under Treasury Regulations Section 1.1502-76(b)(2)(ii) shall be made. If
permitted by applicable Law, the Company shall make an election to treat 70% of any success-based fees that were paid by or on
behalf of the Company as an amount that did not facilitate the merger and therefore as deductible in a Pre-Closing Tax Period for
U.S. federal income tax purposes in accordance with Revenue Procedure 2011-29, 2011-18 IRB 746. If none of the Group
Companies is able to utilize any deductions reflected on the Company Short Year Income Tax Return or any applicable Straddle
Tax Return due to the lack of sufficient taxable income for such taxable year ending on the Closing Date, the Company shall carry
back any losses reflected on the applicable Company Short Year Income Tax Return or any applicable Straddle Tax Return to prior
taxable years to the extent permitted by applicable Law. Such carry-back shall be made as promptly as practicable as permitted
under applicable Law (including using IRS Form 4466 and/or IRS Form 1139, as applicable). Any such Tax refunds shall be
promptly remitted to the Sellers, except to the extent any such refunds were already taken into account as a component of Net
Working Capital, Cash and Cash Equivalents, or otherwise expressly treated pursuant to the terms hereof as an adjustment to the
Purchase Price under Article I (in which case only the refunds in excess of such amounts shall be remitted to the Sellers). For the
avoidance of doubt, any such carry-back (and any Tax Returns or related forms required in order to effectuate such carry-back shall
be treated as a Tax Return for a Pre-Closing Tax Period subject to the provisions of Section 5.6(a). The allocation of Taxes for any
taxable period of any Group Company that includes, but does not end on, the Closing Date (a “Straddle Period”) shall be
determined (i) in the case of any Taxes based on or measured by income or receipts, sales Tax, use Tax, withholding Tax, payroll
Tax or employment Tax by closing the books of such Group Company as of the close of business on the Closing Date (and for such
purposes, the taxable period of any partnership or other pass-through entity in which such Group Company holds a beneficial
interest shall be deemed to terminate at such time) and (ii) in the case of all other Taxes, by multiplying such Taxes by a fraction
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the numerator of which is the number of days from the beginning of such taxable period through the close of business on the
Closing Date and the denominator of which is the total number of days in such taxable period.
(c) Tax Claims.
(i) If a claim shall be made by any taxing authority, which, if successful, might result in an indemnity
payment to an Indemnified Party pursuant to this Agreement, then such Indemnified Party shall give prompt notice, and in
any event, notice within five (5) days of becoming aware of such claim, to the Indemnifying Party in writing of such claim
and of any counterclaim the indemnified party proposes to assert (a “Tax Claim”); provided, however, the failure to give
such notice shall not affect the indemnification provided hereunder except to the extent the Indemnifying Party has been
materially prejudiced as a result of such failure. With respect to any Tax Claim relating to a Pre-Closing Tax Period, subject
to Section 5.6(c)(ii), the Sellers shall, solely at their own cost and expense, control all proceedings and may make all
decisions taken in connection with such Tax Claim (including selection of counsel) and, without limiting the foregoing, may
in their sole discretion pursue or forego any and all administrative appeals, proceedings, hearings and conferences with any
taxing authority with respect thereto, and may, in their sole discretion, either pay the Tax claimed and sue for a refund where
applicable Law permits such refund suits or contest the Tax Claim in any permissible manner. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, the Sellers shall not settle such Tax Claim without the prior written consent of the Buyers, which consent shall
not be unreasonably withheld or delayed, and the Buyers, solely at their own cost and expense, and counsel of their own
choosing, shall have the right to participate fully in all aspects of the prosecution or defense of such Tax Claim if they
reasonably determine that such Tax Claim could have a material adverse impact on the Taxes of any of the Group
Companies in a taxable period or portion thereof beginning after the Closing Date. At the request of the Sellers, and at the
Sellers’ expense, the Company shall provide Sellers with assistance, information and documentation as may be reasonably
requested in connection with a Tax Claim.
(ii) The Sellers and the Buyers shall jointly control and participate in all proceedings taken in connection
with any Tax Claim relating to Taxes of any of the Group Companies for a Straddle Period, and shall bear their own
respective costs and expenses. Neither the Sellers nor the Buyers shall settle any such Tax Claim without the prior written
consent of the other, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed.
(iii) With respect to any Tax Claim that the Sellers elect not to control pursuant to clause (i), the Buyers
shall control all such proceedings. The Buyers shall not settle such Tax Claim without the prior written consent of the
Sellers, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed, and the Sellers, solely at their own cost and expense,
and counsel of their own choosing, shall have the right to participate fully in all aspects of the prosecution or defense of
such Tax Claim. The Buyers shall have a right to settle any such Tax Claim without the consent of the Sellers if the Sellers
unreasonably delay consent
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in a manner that is reasonably likely to result in additional adverse Tax consequences to the Buyers after the Closing.
(iv) This Section 5.6(c), and not Section 9.3, shall be controlling with respect to any Tax Claims.
(d) Except to the extent included in Current Assets in Net Working Capital as finally determined hereunder, or as a
component of Net Working Capital, Cash and Cash Equivalents, or otherwise expressly treated pursuant to the terms hereof as an
adjustment to the Purchase Price under Article I, and without duplication for any Tax refunds determined and paid pursuant to
Section 5.6(b), any Tax refund or credit (including any interest paid or credited with respect thereto) that is received by the Buyers,
any Group Company or any of their Affiliates shall be the property of the Sellers to the extent such refund or credit is attributable to
any Pre-Closing Tax Period (other than a refund attributable to the carryback of a Tax attribute from a taxable period (or portion
thereof) beginning after the Closing Date. Any such Tax refund or credit that is received by the Buyers, any Group Company or any
of their Affiliates, net of any Taxes and reasonable out-of-pocket expenses, shall be promptly paid over to the Sellers. In the event
that any such refund or credit is subsequently disallowed, the Sellers shall promptly repay to the Buyers the amount of any payment
(together with any interest or penalty imposed as a result of such disallowance, together with any reasonable out-of-pocket
expenses incurred in connection therewith) previously paid by the Buyers to the Sellers. At the request of the Sellers, the Buyers
shall use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain any such Tax refund or credit attributable to any Pre-Closing Tax Period, and
the Sellers shall reimburse the Buyers for any reasonable third-party costs incurred in connection with a claim for such refunds
requested by the Sellers.
(e) From and after the Closing through the close of business on the Closing Date, the Buyers shall not, and shall
cause the Group Companies not to, take any action outside of the Ordinary Course which would affect any item included in Net
Working Capital or otherwise would result in any adjustment to Purchase Price under Article I, in either case which relates to Tax
or Taxes.
(f) From and after the Closing Date, the Buyers shall cause the Group Companies not to, without the prior written
consent of the Sellers, (i) file any amended Tax Returns that may affect Taxes for any Pre-Closing Tax Period of the Company or
any of the Company Subsidiaries or otherwise affect the liability of the Sellers, except as required by Law, or (ii) initiate or enter
into any voluntary disclosure agreement or program with any taxing authority with respect to any Pre-Closing Tax Period.
(g) The Buyers shall not make or permit to be made any election under Section 338(g) of the Code or under
Section 336 of the Code, or any similar provision of state, local or non-U.S. Law, with respect to the transactions contemplated by
this Agreement.
(h) The Sellers and the Buyers shall each, at the sole cost and expense of the requesting party (solely to the extent
that third party expenses are incurred), (i) provide the other with such assistance as may reasonably be requested by either of them
in connection with the preparation of any Tax Return (including, for the avoidance of doubt, assistance by the Sellers
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following the Closing with respect to any Tax Returns that the Buyers and the Company are required to prepare hereunder), audit or
other examination by any Governmental Entity responsible for the administration of Tax, or Tax audits or actions relating to Taxes,
(ii) retain and provide the other with any records or other information which may be relevant to such Tax Return, audit or
examination, or action, and (iii) provide the other with any final determination of any such audit or examination, action or
determination that affects any amount required to be shown on any Tax Return of the other for any relevant period.
(i) The Sellers shall deliver to the Buyers a duly executed and acknowledged certificate, in form and substance
acceptable to Buyers and in compliance with the Code and Treasury Regulations, certifying such facts as to establish that the sale
of the Interests and any other transactions contemplated hereby are exempt from withholding pursuant to Section 1445 of the Code.
(j) The Sellers shall cause all Tax allocation agreements or Tax sharing agreements as between any of the Group
Companies and the Sellers to be terminated as of the Closing Date, and shall ensure that such agreements are of no further force or
effect as to any of the Group Companies on and after the Closing Date and that there shall be no further liabilities or obligations
imposed on any of the Group Companies under any such agreements.
(k)
All transfer, documentary, sales, use, stamp, registration and other similar non-income Taxes and fees
(including any penalties and interest) incurred in connection with this Agreement shall be allocated one hundred percent (100%) to
the Buyers. The Buyers will file all necessary Tax Returns and other documentation with respect to all such transfer, documentary,
sales, use, stamp, registration and other Taxes and fees, and any expenses incurred in connection with such filings shall be allocated
equally to the Buyers and the Sellers under this Section 5.6(k).
(l) Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the Buyers agree that they shall, and shall cause the Group
Companies to, (i) preserve and keep the records applicable to pre-Closing periods (including all Tax and accounting records) of the
Group Companies for a period of seven (7) years from the Closing, or for any longer periods as may be required by any
Governmental Entity or ongoing litigation, and (ii) make such records available to the Sellers as may be reasonably required by the
Sellers. If the Buyers, the Company or any Company Subsidiary wishes to destroy such records after the time specified above, the
Buyers shall first give sixty (60) days’ prior written notice to the Sellers, and the Sellers shall have the right at their respective
option and expense, upon prior written notice given to the Buyers within that sixty (60)-day period, to take possession of the
records within ninety (90) days after the date of the Sellers’ notice to the Buyers.
Section 5.7 Directors’ and Officers’ Indemnification.
(a) From and after the Closing, the Buyers agree to ensure that all rights to indemnification existing as of the date
hereof in favor of any individual who, at or prior to the Closing, was a director, officer or employee of the Company or any of the
Company Subsidiaries or who, at the request of the Company or any of the Company Subsidiaries, served as a director, officer,
member, trustee or fiduciary of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, pension or other employee benefit plan or
enterprise (collectively, with such individual’s heirs, executors
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or administrators, the “Indemnified D&O Persons”) as provided in the respective governing documents and indemnification
agreements to which the Company or any of the Company Subsidiaries is a party or bound, shall survive the Closing and shall
continue in full force and effect for a period of six (6) years from the Closing and indemnification agreements and the provisions
with respect to indemnification and limitations on liability set forth in such governing documents shall not be amended, repealed or
otherwise modified; provided, that in the event any claim or claims are asserted or made within such six (6) year period, all rights
to indemnification in respect of any such claim or claims shall continue until final disposition of any and all such claims. The
Buyers shall not settle, compromise or consent to the entry of judgment in any such claim without the written consent of such
Indemnified D&O Person.
(b) On or prior to the Closing Date, the Company or the Sellers shall purchase, and maintain in effect for a period
of six (6) years thereafter, (i) a tail policy to the current policy of directors’ and officers’ liability insurance maintained with respect
to the Company, which tail policy shall be effective for a period from the Closing through and including the date six (6) years after
the Closing Date with respect to claims arising from facts or events that occurred on or before the Closing, and which tail policy
shall contain substantially the same coverage and amounts as, and contain terms and conditions no less advantageous than, in the
aggregate, the coverage currently provided by such current policy and shall provide coverage for all Indemnified D&O Persons and
(ii) “run off” coverage as provided by the fiduciary and employee benefit policies maintained with respect to the Company, in each
case, covering those Persons who are covered on the date hereof by such policies and with terms, conditions, retentions and limits
of liability that are no less advantageous than the coverage provided under the existing policies maintained with respect to the
Company. The amount paid by the Company or the Sellers under this Section 5.7(b) shall be referred to as the “Tail Premium.” On
or prior to the Closing Date, the Buyers and the Company shall work together to obtain tail policies to the current fiduciary liability,
medical professions liability, information security and privacy, and forefront portfolio insurance policies, at the Buyers’ sole cost
and expense.
(c) Notwithstanding any other provisions hereof, the obligations of the Buyers contained in this Section 5.7 shall
be binding upon the successors and assigns of the Buyers. In the event the Buyers or the Company, or any of their respective
successors or assigns, (i) consolidates with or merges into any other Person or (ii) transfers all or substantially all of its properties
or assets to any Person, then, and in each case, the Buyers or the Company, as the case may be, shall cause proper provision to be
made so that the successors and assigns of the Buyers or the Company expressly assume the indemnification and other obligations
set forth in this Section 5.7.
(d) The Company shall be a full indemnitor of first resort and, solely to the extent of the rights of indemnification
existing as of the date hereof in favor of the Indemnified D&O Persons, shall (i) be required to advance the full amount of all
attorneys’ fees, expert fees, arbitrator and mediator fees, and all other reasonable costs, charges and expenses paid or incurred by an
Indemnified D&O Person in connection with investigating, defending, being a witness in or otherwise participating in (including on
appeal) any threatened, pending or completed claim, action, inquiry, suit or proceeding, whether criminal, civil, administrative or
investigative, based on or arising out or relating to the fact that such Person is or was a director or officer of any of the Group
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Companies and arising out of or relating to acts or omissions occurring or existing at or prior to the Closing (including in respect of
acts or omissions in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby) (a “D&O Indemnifiable Claim”)
and (ii) be liable for the full amount of all losses, claims, damages, judgments and amounts paid in settlement in respect of any
D&O Indemnifiable Claim to the extent legally permitted and as required, in each case without regard to any rights an Indemnified
D&O Person may have against the Sellers or any of their Affiliates or otherwise or any insurer providing insurance coverage under
an insurance policy issued to the Sellers or any of their Affiliates.
(e) The obligations of the Buyers and the Company under this Section 5.7 shall survive the Closing and shall not
be terminated or modified in such a manner as to affect adversely any Indemnified D&O Person to whom this Section 5.7 applies
without the written consent of such affected Indemnified D&O Person (it being expressly agreed that the Indemnified D&O
Persons to whom this Section 5.7 applies shall be third party beneficiaries of this Section 5.7, each of whom may enforce the
provisions of this Section 5.7).
(f) Nothing in this Agreement is intended to, shall be construed to or shall release, waive or impair any rights to
directors’ and officers’ insurance claims under any policy that is or has been in existence with respect to the Company or any of the
Company Subsidiaries or any of their respective directors or officers.
Section 5.8 Release.
(a) Effective upon the Closing, each Seller, on behalf of itself and its Affiliates (other than the Advent Portfolio
Companies) and each of their respective representatives, successors and assigns (collectively, the “Seller Releasing Parties”), shall
be deemed to have remised, released and forever discharged the Buyers and the Group Companies and each of their respective
Related Parties, representatives, successors and assigns (collectively, the “Company Released Parties”) of and from, and agrees not
to bring suit or claim or seek to recover any amount with respect to, any and all claims, liabilities and obligations of any kind or
nature whatsoever, arising out of, relating to, or resulting from any matter or cause whatsoever arising prior to the date hereof or the
Closing, whether in its capacity as an equity holder of the Group Companies or otherwise, in each case whether known or
unknown, absolute or contingent, liquidated or unliquidated, and whether arising under any agreement or understanding or
otherwise, at Law or equity that the Seller Releasing Parties, or any of them, now have, ever had, or at the Closing may have, or
hereafter can, shall or may have, against the Company Released Parties, or any of them, for, upon or by reason of any matter, cause
or thing whatsoever, from the beginning of time through the Closing, except for any claims, liabilities or obligations under this
Agreement or any of the Ancillary Documents or from any claims, liabilities or obligations under agreements stated to survive
pursuant to Section 5.11.
(b) Effective upon the Closing, each of the Buyers and the Group Companies on behalf of itself and its respective
representatives, successors and assigns (collectively, the “Company Releasing Parties” and, together with the Seller Releasing
Parties, each, a “Releasing Party” and collectively the “Releasing Parties”), shall be deemed to have remised, released and forever
discharged the Sellers and each of their respective Related Parties (other than the Advent Portfolio Companies), representatives,
successors and assigns (collectively, the “Seller Released
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Parties” and, together with the Company Released Parties, each, a “Released Party” and collectively the “Released Parties”) of and
from, and agrees not to bring suit or claim or seek to recover any amount with respect to, any and all claims, liabilities and
obligations of any kind or nature whatsoever, arising out of, relating to, or resulting from any matter or cause whatsoever arising
prior to the date hereof or the Closing, in each case whether known or unknown, absolute or contingent, liquidated or unliquidated,
and whether arising under any agreement or understanding or otherwise, at Law or equity that the Company Releasing Parties, or
any of them, now have, ever had, or at the Closing may have, or hereafter can, shall or may have, against the Seller Released
Parties, or any of them, for, upon or by reason of any matter, cause or thing whatsoever, from the beginning of time through the
Closing, except for any claims, liabilities or obligations under this Agreement or any of the Ancillary Documents or from any
claims, liabilities or obligations under agreements stated to survive pursuant to Section 5.11.
(c) The provisions of this Section 5.8 are (i) intended to be for the benefit of, and shall be enforceable by, each
Released Party and each such Person’s heirs, representatives, successors or assigns, it being expressly agreed that such Persons
shall be third party beneficiaries of this Section 5.8, and (ii) in addition to, and not in substitution for, any other right to
indemnification or contribution that any such Released Party may have under this Agreement, by contract or otherwise.
Section 5.9 Access to Information; Cooperation.
(a) The Company will permit and will cause each of the Company Subsidiaries to permit, Representatives of the
Buyers to have reasonable access at all reasonable times, and in a manner so as not to unreasonably interfere with the normal
business operations of the Group Companies, to all premises, properties, personnel, books, records (including Tax records),
contracts, and documents of or pertaining to each of the Group Companies. The Buyers will treat and hold any confidential
information they receive from the Sellers, the Company and the Company Subsidiaries in accordance with the provisions of the
Confidentiality Agreement. Nothing in this Section 5.9(a) shall require the Company or the Company Subsidiaries to provide any
access, or to disclose any information if, in the opinion of the Company’s outside counsel, providing such access or disclosing such
information would (i) violate any Law (including antitrust or privacy laws) or (ii) jeopardize the attorney-client privilege and such
privilege cannot be protected by the Company or the Company Subsidiaries through exercise of its reasonable efforts. The Buyers
shall have no right to perform invasive or subsurface investigations of the properties or facilities of the Group Companies without
the prior written consent of the Company (which consent may be withheld for any reason).
(b) Within twenty (20) days following the end of each calendar month, the Company shall provide to the Buyers a
consolidated balance sheet and income statement for the month then ended and (if applicable) the fiscal quarter then ended,
prepared in accordance with IFRS applied on a basis consistent with the Financial Statements (except as otherwise noted therein
and subject to normal and recurring year-end adjustments and the absence of notes).
Section 5.10 Exclusivity. The Company and the Sellers agree that between the date of this Agreement and the
earlier of the Closing and the termination of this Agreement, the
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Company and the Sellers shall not, and shall take all action necessary to cause their Affiliates and any of their respective Affiliates
and Representatives not to (a) solicit, initiate, consider, encourage or accept any proposal or offer that constitutes an Acquisition
Proposal or (b) participate in any discussions, conversations, negotiations or other communications regarding, or furnish to any
other Person any information with respect to, or otherwise cooperate in any way, assist or participate in, facilitate or encourage the
submission of, any proposal that constitutes, or could reasonably be expected to lead to, an Acquisition Proposal. The Sellers and
the Company immediately shall cease and cause to be terminated all existing discussions, conversations, negotiations and other
communications with any Persons conducted heretofore with respect to any of the foregoing. The Company shall notify the Buyers
promptly, but in any event within seventy-two (72) hours, orally and in writing if any such Acquisition Proposal, or any inquiry or
other contact with any Person with respect thereto, is made. Any such notice to the Buyers shall indicate in reasonable detail the
identity of the Person making such Acquisition Proposal, inquiry or other contact and the terms and conditions of such Acquisition
Proposal, inquiry or other contact. The Sellers and the Company shall not, and shall cause their Affiliates not to, release any Person
from, or waive any provision of, any confidentiality or standstill agreement to which the Company, the Sellers or any of their
Affiliates is a party, without the prior written consent of the Buyers.
Section 5.11
Termination of Affiliate Arrangements. All agreements between the Company or any Company
Subsidiary, on the one hand, and any of their respective Affiliates (other than arms-length agreements with the Advent Portfolio
Companies), on the other hand, other than (a) the agreements listed on Schedule 5.11, and (b) agreements and transactions solely
between the Company and one or more of the Company Subsidiaries or between or among any Company Subsidiaries, shall be
terminated as of the Closing Date, and all obligations and liabilities thereunder shall have been satisfied.
Section 5.12 Employee Benefits.
(a) Unless the Buyers request otherwise in writing, the Sellers shall adopt resolutions as general partners of the
Company, and the Sellers and the Company shall take any other required actions to terminate, effective no later than the day prior
to the Closing Date, any Company Benefit Plan which is intended to meet the requirements of Section 401(k) of the Code, and
which is sponsored, or contributed to, by the Company or any Group Companies (each, a “401(k) Plan”). At the Closing, the
Company shall provide to the Buyers (i) executed resolutions of the Sellers as general partners of the Company authorizing such
termination, and (ii) an executed amendment to the 401(k) Plan sufficient to assure compliance with all applicable requirements of
the Code and regulations thereunder so that the tax-qualified status of the 401(k) Plan will continue to be maintained at the time of
termination.
(b) During the period commencing at the Closing and ending on the first anniversary of the Closing Date, the
Buyers shall, or shall cause the Company to, provide each employee and officer of the Group Companies who is employed
immediately prior to the Closing (each, a “Continuing Employee”) with (i) base salary or wage level and bonus opportunity (but
excluding equity-based compensation) that are substantially similar in the aggregate as provided to each such Continuing Employee
immediately prior to the Closing (based on the compensation
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data provided by the Sellers to the Buyers prior to the date hereof), (ii) a severance policy that is at least as favorable in the
aggregate as provided to each such Continuing Employee immediately prior to the Closing, as described in Schedule 5.12 and (iii)
employee benefits that are at least as favorable in the aggregate as the employee benefits that each such Continuing Employee was
entitled to receive immediately prior to the Closing (except as set forth on Schedule 5.12(b)).
(c) For purposes of eligibility, vesting and entitlement to benefits, including the determination of the level of
vacation and severance pay benefits under the benefit and compensation plans, programs, agreements and arrangements of the
Buyers, the Company or any of their respective Subsidiaries in which Continuing Employees are eligible to participate following
the Closing (the “Buyer Plans”), the Buyers and the Company shall credit each Continuing Employee with his or her years of
service with the Company, the Company Subsidiaries and any predecessor entities, to the same extent as such employee was
entitled immediately prior to the Closing to credit for such service under any similar Company Benefit Plan, (other than for
purposes of benefit accrual under any defined benefit pension plan), except where such crediting would result in duplication of
benefits. The Buyer Plans shall not deny Continuing Employees coverage on the basis of pre-existing conditions to the extent such
conditions were waived or satisfied under similar Company Benefit Plans immediately prior to the Closing and shall credit such
Continuing Employees for any deductibles and out-of-pocket expenses paid prior to the Closing Date in satisfying any deductibles
and out-of-pocket expenses in the applicable plan year to which such deductibles and out-of-pocket expenses relate.
(d) The parties hereto acknowledge and agree that all provisions contained in this Section 5.12 with respect to
employees of the Company and the Company Subsidiaries are included for the sole benefit of the Parties and shall not create any
right (i) in any other Person, including, any employee, former employee or any participant or any beneficiary thereof in any
Company Benefit Plan or Buyer Plan, or (ii) to continued employment with the Company, any of the Company Subsidiaries, or the
Buyers. Nothing contained in this Section 5.12 is intended to be or shall be considered to be an amendment or adoption of any plan,
program, agreement, arrangement or policy of the Company, any of the Company Subsidiaries or the Buyers nor shall it interfere
with the Buyers’, the Company’s or any of their Subsidiaries’ right to amend, modify or terminate any Company Benefit Plan
(subject to the terms of such Company Benefit Plan) or to terminate the employment of any employee of the Company or the
Company Subsidiaries for any reason.
Section 5.13 Confidentiality. From the date hereof until the three (3) year anniversary of the Closing Date, each
Party shall, and shall cause its Affiliates and Representatives to, hold and continue to hold in strict confidence, and not utilize in its
or their respective business, all information and documents concerning any other Party or any of its Affiliates (“Confidential
Information”), except where such disclosure is expressly consented to in advance in writing by such Party (in its sole and absolute
discretion) or where disclosure may be necessary for such Party (1) to enforce its rights under this Agreement or any other
agreement contemplated hereby or entered into in connection herewith, or (2) as may be permitted under this Agreement or any
such other agreement or as may be expressly permitted under any other written agreement among the Parties. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, the following will not constitute “Confidential Information” for purposes of this Agreement: (a) information that is or
becomes generally available to the public
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other than as the result of a disclosure by the receiving Party or any Affiliate thereof or their respective Representatives and (b)
information that the receiving Party is legally obligated to disclose pursuant to a valid subpoena or a valid request from any
Governmental Entity or by the rules and regulations of any securities exchange or national market system, subject to the obligation
of the receiving Party to give the other Party reasonable advance notice of such disclosure (to the extent not prohibited by
applicable Laws) and to cooperate with the other Party (at the other Party’s expense) in seeking a protective order or other
appropriate means for limiting the scope of the disclosure. Notwithstanding the foregoing, following the Closing, the foregoing
restrictions in this Section 5.13 shall not apply to the use by the Buyers of any documents or information related to the Group
Companies and included in assets of the Group Companies.
Section 5.14 OIG Consent.
(a) Within five (5) Business Days following the date hereof, the Sellers shall, or shall cause the Company to, notify
the OIG and its designees of the Parties’ entry into this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby in accordance with the
notification contemplated by the Company’s Corporate Integrity Agreement (the “CIA”).
(b) As promptly as practicable thereafter, the Parties shall (a) provide all required submissions to the OIG in
connection with the transactions contemplated hereby and as otherwise required by the CIA and (b) use their respective reasonable
best efforts to obtain the OIG’s written consent (including in the form of an email) that the obligations set forth in the CIA will (i)
only apply to the Group Companies’ business following the Closing, (ii) not make the Buyers or any of their Affiliates (other than
the Group Companies following the Closing) “Covered Persons” (as defined in the CIA) under the CIA to the extent that such
Persons are reasonably deemed by the Group Companies (consistent with the Buyers’ obligations pursuant to Section 5.14(d)) not
to be furnishing patient care items or services or to be performing billing or coding functions on behalf of the Group Companies,
(iii) not make the Buyers or any of their Affiliates (other than the Group Companies following the Closing) “Arrangements
Covered Persons” under the CIA to the extent that such Persons are reasonably deemed by the Group Companies (consistent with
the Buyers’ obligations pursuant to Section 5.14(d)) not to be directly involved with the development, approval, management or
review of the Group Companies’ “Arrangements” (as defined in the CIA), and (iv) not require any obligations or certifications of
the Buyers’ or their Affiliates’ (other than the Group Companies following the Closing) board of directors (or similar governing
body), or their individual directors, managers, officers or senior management (vice president level or higher), pursuant to sections
III.A.2, III.A.3 and/or III.A.4 of the CIA, unless such individuals are also designated by the Buyers or the Group Companies as
either members of the Group Companies’ “Compliance Committee” (as defined in the CIA), members of the Group Companies’
board of directors or “Certifying Employees” (as defined in the CIA), in each case consistent with the Buyers’ obligations pursuant
to Section 5.14(d) (in which case their service in those roles will be governed by the terms of the CIA) (collectively, the “OIG
Consent”).
(c) Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Parties acknowledge that the OIG may provide that the requirements of the
CIA will apply to any employees of the Buyers and their Affiliates that meet the CIA definition of “Covered Persons” or
“Arrangements Covered Persons”
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with respect to the obligations imposed by virtue of those designations under the CIA and the Buyers acknowledge and agree that
any such provision by the OIG shall be reasonable and not inconsistent with the criteria of the OIG Consent.
(d) In obtaining the OIG Consent, the Buyers shall use commercially reasonable efforts and take all commercially
reasonable measures, including exercising flexibility in establishing reporting structures, (i) to develop and offer to the OIG
(including following comments and other input from the OIG) a post-closing structure and operational plan for the Group
Companies that would avoid or eliminate any impediments that might be asserted by the OIG with respect to issuing the OIG
Consent and (ii) to work with the OIG in ensuring that the post-closing structure, management and integration plan, including the
identification and designation of individuals to be subject to the CIA, result in the OIG Consent. Prior to a Party submitting any
notifications, filings or other materials described in the immediately preceding sentence to the OIG, the submitting Party will
provide copies thereof to the other Parties for review and comment, will reasonably consider any comments received from the other
Parties thereon, and will otherwise work together in good faith with the other Parties in connection with all such actions and
communications with the OIG. No Party may engage in ex parte communications with the OIG regarding the OIG Consent without
the prior consent of the other Parties. Each Party shall cooperate in good faith with the other Parties, consistent with this Section
5.14, to obtain the OIG Consent.
Section 5.15 Restrictive Covenants.
(a) Each Seller covenants and agrees that, during the Restricted Period, neither such Seller nor any of its Affiliates
will, directly or indirectly through any Person, as a principal, employee, partner, owner, member, officer, director, agent, consultant
or otherwise, compete with, assist in any activity which competes with, or provide financial resources to any Person which
competes with, the Restricted Business Activities anywhere in the Restricted Territory; provided, however, that a Seller or any of
its Affiliates may acquire up to two percent (2%) of any company whose common stock is publicly traded on a national securities
exchange or in the over-the-counter market so long as such Seller or Affiliate is not in control of, or a member of a group which
controls, such Person. Each Seller acknowledges and agrees that the Group Companies conduct the Restricted Business Activities
throughout the Restricted Territory and that to protect adequately the interests of the Buyers in the Group Companies, it is essential
that any noncompetition covenant with respect thereto cover all Restricted Business Activities and the entire Restricted Territory
for the duration of the Restricted Period. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement or otherwise, this Section 5.15(a) (i) shall not
apply to (A) Advent International Corporation or investment funds affiliated with Advent International Corporation (the “Advent
Investors”) or (B) any portfolio company (other than the Sellers) in which any Advent Investor has a direct or indirect equity
interest (the “Advent Portfolio Companies”) and (ii) shall terminate as to Mediq Holding B.V. and its Subsidiaries and any
purchaser thereof (and the purchaser’s Affiliates) and be of no further force and effect upon the occurrence of a Seller Change of
Control.
(b) Each Seller covenants and agrees that, during the Restricted Period, neither such Seller nor any of its Affiliates
will, directly or indirectly through any Person as a principal, employee, partner, owner, member, officer, director, agent, consultant
or otherwise solicit, encourage
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to leave employment, recruit or hire any Restricted Employee or any person who at the time of such solicitation, encouragement,
recruiting or hiring had been Restricted Employee within the previous twelve (12) months. Notwithstanding anything in this
Agreement or otherwise, this Section 5.15(b) shall not apply to the Advent Portfolio Companies; provided that none of the Sellers,
their Affiliates nor any of the Advent Investors shall cause or direct the Advent Portfolio Companies to take any action that would
otherwise be prohibited by this Section 5.15(b).
(c) Each Seller covenants and agrees that, during the Restricted Period, such Seller will not disparage the Buyers or
the Group Companies or any of their respective members, managers/directors, officers or employees, or any of the Buyers’ or the
Group Companies’ products or services in a manner that wrongfully interferes with, disrupts or attempts to disrupt the relationship,
contractual or otherwise, between any Buyer or any Group Company and any other Person.
(d) Each Seller acknowledges and agrees that the covenants and agreements made by such Seller in this Section
5.15 were a material inducement to the Buyers to enter into this Agreement and to perform their obligations hereunder, and that the
Buyers would be irreparably damaged and would not obtain the benefit of the bargain set forth in this Agreement as specifically
negotiated by the Parties if such Seller breached the provisions of this Section 5.15 applicable to such Seller. Each Seller has had
the opportunity to consult with legal counsel regarding the covenants made by such Seller pursuant to this Section 5.15 and, based
on such consultation, has determined and hereby acknowledges that such covenants are reasonable in terms of duration, scope and
area of restrictions and are necessary to protect the goodwill of the Company and the substantial investment in the Group
Companies made by the Buyers hereunder. Each Seller further acknowledges and agrees that: (i) the benefits to such Seller of the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement are sufficient consideration to support his, her, or its agreements set forth in this
Section 5.15; and (ii) the agreements set forth in this Section 5.15 are being entered into in connection with the sale of the Group
Companies to the Buyers pursuant to this Agreement and not in connection with any employment arrangement between such Seller
and the Buyers or the Group Companies.
(e) In the event of any breach of the covenants set forth in this Section 5.15, each Seller agrees that the harm to
Buyers and the Group Companies will be irreparable and will be without adequate remedy at law and therefore that injunctive relief
with respect thereto will be appropriate in addition to any other legal remedies available, without the necessity of proving the
inadequacy of legal damages or of posting a bond. Furthermore, upon any breach of the covenants set forth in this Section 5.15, the
Restricted Period will be extended for a length of time equivalent to the period of breach (but, with respect to Section 5.15(a), in no
event beyond a Seller Change of Control). In the event that a court of competent jurisdiction determines, in an action brought by or
on behalf of the Buyers or the Group Companies that any of the foregoing provisions are unenforceable as stated, the Parties intend
that such restrictions be modified to permit the maximum enforceable restriction on Sellers.
Section 5.16 280G Approval. The Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to (a) secure from each
Person who is a Disqualified Individual and who has the right to any payments or benefits that may, separately or in the aggregate,
constitute “parachute payments” under
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Section 280G of the Code (“280G Payments”) a waiver of such Person’s rights to any such payments and benefits (the “280G
Waived Benefits”) so that all remaining payments and benefits applicable to such Disqualified Individual shall not be deemed to be
“excess parachute payments” (within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code) and (b) submit to the relevant stockholders for
approval in accordance with the stockholder approval rules of Section 280G of the Code any 280G Waived Benefits; provided,
however, that any amounts or other entitlements that could be received by any Disqualified Individual in connection with
agreements or arrangements entered into with the Buyers or their Affiliates, whether prior to, on or after the date hereof shall be
disregarded for purposes of determining compliance with this Section 5.16 unless such agreements or arrangements (including all
information required to determine the aggregate present value of the “parachute payments” (each, as defined in Section 280G of the
Code) such person could receive thereunder) have been provided to the Company no later than fifteen (15) Business Days
following the date hereof. All materials produced by the Company or its advisors in connection with the stockholder vote shall be
provided to the Buyers reasonably in advance for the Buyers’ review and comment, which comments the Company shall consider
in good faith and not unreasonably omit to reflect in the final versions of such documents.
ARTICLE VI
CONDITIONS TO OBLIGATIONS OF THE PARTIES
Section 6.1 Conditions to Each Party’s Obligations. The respective obligation of each Party to consummate the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement is subject to the satisfaction (or written waiver by such Party) at the Closing of the
following conditions:
(a) No Injunction. No applicable Law, preliminary or permanent injunction, writ or preliminary restraining order or
any order of any nature enacted, entered, promulgated, enforced or issued by any Governmental Entity or other legal restraint or
prohibition shall be in effect preventing the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; and
(b) HSR Act. The applicable waiting periods under the HSR Act shall have expired or been terminated.
Section 6.2 Conditions to Obligations of the Sellers and the Company. The obligations of the Sellers and the
Company to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement are further subject to the satisfaction (unless waived in
writing, to the extent permitted by Law, by the Sellers) at the Closing of the following conditions:
(a) Representations and Warranties. The representations and warranties of the Buyers contained in Article IV
which are qualified as to materiality or “material adverse effect” shall be true, correct and complete in all respects, and such
representations and warranties as are not so qualified shall be true, correct and complete in all material respects at and as of the date
hereof and the Closing with the same effect as though made as of the Closing (except for representations and warranties that speak
as of an earlier date, in which case such representations and warranties need only be true and correct in all respects or in all material
respects, as applicable, as of such date);
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(b) Performance of Obligations. The Buyers shall have performed and complied, in all material respects, with all
agreements, covenants and obligations required by this Agreement to be performed or complied with by the Buyers on or prior to
the Closing Date;
(c) Officer’s Certificate. An authorized officer of each of the Buyers shall have executed and delivered to the
Sellers a certificate, dated as of the Closing Date, certifying to the satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Section 6.2(a) and
Section 6.2(b) hereof; and
(d) Payments. The Buyers shall have made, or caused to be made, each of the payments set forth in Section 1.4.
Section 6.3 Conditions to Obligations of the Buyers The obligations of the Buyers to consummate the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement are further subject to the satisfaction (unless waived in writing, to the extent permitted by Law, by
the Buyers) at the Closing of the following conditions:
(a) Representations and Warranties. (i) The Fundamental Representations shall be true, correct and complete in all
but de minimis respects at and as of the date hereof and the Closing with the same effect as though made as of the Closing (except
to the extent expressly made as of an earlier date, in which case only as of such date), (ii) the other representations and warranties
of the Company set forth in Article II and of the Sellers set forth in Article III shall be true, correct and complete as of the date
hereof and the Closing with the same effect as though made as of the Closing (except to the extent expressly made as of an earlier
date, in which case only as of such date), except, in the case of this clause (ii), where such failure to be true, correct and complete
would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect (ignoring for the purposes of this Section 6.3(a) any
qualification by “materiality”, or “Material Adverse Effect” or similar qualifier contained in such representations or warranties
other than the words “Material Adverse Effect” as used in Section 2.8(b));
(b) Performance of Obligations. The Company and the Sellers shall have performed and complied, in all material
respects, with all agreements, covenants and obligations required by this Agreement to be performed or complied with by the
Company or the Sellers on or prior to the Closing Date;
(c) Officer’s Certificate. The Sellers and the Company shall have delivered to the Buyers a certificate, dated as of
the Closing Date, executed by a duly authorized officer of the Sellers and the Company, certifying the satisfaction of the conditions
set forth in Sections 6.3(a) and 6.3(b);
(d) Consents. Each of the consents identified on Schedule 6.3(d) shall have been obtained in writing and shall be in
full force and effect;
(e)
Notices. The Company shall have provided all notifications set forth on Schedule 5.2(e), and each such
notification shall have been accepted and processed by the appropriate state authority or remain in processing without any active
rejections or notices of deficiency regarding such notification;
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(f) No Material Adverse Effect. Since the date of this Agreement, there shall not have occurred a Material Adverse
Effect; and
(g) OIG Consent. The Parties shall have received the OIG Consent.
Section 6.4 Frustration of Closing Conditions. None of the Parties may rely on the failure of any condition set forth
in Section 6.1, Section 6.2 or Section 6.3, as the case may be, if such failure was caused by such Party’s failure to comply with any
provision of this Agreement or by facts specific to such Party in relation to any such condition.
ARTICLE VII
CLOSING
Section 7.1
Closing. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the closing of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement (the “Closing”) shall occur as promptly as possible, and in any event no later than three (3)
Business Days following the satisfaction or waiver of the conditions to the obligations of the Parties set forth in Article VI (other
than those conditions that by their nature are to be fulfilled at the Closing, but subject to the satisfaction or waiver of such
conditions) or on such other date as the Parties may agree in writing. The date of the Closing shall be referred to herein as the
“Closing Date”. The Closing shall take place at the offices of Ropes & Gray LLP, 800 Boylston Street, Boston, Massachusetts
02199, at 10:00 a.m. Boston, Massachusetts time, or at such other place or at such other time as the Parties may agree in writing.
Section 7.2 Closing Deliveries by the Sellers and the Company. At the Closing, the Sellers and the Company will
deliver, or cause to be delivered, to the Buyers the following:
(a) the certificate contemplated by Section 6.3(c);
(b) an instrument of assignment of partnership interest with respect to the Interests;
(c) the Escrow Agreement, duly executed by the Sellers
(d) the Payoff and Release Documents and evidence of termination of the Hedging Indebtedness, and settlement of
the close-out amounts relating thereto;
(e) resignations of all directors, managers and officers of the Group Companies in office immediately prior to the
Closing Date to the extent specified by the Buyers in writing no later than five (5) Business Days prior to the Closing Date, such
resignations being effective as of the Closing;
(f) Uniform Commercial Code termination statements, lease termination statements, releases and any other release
or termination documents, in each case, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Buyers, necessary to evidence that all
Liens securing any
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outstanding Payoff Indebtedness have been, or will be released substantially concurrently with the Closing;
(g) the certificate described in Section 5.6(i);
(h) the Transition Services Agreement, duly executed by the Company and the Sellers; and
(i) each other document or instrument required to be delivered by the Sellers or the Company at the Closing
pursuant to this Agreement.
Section 7.3 Closing Deliveries by the Buyers. At the Closing, the Buyers will deliver, or cause to be delivered, to
the Sellers and the Company (or at their direction) or to the Escrow Agent, as applicable, the following:
(a) the Closing Cash Payment, Estimated Closing Transaction Expenses, Estimated Closing Indebtedness (other
than Debt-Like Items) and the Indemnity Amount in accordance with Section 1.4;
(b) the certificate contemplated by Section 6.2(c);
(c) the Escrow Agreement, duly executed by the Buyers;
(d) the Transition Services Agreement, duly executed by the Buyers; and
(e)

each other document or instrument required to be delivered by the Buyers at the Closing pursuant to this

Agreement.
ARTICLE VIII
TERMINATION
Section 8.1 Termination. This Agreement may be terminated at any time at or prior to the Closing:
(a) in writing, by mutual consent of the Parties;
(b) by the Buyers if there has been a breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or other agreement made by
the Sellers or the Company in this Agreement, or any such representation and warranty shall have become untrue or inaccurate after
the date of this Agreement, in each case which breach, untruth or inaccuracy (i) would reasonably be expected to result in
Section 6.3(a) or Section 6.3(b) not being satisfied as of the Closing Date (a “Terminating Company Breach”) and (ii) shall not
have been cured within twenty (20) days after written notice from the Buyers of such Terminating Company Breach is received by
the Sellers (such notice to describe such Terminating Company Breach in reasonable detail), or which breach, untruth or
inaccuracy, by its nature, cannot be cured prior to the Outside Date; provided, that the Buyers are not then in material breach of any
of their representations, warranties, covenants or other obligations under
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this Agreement, which breach would give rise to a failure of a condition set forth in Section 6.2(a) or Section 6.2(b);
(c) by the Sellers if there has been a breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or other agreement made by
the Buyers in this Agreement, or any such representation and warranty shall have become untrue or inaccurate after the date of this
Agreement, in each case which breach, untruth or inaccuracy (i) would reasonably be expected to result in Section 6.2(a) or
Section 6.2(b) not being satisfied as of the Closing Date (a “Terminating Buyer Breach”) and (ii) shall not have been cured within
twenty (20) days after written notice from the Sellers of such Terminating Buyer Breach is received by the Buyers (such notice to
describe such Terminating Buyer Breach in reasonable detail), or which breach, untruth or inaccuracy, by its nature, cannot be
cured prior to the Outside Date; provided, that neither the Sellers nor the Company are then in material breach of any of their
respective representations, warranties, covenants or other obligations under this Agreement, which breach would give rise to a
failure of a condition set forth in Section 6.3(a) or Section 6.3(b); or
(d) by written notice by any Party if the Closing has not occurred on or prior to the Outside Date for any reason
other than delay and/or nonperformance of the Party seeking such termination.
Section 8.2 Procedure and Effect of Termination. In the event of the termination of this Agreement pursuant to
Section 8.1 by the Buyers, on the one hand, or the Sellers, on the other hand, written notice thereof shall forthwith be given to the
other Parties specifying the provision hereof pursuant to which such termination is made, and this Agreement shall be terminated
and become void and have no effect, and there shall be no liability hereunder on the part of the Buyers, the Guarantor, the Sellers or
the Company, except that this Section 8.2, Section 5.4 (Public Announcements) and Article X (other than Section 10.17) shall
survive any termination of this Agreement. Nothing in this Section 8.2 shall (i) relieve or release any Party of any liability or
damages arising out of such Party’s intentional and material breach of any provision of this Agreement or (ii) impair the right of
any Party to compel specific performance by the other Party or Parties, as the case may be, of such Party’s obligations under this
Agreement.
ARTICLE IX
INDEMNIFICATION
Section 9.1 Indemnification Obligations of the Sellers. Subject to the provisions of this Article IX, from and after
the Closing, the Sellers shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless each of the Buyer Indemnified Parties from, against and in
respect of any and all Losses arising out of or relating to the following:
(a) any breach of any representation or warranty made by the Company in Article II or by the Sellers in Article III
or in any certificate delivered by such Party pursuant hereto;
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(b) any breach of any covenant, agreement, obligation or undertaking made in this Agreement by (i) the Company
that is required to be performed on or prior to the Closing or (ii) the Sellers;
(c) any Company Transaction Expenses that remain unpaid after the Closing;
(d) any Closing Indebtedness that remains unpaid after the Closing;
(e) (i) any Taxes of the Group Companies for any Pre-Closing Tax Period and (ii) any and all liability (as a result
of Treasury Regulation Section 1.1502-6 or any analogous state or local regulation) for Taxes of a member of an affiliated,
consolidated, combined or unitary group of which a Group Company is or was a member prior to the Closing Date or any person
with whom any Group Company otherwise joins or has ever joined (or is or has ever been required to join) in filing any
consolidated, combined, unitary or aggregate Tax Return, prior to the Closing Date; provided, however, that the indemnification
under this Section 9.1(e) shall not be duplicative of any Taxes reflected in Net Working Capital, Company Transaction Expenses,
Cash and Cash Equivalents, Indebtedness or Debt-Like Items hereunder; and
(f) the items set forth on Schedule 9.1(f).
(g) the items set forth on Schedule 9.1(g).
The Losses of the Buyer Indemnified Parties described in this Section 9.1 as to which the Buyer Indemnified Parties are entitled to
indemnification are collectively referred to as “Buyer Losses”.
Section 9.2 Indemnification Obligations of the Buyers. Subject to the provisions of this Article IX, from and after
the Closing, the Buyers shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless each of the Seller Indemnified Parties from, against and in
respect of any and all Losses arising out of or relating to the following:
(a) any breach of any representation or warranty made by the Buyers in Article IV or in any certificate delivered by
the Buyers pursuant hereto; and
(b) any breach of any covenant, agreement, obligation or undertaking made by the Buyers in this Agreement.
Section 9.3 Indemnification Procedure.
(a) Promptly after receipt by an Indemnified Party of a notice from a third party of a claim, dispute, or threatened
or filed complaint or the threatened or actual commencement of any audit, investigation, lawsuit, action or proceeding (a “Third
Party Claim”) with respect to which such Indemnified Party may be entitled to indemnification hereunder, such Indemnified Party
shall provide prompt written notice (and in any event within ten (10) Business Days after receiving written notice of the Third Party
Claim) to the Buyers or the Sellers, whichever is the appropriate indemnifying Party hereunder (the “Indemnifying Party”);
provided, that the failure to so notify the Indemnifying Party shall relieve the Indemnifying Party from liability under this
Agreement with respect to such claim only if, and only to the extent that, such failure to notify the Indemnifying
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Party results in (x) the forfeiture by the Indemnifying Party of rights and defenses otherwise available to the Indemnifying Party
with respect to such claim or (y) material prejudice to the Indemnifying Party with respect to such claim. The Indemnifying Party
shall have the right, upon written notice delivered to the Indemnified Party within thirty (30) days thereafter, to assume the defense
of such Third Party Claim, including the employment of counsel reasonably satisfactory to the Indemnified Party and the payment
of the fees and disbursements of such counsel; provided that, prior to the Indemnifying Party assuming control of such defense it
shall first verify to the Indemnified Party in writing that such Indemnifying Party shall be fully responsible for all liability relating
to such claim for indemnification (subject to the limitations set forth herein) and that such Indemnifying Party shall provide full
indemnification (subject to the limitations set forth herein) to the Indemnified Party with respect to such action, lawsuit,
proceeding, investigation or other claim giving rise to such claim for indemnification hereunder. In any Third Party Claim with
respect to which indemnification is being sought hereunder, the Indemnified Party or the Indemnifying Party, whichever is not
assuming the defense of such action, shall have the right to participate in such matter and to retain its own counsel at such Party’s
own expense. The Indemnifying Party or the Indemnified Party, as the case may be, shall at all times use reasonable efforts to keep
the Indemnifying Party or the Indemnified Party, as the case may be, reasonably apprised of the status of any matter the defense of
which they are maintaining and to cooperate fully in good faith with each other with respect to the defense of any such matter.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Indemnifying Party may not assume control of the defense of a Third Party Claim (i) involving
potential criminal liability, (ii) in which equitable relief is sought against the Indemnified Party or that the Indemnified Party
determines in good faith could reasonably be expected to materially adversely affect the Indemnified Party and that does not solely
involve, and does not continue to solely involve, monetary damages (other than immaterial equitable relief or other immaterial nonmonetary claims that are ancillary to a claim for monetary damages), (iii) if the Indemnified Party has been advised by counsel that
an actual conflict exists between the Indemnifying Party and the Indemnified Party in connection with the defense of such third
Person claim and, in the reasonable judgment of counsel to the Indemnified Party, counsel for the Indemnifying Party could not
adequately represent the interests of the Indemnified Party, (iv) if the Indemnified Party (if a Buyer Indemnified Party) reasonably
believes potential Losses related thereto could likely exceed the Indemnity Amount, unless the Indemnifying Party demonstrates to
the reasonable satisfaction of the Indemnified Party that it has the capacity and financial resources to satisfy, and will satisfy, any
indemnification obligation beyond the Deductible (if applicable) and Indemnity Amount that arises from such Third Party Claim or
(v) involving a then current customer, supplier or employee of the Indemnified Party as an adverse party (the conditions set forth in
clauses (i) through (v) are, collectively, the “Litigation Conditions”). To the extent the Indemnifying Party elects not, or is not
permitted under the terms hereof, to defend such proceeding, claim or demand, or abandons or fails to diligently pursue the defense
of a Third Party Claim, and the Indemnified Party defends against or otherwise deals with any such proceeding, claim or demand,
the Indemnified Party may retain counsel, at the expense of the Indemnifying Party (to the extent the Third Party Claim is
indemnifiable pursuant to Article IX), and control the defense of such proceeding. If (A) any of the Litigation Conditions come
into existence or (B) the Indemnifying Party fails to take reasonable steps necessary to defend diligently such Third Party Claim,
the Indemnified Party may assume its own defense, and seek indemnification hereunder for all reasonable costs and expenses paid
or incurred in connection with such defense.
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(b) No Indemnified Party may settle or compromise any claim or consent to the entry of any judgment with respect
to which indemnification is being sought hereunder without the prior written consent of the Indemnifying Party.
(c) If an Indemnified Party claims a right to payment pursuant to this Agreement not involving a Third Party
Claim, such Indemnified Party shall send written notice of such claim to the appropriate Indemnifying Party. Such notice shall
specify in reasonable detail the basis for such claim. As promptly as possible after the Indemnified Party has given such notice,
such Indemnified Party and the appropriate Indemnifying Party shall establish the merits and amount of such claim (by mutual
agreement, arbitration, litigation or otherwise) and, within five (5) Business Days of the final determination of the merits and
amount of such claim, (i) if the Indemnifying Party is the Sellers, the Buyers and the Sellers shall execute joint written instructions
directing the Escrow Agent to pay from the Indemnity Escrow Fund or, if such funds are insufficient, the Sellers shall pay to the
Buyers in immediately available funds an amount equal to such claim as determined hereunder, in each case subject to the terms of
this Article IX, and (ii) if the Indemnifying Party is the Buyers, the Buyers shall pay to the Sellers in immediately available funds
an amount equal to such claim as determined hereunder, in each case subject to the terms of this Article IX.
(d) The procedures governing any claims for indemnification with respect to Tax matters shall be governed by
Section 5.6 and not this Section 9.3.
Section 9.4 Claims Period.
(a) The Claims Period hereunder shall begin on the Closing Date and terminate on the date that is eighteen (18)
months following the Closing Date. No claim for indemnification can be made after the expiration of the Claims Period; provided,
if prior to the close of business on the last day of the Claims Period, an Indemnifying Party shall have been properly notified of a
claim for indemnity hereunder (including a Third Party Claim) and such claim shall not have been finally resolved or disposed of at
such date, such claim shall continue to survive and shall remain a basis for indemnity hereunder until such claim is finally resolved
or disposed of in accordance with the terms hereof.
(b) Notwithstanding Section 9.4(a), (i) the Claims Period for any claim under Section 9.1(a) arising out of any
inaccuracy or breach of the representations and warranties of the Company contained in Section 2.13 (Tax Returns; Taxes) or for
any claim under Section 9.1(e) shall continue until the date that is sixty (60) days following the expiration of the applicable statute
of limitations; (ii) the Claims Period for any claim under Section 9.1(a) arising out of any inaccuracy or breach of the Fundamental
Representations shall continue until sixty (60) days following the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations; (iii) the Claims
Period for any claim under (x) Section 9.1(a) arising out of any breach of the representations and warranties of the Company
contained in Section 2.15 (Licenses and Permits) or (y) Section 9.1(f) shall terminate on the earlier of (A) the three (3) year
anniversary of the Closing Date and (B) the date on which a Seller Change of Control occurs but in any event no earlier than the
two (2) year anniversary of the Closing Date; (iv) the Claims Period for any claim under Section 9.1(a) arising out of any breach of
the representations and warranties of the Company contained in Section 2.22 (Health Care Regulatory Compliance) shall terminate
on the earlier of (A) the three (3) year anniversary of the Closing Date
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and (B) the date on which a Seller Change of Control occurs but in any event no earlier than the eighteen (18) month anniversary of
the Closing Date; (v) the Claims Period for any claim under Section 9.1(b) arising out of any breach of any covenants, agreements,
obligations and undertakings to be performed after the Closing shall terminate on the date on which such covenants, agreements,
obligations and undertakings have been fully performed in accordance with their respective terms; and (vi) the Claims Period for
any claim of fraud with respect to the representations and warranties expressly set forth in this Agreement shall be unlimited.
Section 9.5
Liability Limits. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Agreement, a Party’s
obligation to indemnify, defend and hold the Buyer Indemnified Parties and the Seller Indemnified Parties, as applicable, harmless
under this Article IX shall be limited as follows:
(a) no amounts of indemnity shall be payable pursuant to Section 9.1(a) (other than Buyer Losses arising out of or
relating to representations and warranties of the Company contained in Section 2.13 (Tax Returns; Taxes) or Section 2.15 (Licenses
and Permits) or the Fundamental Representations) or Section 9.1(g) to the Buyer Indemnified Parties unless (i) such claim (or
series of related claims arising from the same underlying facts, event or circumstances) involves Buyer Losses (excluding Buyer
Losses described in Section 9.5(f)) in excess of $50,000 and (ii) the aggregate of all Buyer Losses (excluding Buyer Losses
described in Section 9.5(f)) in respect of claims for indemnity pursuant to Section 9.1(a) (other than Buyer Losses arising out of or
relating to representations and warranties of the Company contained in Section 2.13 (Tax Returns; Taxes) or Section 2.15 (Licenses
and Permits) or the Fundamental Representations) or Section 9.1(g) for which the Sellers would, but for this Section 9.5, be liable
exceeds on a cumulative basis $2,000,000 (the “Deductible”), in which case the Buyer Indemnified Parties shall be entitled to
recover only the amount of such Buyer Losses in excess of the Deductible; provided, that this clause (a) shall not apply to Buyer
Losses arising out of or relating to claims of fraud with respect to the representations and warranties expressly set forth in this
Agreement;
(b) any indemnification obligation of the Sellers pursuant to this Article IX (other than obligations of the type
described in Section 9.4(b)), shall be satisfied solely from the Indemnity Escrow Fund, and if the Indemnity Escrow Fund is
insufficient to satisfy any amount of any such Buyer Loss, then such amount of such Buyer Loss shall remain unsatisfied and no
Buyer Indemnified Party shall be entitled to recover any such shortfall from the Sellers;
(c) except in the case of any amounts of indemnity payable for Buyer Losses arising out of or relating to the breach
or inaccuracy of the Fundamental Representations or claims of fraud with respect to the representations and warranties expressly
set forth in this Agreement, in no event shall the aggregate amount of all indemnity required to be paid by the Sellers pursuant to
Section 9.1 exceed the Indemnity Amount;
(d)
in no event shall the aggregate amount of all indemnity required to be paid by the Sellers pursuant to
Section 9.1 exceed the Purchase Price;
(e) the amount of each claim for Buyer Losses by a Buyer Indemnified Party shall be deemed to be an amount
equal to, and any payments by the Sellers pursuant to Section 9.1
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shall be limited to, the amount of such Buyer Losses that remain after deducting therefrom any third party insurance proceeds and
any indemnity, contributions or other similar payment actually recovered from any third party with respect thereto;
(f) the amount of indemnity payable pursuant to Section 9.1 with respect to any Buyer Loss shall be reduced
(without duplication) to the extent such Buyer Loss is reflected on the Final Closing Statement;
(g) in any claim for indemnification under this Agreement, no Party shall be required to indemnify any Person for
punitive or exemplary damages or any other Loss that is not reasonably foreseeable (other than any such punitive or exemplary
damages or any other Loss awarded as a result of a Third Party Claim);
(h) any Indemnified Party that becomes aware of a Loss for which it seeks indemnification under this Article IX
shall be required to use commercially reasonable efforts to mitigate such Loss including taking any actions reasonably requested by
the Indemnifying Party, and an Indemnifying Party shall not be liable for any Loss to the extent that it is attributable to the
Indemnified Party’s failure to use commercially reasonable efforts to mitigate; provided, however, that notwithstanding the
foregoing, no Indemnified Party shall be required to (i) take any action that could reasonably be expected to be materially
detrimental to its reputation or its business, taken as a whole, or (ii) commence or initiate any action or otherwise make any claim
against any then current customer or supplier of such Indemnified Party or of any of its Affiliates;
(i) subject to Section 9.5(a), the liability of the Sellers for Buyer Losses shall be considered in the aggregate and
shall be determined on a cumulative basis so Buyer Losses incurred under Article IX shall be combined with all other Buyer Losses
incurred under Article IX for purposes of determining limitations on liability, including the maximum liability amounts described
above;
(j) to the extent permitted by Law, any indemnity payment or post-closing adjustment under Section 1.5 under this
Agreement shall be treated as an adjustment to the Purchase Price for U.S. federal income tax purposes; and
(k) for purposes of determining the amount of any Loss arising from a breach of any representation or warranty
contained in this Agreement (and for purposes of determining whether any such representation or warranty has been breached), the
determination shall be made (i) net of any Tax benefit actually realized by the Indemnified Party and its Affiliates and that are
attributable on a with and without basis to any such Losses and (ii) without regard to materiality, Material Adverse Effect, “except
as would not reasonably be expected to be material to the Group Companies” or similar qualifications that may be contained
therein (other than the words “Material Adverse Effect” as used in Section 2.8(b)).
Section 9.6 Exclusive Remedies. From and after the Closing, the provisions of this Article IX and Section 10.10
hereof set forth the exclusive rights and remedies of the Parties to seek or obtain damages or any other remedy or relief whatsoever
from any party with respect to matters arising under or in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated
hereby.
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Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Section 9.6 shall not operate to (a) interfere with or impede the operation of the provisions of
Article I providing for the resolution of certain disputes relating to the Purchase Price between the Parties and/or by the Accounting
Firm, (b) limit the rights of the Parties to seek equitable remedies (including specific performance or injunctive relief pursuant to
Section 10.10), (c) interfere with or impede the operation of Section 5.6(b) (with respect to resolutions by the Accounting Firm of
objections involving Tax Returns) or Section 5.6(d), (d) limit the rights of the Indemnified D&O Persons pursuant to Section 5.7 or
(e) limit the rights of the Buyer Indemnified Parties to seek or obtain damages for a breach of Section 5.13 or Section 5.15.
ARTICLE X
MISCELLANEOUS
Section 10.1 Fees and Expenses. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, (a) the Buyers shall pay their own
fees, costs and expenses incurred in connection herewith and the transactions contemplated hereby, including the fees, costs and
expenses of its financial advisors, accountants and counsel and (b) the Company Transaction Expenses shall be paid by the
Company.
Section 10.2 Notices All notices and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed to
have been duly given (a) when delivered in person or, by facsimile or by e-mail; provided that any facsimile or e-mail is promptly
followed by a confirmation copy delivered pursuant to clause (b) or (c) of this Section 10.2, (b) on the next Business Day when sent
by overnight courier, or (c) on the second succeeding Business Day when sent by registered or certified mail (postage prepaid,
return receipt requested) to the respective Parties at the following addresses (or at such other address for a Party as shall be
specified by like notice):
If to the Buyers, the Guarantor or, following the Closing, the Company, to:
Barista Acquisition I, LLC
Barista Acquisition II, LLC
c/o Owens & Minor, Inc.
9120 Lockwood Boulevard
Mechanicsville, VA 23116
Attention: Chief Financial Officer
General Counsel
Fax: (804) 723-7113
Email: Randy.Meier@owens-minor.com
Nicholas.Pace@owens-minor.com
with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:
King & Spalding LLP
1180 Peachtree Street, NE
Atlanta, Georgia 30309
Attention: Seth H. Lundy
Justin M. King
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Fax: (202) 626-3737
(404) 572-5133
Email: slundy@kslaw.com
jking@kslaw.com
If to the Sellers or, prior to the Closing, the Company, to:
Mediq Holding B.V.
Rijnzathe 10
3454 PV De Meern
The Netherlands
Attention: Rob Janse
Email: rob.janse@ mediq.com
with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:
Ropes & Gray LLP
Prudential Tower
800 Boylston Street
Boston, MA 02199
Attention: Amanda McGrady Morrison
R. Newcomb Stillwell
Facsimile: (617) 951-7050
Email: amanda.morrison@ropesgray.com
newcomb.stillwell@ropesgray.com
Section 10.3 Severability. If any term or other provision of this Agreement is invalid, illegal or incapable of being
enforced by any rule of Law or public policy, all other terms, conditions and provisions of this Agreement shall nevertheless remain
in full force and effect so long as the economic or legal substance of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement is not
affected in any manner materially adverse to any Party. Upon such determination that any term or other provision is invalid, illegal
or incapable of being enforced, the Parties shall negotiate in good faith to modify this Agreement so as to effect the original intent
of the Parties as closely as possible in a mutually acceptable manner in order that the transactions contemplated by this Agreement
be consummated as originally contemplated to the fullest extent possible.
Section 10.4 Binding Effect; Assignment This Agreement and all of the provisions hereof shall be binding upon
and shall inure to the benefit of the Parties and their respective successors and permitted assigns. Neither this Agreement nor any of
the rights, interests or obligations hereunder shall be assigned, directly or indirectly, including by operation of law, by any Party
without the prior written consent of the other Parties.
Section 10.5 No Third Party Beneficiaries. Except as otherwise provided in (i) Section 5.7 with respect to the
Indemnified D&O Persons, (ii) Section 10.16 with respect to the Non‑Recourse Parties, (iii) Section 10.17 with respect to Ropes &
Gray LLP and (iv) this Section
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10.5, this Agreement is exclusively for the benefit of the Sellers, and their successors and permitted assigns, with respect to the
obligations of the Buyers under this Agreement, and for the benefit of the Buyers, and their successors and permitted assigns, with
respect to the obligations of the Sellers and the Company under this Agreement, and this Agreement shall not be deemed to confer
upon or give to any other third party any remedy, claim, liability, reimbursement, cause of action or other right.
Section 10.6 Section Headings. The Article and Section headings contained in this Agreement are exclusively for
the purpose of reference, are not part of the agreement of the Parties and shall not in any way affect the meaning or interpretation of
this Agreement.
Section 10.7 Consent to Jurisdiction, Etc. Each Party hereby irrevocably agrees that any Legal Dispute shall be
brought only to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of the State of Delaware or the federal courts located in the State of
Delaware, and each Party hereby consents to the jurisdiction of such courts (and of the appropriate appellate courts therefrom) in
any such suit, action or proceeding and irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted by Law, any objection that it may now or
hereafter have to the laying of the venue of any such suit, action or proceeding in any such court or that any such suit, action or
proceeding that is brought in any such court has been brought in an inconvenient forum. During the period a Legal Dispute that is
filed in accordance with this Section 10.7 is pending before a court, all actions, suits or proceedings with respect to such Legal
Dispute or any other Legal Dispute, including any counterclaim, cross-claim or interpleader, shall be subject to the exclusive
jurisdiction of such court. Each Party agrees that service of any process, summons, notice or document by US registered mail to
such Party’s respective address set forth in Section 10.2 shall be effective service of process for any Legal Dispute in the State of
Delaware with respect to any matters for which it has submitted to jurisdiction pursuant to Section 10.7. Each Party hereby waives,
and shall not assert as a defense in any Legal Dispute, that (a) such Party is not subject thereto, except as otherwise provided in
Section 10.16, (b) such action, suit or proceeding may not be brought or is not maintainable in such court, (c) such Party’s property
is exempt or immune from execution, (d) such action, suit or proceeding is brought in an inconvenient forum, or (e) the venue of
such action, suit or proceeding is improper. A final judgment in any action, suit or proceeding described in this Section 10.7
following the expiration of any period permitted for appeal and subject to any stay during appeal shall be conclusive and may be
enforced in other jurisdictions by suit on the judgment or in any other manner provided by applicable Laws. EACH OF THE
PARTIES IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY WAIVES ANY RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY ON ANY CLAIMS OR
COUNTERCLAIMS ASSERTED IN ANY LEGAL DISPUTE RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS
CONTEMPLATED HEREBY AND FOR ANY COUNTERCLAIM RELATING THERETO. IF THE SUBJECT MATTER OF
ANY SUCH LEGAL DISPUTE IS ONE IN WHICH THE WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL IS PROHIBITED, NO PARTY SHALL
ASSERT IN SUCH LEGAL DISPUTE A NONCOMPULSORY COUNTERCLAIM ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO
THIS AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY. FURTHERMORE, NO PARTY SHALL SEEK
TO CONSOLIDATE ANY SUCH LEGAL DISPUTE WITH A SEPARATE ACTION OR OTHER LEGAL PROCEEDING IN
WHICH A JURY TRIAL CANNOT BE WAIVED.
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Section 10.8
Entire Agreement. This Agreement (including the Schedules and Exhibits attached hereto), the
Confidentiality Agreement, the Ancillary Documents and the other documents delivered pursuant to this Agreement constitute the
entire agreement among the Parties with respect to the subject matter of this Agreement and supersede all other prior agreements
and understandings, both written and oral, between the Parties with respect to the subject matter of this Agreement. Each Party
acknowledges and agrees that, in entering into this Agreement, such Party has not relied on any promises or assurances, written or
oral, that are not reflected in this Agreement (including the Schedules and Exhibits attached hereto), the Confidentiality Agreement
and the certificates delivered pursuant to this Agreement.
Section 10.9 Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the Laws of
the State of Delaware (regardless of the Laws that might otherwise govern under applicable principles of conflicts of laws thereof)
as to all matters, including matters of validity, construction, effect, performance and remedies.
Section 10.10 Specific Performance. The Parties acknowledge that the rights of each Party to consummate the
transactions contemplated hereby are unique and recognize and affirm that in the event of a breach of this Agreement by any Party,
money damages may be inadequate and the non‑breaching Party may have no adequate remedy at law. Accordingly, the Parties
agree that such non‑breaching Party shall have the right, in addition to any other rights and remedies existing in their favor at law
or in equity, to enforce their rights and the other Party’s obligations hereunder not only by an action or actions for damages but also
by an action or actions for specific performance, injunctive and/or other equitable relief (without posting of bond or other security),
including any order, injunction or decree sought by the Company and/or the Sellers to cause the Buyers or the Guarantor to perform
its agreements and covenants contained in this Agreement.
Section 10.11 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be
an original, but all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same agreement. Delivery of an executed counterpart of a
signature page to this Agreement by facsimile or e-mail shall be as effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of the
Agreement.
Section 10.12 Amendment; Modification. This Agreement may not be amended or modified except in a writing
executed by the Buyers and the Sellers.
Section 10.13 Time of Essence. With regard to all dates and time periods set forth in this Agreement, time is of the
essence.
Section 10.14
Schedules. Disclosure of any fact or item in any Schedule hereto referenced by a particular
Section in this Agreement shall be deemed to have been disclosed with respect to every other Section in this Agreement in respect
of which the applicability of such disclosure is reasonably apparent. The specification of any dollar amount in the representations
or warranties contained in this Agreement or the inclusion of any specific item in any Schedules hereto is not intended to imply that
such amounts, or higher or lower amounts or the items so included or other items, are or are not material, and no Party shall use the
fact of the setting of such amounts or the inclusion of any such item in any dispute or controversy as to whether any obligation,
items
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or matter not described herein or included in a Schedule is or is not material for purposes of this Agreement.
Section 10.15 Construction.
(a) Unless the context of this Agreement otherwise clearly requires, (i) references to the plural include the singular,
and references to the singular include the plural, (ii) references to one gender include the other gender, (iii) the words “include,”
“includes” and “including” do not limit the preceding terms or words and shall be deemed to be followed by the words “without
limitation”, (iv) the terms “hereof”, “herein”, “hereunder”, “hereto” and similar terms in this Agreement refer to this Agreement as
a whole and not to any particular provision of this Agreement, (v) the terms “day” and “days” mean and refer to calendar day(s),
and (vi) the terms “year” and “years” mean and refer to calendar year(s).
(b) Unless otherwise set forth in this Agreement, references in this Agreement to (i) any document, instrument or
agreement (including this Agreement) (A) includes and incorporates all exhibits, schedules and other attachments thereto, (B)
includes all documents, instruments or agreements issued or executed in replacement thereof and (C) means such document,
instrument or agreement, or replacement or predecessor thereto, as amended, modified or supplemented from time to time in
accordance with its terms and in effect at any given time, and (ii) a particular Law means such Law, as amended, modified,
supplemented or succeeded from time to time and in effect on the date hereof. All Article, Section, Exhibit and Schedule references
herein are to Articles, Sections, Exhibits and Schedules of this Agreement, unless otherwise specified.
(c) This Agreement shall not be construed as if prepared by one of the Parties, but rather according to its fair
meaning as a whole, as if all Parties had prepared it.
(d) All payments contemplated by this Agreement shall be made in U.S. dollars.
Section 10.16
Non-Recourse. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein or otherwise, this
Agreement may only be enforced against, and any claims or causes of action that may be based upon, arise out of or relate to this
Agreement, or the negotiation, execution or performance of this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby, may only be
made against the entities and Persons that are expressly identified as Parties to this Agreement in their capacities as such and no
former, current or future stockholders, equity holders, controlling persons, directors, officers, employees, general or limited
partners, members, managers, agents or Affiliates of any party hereto, or any former, current or future direct or indirect stockholder,
equity holder, controlling person, director, officer, employee, general or limited partner, member, manager, agent or Affiliate of any
of the foregoing (each, a “Non‑Recourse Party”) shall have any liability for any obligations or liabilities of the Parties or for any
claim (whether in tort, contract or otherwise) based on, in respect of, or by reason of, the transactions contemplated hereby or in
respect of any representations made or alleged to be made in connection herewith. Without limiting the rights of any Party against
the other Parties hereto, in no event shall any Party or any of its Affiliates seek to enforce this Agreement against, make any claims
for breach of this Agreement against, or seek to recover monetary damages from, any Non-Recourse Party.
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Section 10.17 Representation of the Sellers and their Affiliates. The Buyers agree, on their own behalf and on
behalf of their Affiliates (including, following the Closing, the Group Companies), that, following the Closing, Ropes & Gray LLP
may serve as counsel to Sellers and their Affiliates in connection with any matters related to this Agreement and the transactions
contemplated hereby, including any litigation, claim or obligation arising out of or relating to this Agreement or the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement notwithstanding any representation by Ropes & Gray LLP prior to the Closing Date of the Group
Companies. The Buyers and the Company (on behalf of themselves and their Subsidiaries) hereby (a) waive any claim they have or
may have that Ropes & Gray LLP has a conflict of interest or is otherwise prohibited from engaging in such representation and (b)
agree that, in the event that a dispute arises after the Closing between the Buyers or the Group Companies, on the one hand, and the
Sellers or their Affiliates, on the other hand, Ropes & Gray LLP may represent the Sellers and their Affiliates in such dispute even
though the interests of such Person(s) may be directly adverse to the Buyers or the Group Companies and even though Ropes &
Gray LLP may have represented the Group Companies in connection with matters related to this Agreement or the transactions
contemplated hereby. The Buyers represent that the Buyers’ own attorney has explained and helped the Buyers evaluate the
implications and risks of waiving the right to assert a future conflict against Ropes & Gray LLP, and the Buyers’ consent with
respect to this waiver is fully informed. The Buyers and the Company (on behalf of themselves and their Subsidiaries) also further
agree that, as to all communications that occur before the Closing between or among Ropes & Gray LLP and the Group
Companies, the Sellers or the Sellers’ Affiliates and representatives, and that relate in any way to the transactions contemplated by
this Agreement, the attorney-client privilege and the expectation of client confidence belongs to the Sellers and may be controlled
by the Sellers and shall not pass to the Buyers or the Group Companies. In addition, if the Closing occurs, all of the client files and
records in the possession of Ropes & Gray LLP related to this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby shall continue
to be property of (and be controlled by) the Sellers. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event that a dispute arises between the
Buyers, the Group Companies and a third party other than a party to this Agreement after the Closing, the Group Companies may
assert the attorney-client privilege to prevent disclosure of confidential communications by Ropes & Gray LLP related to this
Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby to such third party; provided, however, that the Group Companies may not
waive such privilege without the prior written consent of the Sellers.
Section 10.18
DISCLAIMER. NOTWITHSTANDING ANYTHING TO THE CONTRARY CONTAINED
HEREIN OR OTHERWISE: (a) THE REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE SELLERS AND THE COMPANY
EXPRESSLY SET FORTH IN ARTICLE II AND ARTICLE III AND IN THE CERTIFICATES DELIVERED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 6.3(c) ARE AND SHALL CONSTITUTE THE SOLE AND EXCLUSIVE REPRESENTATIONS AND
WARRANTIES TO THE BUYERS OR THEIR AFFILIATES IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT OR THE
TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY, AND (b) EXCEPT FOR THE REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES
REFERRED TO IN CLAUSE (a) ABOVE, NONE OF THE SELLERS, THE COMPANY OR ITS SUBSIDIARIES OR ANY
NON-RECOURSE PARTY HAS MADE OR IS MAKING ANY EXPRESS OR IMPLIED REPRESENTATION OR
WARRANTY, STATUTORY OR OTHERWISE, OF ANY NATURE, INCLUDING WITH RESPECT TO ANY EXPRESS OR
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IMPLIED REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY AS TO THE MERCHANTABILITY, QUALITY, QUANTITY, SUITABILITY
OR FITNESS FOR ANY PARTICULAR PURPOSE OF THE BUSINESS OR THE ASSETS OF THE COMPANY AND ITS
SUBSIDIARIES. NOTWITHSTANDING ANYTHING TO THE CONTRARY CONTAINED HEREIN OR OTHERWISE,
EXCEPT FOR THE REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES EXPRESSLY SET FORTH IN ARTICLE II AND ARTICLE III
HEREOF AND IN THE CERTIFICATES DELIVERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 6.3(c), ALL OTHER WARRANTIES,
EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, STATUTORY OR OTHERWISE, OF ANY NATURE, INCLUDING WITH RESPECT TO ANY
EXPRESS OR IMPLIED REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY AS TO THE MERCHANTABILITY, QUALITY, QUANTITY,
SUITABILITY OR FITNESS FOR ANY PARTICULAR PURPOSE OF THE BUSINESS OR THE ASSETS OF THE
COMPANY AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES, ARE HEREBY EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMED. THE BUYERS REPRESENT,
WARRANT, COVENANT AND AGREE, ON BEHALF OF THEMSELVES AND THEIR RESPECTIVE AFFILIATES, THAT
IN DETERMINING TO ENTER INTO AND CONSUMMATE THIS AGREEMENT AND THE TRANSACTIONS
CONTEMPLATED HEREBY, THEY ARE NOT RELYING UPON ANY REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY MADE OR
PURPORTEDLY MADE BY OR ON BEHALF OF ANY PERSON, OTHER THAN THOSE EXPRESSLY MADE BY THE
SELLERS AND THE COMPANY AS SET FORTH IN ARTICLE II AND ARTICLE III HEREOF AND IN THE CERTIFICATES
DELIVERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 6.3(c), AND THAT THE BUYERS SHALL ACQUIRE THE COMPANY AND ITS
SUBSIDIARIES AND THEIR RESPECTIVE ASSETS WITHOUT ANY REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY AS TO
MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR ANY PARTICULAR PURPOSE, IN AN “AS IS” CONDITION AND ON A
“WHERE IS” BASIS AND “WITH ALL FAULTS”.
Without limiting the generality of the immediately preceding paragraph, it is understood and agreed by the Buyers, on
behalf of themselves and their Affiliates, that any cost estimate, projection or other prediction, any data, any financial information
or any memoranda or offering materials or presentations, including any memoranda and materials provided by the Sellers or the
Company, are not and shall not be deemed to be or to include representations or warranties, except to the extent explicitly set forth
in Article II or Article III hereof and in the certificate delivered pursuant to Section 6.3(c) as a representation and warranty by (and
only by) the Sellers or the Company.
Section 10.19 Due Diligence Review. The Buyers acknowledge, covenant and agree, on behalf of themselves and
their Affiliates: (a) that they have completed to their satisfaction their own due diligence investigation, and based thereon, formed
their own independent judgment with respect to the Company and its Subsidiaries, (b) that they have been furnished with or given
full access to such documents and information about the Company and its Subsidiaries and their respective businesses and
operations as they and their representatives and advisors have deemed necessary to enable them to make an informed decision with
respect to the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby, (c) that in entering
into this Agreement, they have relied solely upon their own investigation and analysis and the representations and warranties of the
Sellers and the Company expressly contained in Article II or Article III hereof and in the certificate delivered pursuant to Section
6.3(c) and (d) that, except for
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the representations and warranties of the Sellers and the Company expressly contained in Article II or Article III hereof and in the
certificate delivered pursuant to Section 6.3(c), (x) no representation or warranty has been or is being made by the Sellers, the
Company or any other Person as to the accuracy or completeness of any of the information provided or made available to the
Buyers or any of their representatives and advisors and (y) there are uncertainties inherent in attempting to make estimates,
projections, forecasts, plans, budgets and similar materials and information, the Buyers are familiar with such uncertainties, the
Buyers are taking full responsibility for making their own evaluations of the adequacy and accuracy of any and all estimates,
projections, forecasts, plans, budgets and other materials or information that may have been delivered or made available to them or
any of their respective agents or representatives, the Buyers have not relied and shall not rely on such information, and the Buyers
shall not assert, and shall cause their Affiliates not to assert, any claims against the Sellers, the Company and its Subsidiaries or the
Non-Recourse Parties with respect thereto.
Section 10.20 Performance Guaranty. Subject to the prior satisfaction of any conditions to the obligations of the
Buyers set forth herein, the Guarantor unconditionally and irrevocably agrees to take any and all actions necessary to cause the
Buyers to perform all of their covenants, agreements and obligations under this Agreement, including with respect to the
consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the payment of consideration hereunder, indemnification
and all other covenants, agreements and obligations of the Buyers under this Agreement, and the Guarantor shall be liable for any
breach by the Buyers of any such covenant, agreement or obligation. The Guarantor represents and warrants that (a) it has all
corporate power and authority to execute, deliver and perform this Agreement, (b) the execution, delivery and performance of this
Agreement by it has been duly and validly authorized and approved by all necessary corporate action by it and (c) this Agreement
is a valid and binding commitment of the Guarantor, enforceable in accordance with its terms.
[Signatures follow on next page.]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Interest Purchase Agreement on the day and year first above
written.
THE SELLERS:

MEDIQ B.V.
By:

Mediq Holding B.V., its sole director

By: /s/ J.G. Janssen
Name: J.G. Janssen
Title: Managing Director and CFO
MEDIQ INTERNATIONAL B.V.
By: /s/ J.G. Janssen
Name: J.G. Janssen
Title: Managing Director and CFO
THE COMPANY:

MEDIQ USA HOLDINGS
By: Mediq B.V. and Mediq International
B.V., its partners
By: /s/ J.G. Janssen
Name: J.G. Janssen
Title: Managing Director and CFO of
Mediq Holding B.V., sole director of Mediq B.V.; and
Managing Director and CFO of Mediq International B.V.

Signature Page to Interest Purchase Agreement

THE BUYERS:

BARISTA ACQUISITION I, LLC
By: /s/ Richard A. Meier
Name: Richard A. Meier
Title: President
BARISTA ACQUISITION II, LLC
By: /s/ Richard A. Meier
Name: Richard A. Meier
Title: President

THE GUARANTOR:

OWENS & MINOR, INC.
solely for the purposes of Section 10.20
By: /s/ Richard A. Meier
Name: Richard A. Meier
Title: Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer & President,
International
Signature Page to Interest Purchase Agreement

EXHIBIT A
DEFINITIONS
For purposes of this Agreement, each of the following terms (including the singular and plural thereof, as applicable) shall
have the meaning set forth below:
“Acquisition Proposal” means any offer or proposal for, or any indication of interest in, any of the following (other
than the consummation of the transactions contemplated under this Agreement): (a) any direct or indirect acquisition or
purchase of all or any portion of the Interests of the Company or the Equity Interests of any of the Group Companies or all
or any substantial portion of the assets of the Company or any of the Group Companies, (b) any merger, consolidation or
other business combination relating to the Company or any of the Group Companies or (c) any recapitalization,
reorganization or any other extraordinary business transaction involving or otherwise relating to the Company or any of the
Group Companies.
“Affiliate” of any specified Person means any other Person directly or indirectly controlling or controlled by, or
under common control with, such specified Person. For purposes hereof, “control” (including, with correlative meanings,
the terms “controlled by” and “under common control with”), as applied to any specified Person, means the possession,
directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of such Person, whether
through the ownership of Equity Interests, voting securities or other ownership interests, by contract or otherwise.
“Ancillary Documents” means the Escrow Agreement and the Transition Services Agreement.
“Balance Sheet Date” means the date of the Interim Balance Sheet.
“Business Associate Agreement” means a “business associate contract” as such term is used in HIPAA, including at
45 C.F.R. §§ 164.308(b), 164.314(a) and 164.504(e).
“Business Day” means any day except Saturday, Sunday or any days on which banks are generally not open for
business in the city of New York, New York or Amsterdam.
“Buyer Ancillary Documents” means the Ancillary Documents to which any Buyer is a party.
“Buyer Indemnified Parties” means the Buyers and their Affiliates, each of their respective officers, directors,
members, managers, shareholders, employees, agents, trustees and representatives and each of the heirs, executors,
successors and assigns of any of the foregoing.
“Cash Deficit” means the amount, if any, by which the Estimated Closing Cash is greater than the Final Closing
Cash (as set forth on the Final Closing Statement).
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“Cash Surplus” means the amount, if any, by which the Final Closing Cash (as set forth on the Final Closing
Statement) is greater than the Estimated Closing Cash.
“Cash and Cash Equivalents” means the cash, commercial paper, checks held for deposit or deposited that have not
yet cleared, other wire transfers and drafts deposited or received and available for deposit, other bank deposits, treasury
bills, short term investments and cash equivalents (determined in accordance with IFRS), net of any outstanding checks that
have not yet cleared to the extent that the amounts payable in respect of such outstanding checks are not included as a
Current Liability in the calculation of Net Working Capital, of the Group Companies as of the close of business on the day
immediately prior to the Closing.
“Chief Financial Officer” means the Chief Financial Officer of the Company.
“Claims Period” means the period during which a claim for indemnification may be asserted under Article IX by an
Indemnified Party.
“Closing Cash Payment” means the Base Purchase Price, minus (a) the Estimated Closing Indebtedness, minus (b)
the Estimated Net Working Capital Deficit (if any), plus (c) the Estimated Net Working Capital Surplus (if any), minus (d)
the Estimated Closing Company Transaction Expenses, plus (e) the Estimated Closing Cash, minus (f) the Indemnity
Amount.
“Code” means the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or any successor Law.
“Company Ancillary Documents” means the Ancillary Documents to which any Group Company is a party.
“Commercially Available Software” means any computer software (whether licensed or provided as a service) that
is generally commercially available on standard or customary terms, has an annual license, service or maintenance fee of
less than $50,000 and is used by any of the Group Companies.
“Company Benefit Plan” means each Employee Benefit Plan that is sponsored, maintained, contributed to or
required to be maintained or contributed to by any Group Company.
“Company IP Agreements” means the Inbound Licenses and Outbound Licenses, collectively.
“Company Material Contracts” means the following Contracts to which any Group Company is a party (other than
the Company Benefit Plans set forth on Schedule 2.16(a)): (a) all Contracts, including any contract with a Third Party
Payor, that individually involve payments to or from any Group Company, collectively, in excess of $1,000,000 on an
annual basis; (b) any employment Contract with any employee of any Group Company that is not terminable at-will (other
than standard employee confidentiality or non-disclosure
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agreements); (c) all bonds, debentures, notes, loans, credit or loan agreements or loan commitments, mortgages, indentures
or any other contracts relating to the borrowing of money; (d) (i) all Leases and (ii) all other leases or licenses involving any
properties or assets (whether personal or mixed, tangible or intangible) involving an annual commitment or payment of
more than $500,000 individually by any Group Company; (e) any agreement to indemnify any current or former
shareholder, director, officer or employee of the Company or any Company Subsidiary; (f) any joint venture, research and
development or limited partnership agreement or arrangement involving a sharing of profits, losses, costs or liabilities by
any Group Company with any other Person, and any Contract relating to the ownership, management or control of any
Person in which any Group Company owns any Equity Interests; and (g) all Contracts with Material Customers and
Material Suppliers.
“Company Registered Intellectual Property” means (a) all registered trademarks and pending trademark and service
mark applications owned by any of the Group Companies, (b) all registered copyrights owned by any of the Group
Companies, (c) all domain names owned by any of the Group Companies, and (d) all registered patents and pending patent
applications owned by any of the Group Companies.
“Company Software” means any software owned by a Group Company other than Commercially Available
Software.
“Company Subsidiary” means any direct or indirect wholly-owned Subsidiary of the Company.
“Company Transaction Expenses” means (a) any “single-trigger” severance, change of control, bonus or other
payments payable by the Group Companies to any current or former director, officer or employee of the Group Companies
or any of their Affiliates (including any such payments contemplated by Schedule A-2 but excluding any such payments
pursuant to the Retention Agreements or other amounts payable pursuant to agreements or arrangements entered into by the
Buyers), in each case, as a result of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (including “success fees” or stay
bonuses, or severance payments and any gross up payment relating to Taxes, interest or penalties relating thereto), together
with the employer paid portion of any employment and payroll Taxes thereon, (b) any investment banking fees and
expenses, commissions, advisory fees, legal fees and expenses, accounting fees and expenses and other third party advisory
or consulting fees and expenses of the Group Companies and the Sellers payable in connection with the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement, and (c) the Tail Premium, in the case of each of clauses (a) through (c), to the extent
unpaid as of the Closing. For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in this definition shall require any Company Transaction
Expense to be paid to the extent such payment would be duplicative.
“Company Transaction Expenses Deficit” means the amount, if any, by which the Final Closing Company
Transaction Expenses is greater than the Estimated Closing Company Transaction Expenses.
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“Company Transaction Expenses Surplus” means the amount, if any, by which the Estimated Closing Company
Transaction Expenses is greater than the Final Closing Company Transaction Expenses.
“Confidentiality Agreement” means that certain confidentiality agreement, dated October 18, 2016, between the
Guarantor and Mediq Holding B.V.
“Contract” means any legally enforceable written or oral agreement (as amended, supplemented or otherwise
modified from time to time) to which any Group Company is a party or by which any Group Company is bound.
“Current Assets” means total current assets of the Group Companies, on a consolidated basis, calculated in
accordance with the Working Capital Rules and, except as otherwise specified in Exhibit B or Exhibit C, consistent with the
specific line items or accounts set forth on Exhibit C.
“Current Liabilities” means total current liabilities of the Group Companies, on a consolidated basis, calculated in
accordance with the Working Capital Rules and, except as otherwise specified in Exhibit B or Exhibit C, consistent with the
specific line items or accounts set forth on Exhibit C.
“Debt-Like Items” means items set forth on Schedule A-1.
“Disqualified Individual” means any “disqualified individual” (as defined in Treasury Regulation Section 1.280G-1)
with respect to the Company or any of the Company Subsidiaries.
“Employee Benefit Plan” means each (i) “employee benefit plan” (as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA), whether or
not subject to ERISA, (ii) post-employment or post-retirement health, medical, life insurance or other welfare benefit plan,
program, policy or arrangement, (iii) bonus, incentive, deferred compensation or equity or equity-based compensation plan,
program, policy or arrangement, (iv) change in control, retention, severance or termination plan, program, policy or
arrangement or (v) other material compensation or benefit plan, program, policy or arrangement, whether or not subject to
ERISA, and whether oral or written, formal or informal, funded or unfunded.
“Environmental Laws” means any and all Laws, orders, decisions or rules of common law, consent decrees, or
Licenses regulating or relating to protection of the environment (including surface or ground water, drinking water supply,
soil, surface or subsurface strata or medium, wildlife, plants or other natural resources or ambient air), human health,
pollution control and Hazardous Substances.
“Environmental Permits” means all Licenses applicable to any Group Company issued pursuant to Environmental
Laws.
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“Equity Interest” means, with respect to any Person, (a) any capital stock, partnership or membership interest, unit
of participation or other similar interest (however designated) in such Person and (b) any option, warrant, purchase right,
conversion right, exchange right, preemptive right, call right or other Contract which would entitle any other Person to
acquire any such interest in such Person or otherwise entitle any other Person to share in the equity, profits, earnings, losses
or gains of such Person (including stock appreciation, phantom stock, profit participation or other similar rights).
“ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.
“Escrow Agent” means U.S. Bank.
“Escrow Agreement” means the Escrow Agreement, by and among the Buyers, the Sellers, and the Escrow Agent,
substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit E, with such revisions as may be discussed and mutually agreed by the
Buyers, the Sellers, and the Escrow Agent in good faith following the date hereof.
“Estimated Net Working Capital Deficit” means the amount, if any, by which the Target Net Working Capital is
greater than the Estimated Closing Net Working Capital (as set forth on the Closing Date Financial Certificate).
“Estimated Net Working Capital Surplus” means the amount, if any, by which the Estimated Closing Net Working
Capital (as set forth on the Closing Date Financial Certificate) is greater than the Target Net Working Capital.
“Existing Credit Facility” means that certain Senior Facilities Agreement originally dated 29 January 2013 and most
recently amended and restated on 12 August 2016 between, amongst others, Mediq B.V., as borrower, certain guarantors
party thereto, the lenders party thereto from time to time and Coöperatieve Rabobank U.A., as agent and security agent.
“Federal and State Health Care Laws” means: (i) the federal Medicare or federal or state Medicaid statutes,
Sections 1128, 1128A, 1128B, 1128C or 1877 of the Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. §§ 1320a-7, 1320a-7a, 1320a-7b,
1320a-7c and 1395nn), the federal TRICARE statute (10 U.S.C. § 1071 et seq.), the False Claims Act (31 U.S.C. § 3729 et
seq.), the False Statements Accountability Act (18 U.S.C. § 1001), the Program Fraud and Civil Remedies Act (31 U.S.C. §
3801 et seq.), the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act of 1938, as amended; (ii) HIPAA, (iii) any state and local Laws
regulating the privacy or security of Personal Data, in each case as amended from time to time; (iv) any state analogs of the
foregoing statutes; and (v) those rules, codes, regulations, decrees, treaties, standards, guidelines, binding guidance, court
decisions, injunctions, ordinances or orders pursuant to, or otherwise arising under, any such state analogs and foregoing
statutes that have the force or effect of law.
“Federal Health Care Program” means as provided in 42 U.S.C. §1320a-7b(f), as amended from time to time.
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“Final Closing Cash” means the aggregate amount of Cash and Cash Equivalents set forth in the Final Closing
Statement.
“Final Closing Company Transaction Expenses” means the aggregate amount of Company Transaction Expenses set
forth in the Final Closing Statement.
“Final Closing Indebtedness” means the aggregate amount of the outstanding amounts of Indebtedness and DebtLike Items of the Group Companies as of immediately prior to the Closing set forth in the Final Closing Statement.
“Final Closing Net Working Capital” means the aggregate amount of Net Working Capital set forth in the Final
Closing Statement.
“Final Closing Statement” means the Preliminary Closing Statement as finally determined pursuant to Section 1.5.
“Final Deficit” means the amount, if any, by which (a) the sum of (i) the Net Working Capital Deficit, if any, (ii) the
Cash Deficit, if any, (iii) the Indebtedness Deficit, if any, and (iv) the Company Transaction Expenses Deficit, if any, is
greater than (b) the sum of (i) the Net Working Capital Surplus, if any, (ii) the Cash Surplus, if any, (iii) the Indebtedness
Surplus, if any, and (iv) the Company Transaction Expenses Surplus, if any.
“Final Surplus” means the amount, if any, by which (a) the sum of (i) the Net Working Capital Surplus, if any, (ii)
the Cash Surplus, if any, (iii) the Indebtedness Surplus, if any, and (iv) the Company Transaction Expenses Surplus, if any,
is greater than (b) the sum of (i) the Net Working Capital Deficit, if any, (ii) the Cash Deficit, if any, (iii) the Indebtedness
Deficit, if any, and (iv) the Company Transaction Expenses Deficit, if any.
“Fundamental Representations” means the representations and warranties of the Company set forth in Section 2.1
(Organization); Section 2.2 (Authorization); Section 2.3 (Capitalization); Section 2.4 (Company Subsidiaries); Section 2.19
(Certain Fees), and the representations and warranties of the Sellers set forth in Section 3.1 (Organization); Section 3.2
(Authorization); Section 3.4 (Ownership of Interests); and Section 3.6 (Certain Fees).
“GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States.
“Governmental Entity” means any national, federal, state, county, municipal or local government, any political
subdivision thereof or any court, administrative or regulatory agency, department, instrumentality, body or commission or
other governmental authority or agency or any entity exercising executive, legislative, judicial, regulatory, taxing or
administrative functions of or pertaining to government, and any arbitrator or arbitral body or panel of competent
jurisdiction.
“Governmental Payor” means Medicare, Medicaid, TRICARE/CHAMPUS, or any other federal health care program
as defined by 42 U.S.C. 1320a-7b.
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“Group Companies” means, collectively, the Company and each of the Company Subsidiaries.
“Hazardous Substance” means any waste, any hazardous waste, any biomedical waste, any universal waste, any
pollutant, contaminant, hazardous substance, toxic or corrosive substance, hazardous waste, special waste, industrial
substance, by-product, process-intermediate product or waste, petroleum or petroleum-derived substance or waste, chemical
liquids or solids, liquid or gaseous products, or any constituent of any such substance or waste, the generation, storage,
transportation, use, handling or disposal of which is governed by or subject to applicable Environmental Law.
“Hedging Arrangements” shall mean (i) the Interest Rate Swap with reference number 4553964UK, concluded
between the Company and Commerzbank AG, trade date March 1, 2013 and termination date February 13, 2018 (in the
original notional amount EUR 12,000,000) and (ii) the Interest Rate Swap with reference number 13U02382 /
CD30202014, concluded between the Company and Coöperatieve Rabobank U.A., trade date March 1, 2013 and
termination date February 13, 2018 (in the original notional amount EUR 12,000,000.00).
“Hedging Indebtedness” shall mean any net settlement amount of the Company and the Company Subsidiaries under
the Hedging Arrangements, it being understood that any net settlement in favor of the Company will result in a reduction to
Indebtedness.
“HIPAA” means the (a) Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, and (b) the Health Information
Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act (Title XIII of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009), in
each case with respect to the Laws described in clauses (a) and (b) of this definition, as the same may be amended, modified
or supplemented from time to time, any successor statutes thereto, any and all rules or regulations promulgated from time to
time thereunder.
“HSR Act” means the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended.
“IFRS” means international financial reporting standards, as in effect from time to time.
“Inbound License” means each material Contract pursuant to which any Group Company has been granted any
license, option or similar right relating to Intellectual Property of another Person (including with respect to the
Intercompany IP) or is materially restricted in its use of Intellectual Property.
“Indebtedness” means, without duplication, with respect to any Person, all obligations of such Person (i) for
borrowed money (including all obligations in respect of principal, accrued interest, penalties, redemption or prepayment
penalties, breakage costs, fees and premiums), (ii) evidenced by notes, bonds, debentures, hedging or swap arrangements or
similar contracts or instruments, (iii) for the deferred purchase price of
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assets, property, goods or services (other than trade payables, or accruals incurred in the Ordinary Course) and with respect
to any conditional sale, title retention, consignment or similar arrangements, (iv) by which such Person assured a creditor
against loss, including letters of credit and bankers’ acceptances, in each case to the extent drawn upon or payable and not
contingent, (v) any interest rate swap, forward contract or other hedging arrangement, including the Hedging Indebtedness,
(vi) all obligations (including accrued interest) without duplication under a lease agreement that would be capitalized
pursuant to IFRS, and (vii) in the nature of guarantees of the obligations described in clauses (i) through (vi) above of any
other Person, in each case excluding intercompany indebtedness (i.e., for the avoidance of doubt, indebtedness between and
among only the Group Companies). Indebtedness shall exclude Debt-Like Items, and shall be reduced by the amount of any
net settlement of the Hedging Indebtedness in favor of the Company.
“Indebtedness Deficit” means the amount, if any, by which the Final Closing Indebtedness is greater than the
Estimated Closing Indebtedness.
“Indebtedness Surplus” means the amount, if any, by which the Estimated Closing Indebtedness is greater than the
Final Closing Indebtedness.
“Indemnified Party” means a Buyer Indemnified Party or a Seller Indemnified Party.
“Indemnity Amount” means an amount equal to $35,000,000.
“Indemnity Escrow Fund” has the meaning given to such term in the Escrow Agreement.
“Intellectual Property” means all intellectual property and associated rights in any jurisdiction throughout the world,
including: (a) trademarks, service marks, trade names, business names, slogans, logos, trade dress or other indicia of origin;
(b) Internet domain names or Internet websites; (b) patents; (c) copyrights, works of authorship (whether or not
copyrightable) and designs; (d) trade secrets and know-how, including all proprietary or confidential inventions,
improvements, processes, methods, techniques, protocols, formulae, compositions, models, layouts, designs, drawings,
plans, specifications, methodologies and other proprietary or confidential information; (e) software; (f) data, including
Personal Data, whether or not publicly available and regardless of the source of its generation, and all compilations thereof,
including databases and database rights, in any form (whether printed, electronic or otherwise) and (g) registrations and
applications for, and all goodwill associated with, each of the foregoing.
“Intercompany IP” means all Company Intellectual Property owned by the Sellers or any of their Affiliates other
than the Group Companies and all other Intellectual Property of another Person licensed by the Sellers or any of their
Affiliates and used by any of the Group Companies.
“Knowledge” means (a) with respect to the Company, (i) the actual knowledge, after reasonable inquiry, of Perry
Bernocchi, Marcel Overweel and Michelle Knowles and (ii)
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the actual knowledge of Nick Piecora, Marianne Hines, Rick Livingston, Jeff Mignone, Neel Vadhan and John Ras and (b)
with respect to the Sellers, the actual knowledge of Hans Janssen and Rob Janse.
“Law” means any laws, statutes, rules, codes, regulations, decrees, treaties, standards, binding guidance, court
decisions, injunctions, ordinances or orders of, or issued by, applicable Governmental Entities.
“Legal Dispute” means any action, suit, litigation or proceeding between or among the Parties arising in connection
with any disagreement, dispute, controversy or claim arising out of or relating to this Agreement or any related document,
other than a proceeding before the Accounting Firm under Section 1.6.
“Licenses” means all licenses, permits, registrations, approvals, accreditations, certificates or other similar
authorization required or issued by any Governmental Entity or on any Governmental Entity’s behalf, such Licenses
including Medicare supplier numbers issued by the National Supplier Clearinghouse.
“Liens” means any mortgages, deeds of trust or deeds to secure debt, liens, pledges, security interests,
hypothecations, charges, claims, judgments, conditional sale agreements, priority or other security agreement, Taxes,
defects in title, easements, restrictions and encumbrances of any kind or nature whatsoever; provided that “Liens” shall not
include restrictions on the transfer of securities arising under federal or state securities laws.
“Losses” of any person shall mean any and all damages, losses, judgments, settlements, liabilities, deficiencies,
Taxes, costs and expenses asserted against, imposed upon or incurred by such person (including interest and penalties, and
reasonable fees and expenses of attorneys, experts and consultants) in connection with any lawsuit, claim, counterclaim,
action, arbitration or other proceeding.
“Material Adverse Effect” means any change, event, development, condition, effect or occurrence, taken
individually or as a whole, that is or would reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on the business, assets,
liabilities, financial condition or results of operations of the Company and the Company Subsidiaries taken as a whole;
provided, that the term “Material Adverse Effect” shall not include any change, event, development, condition, effect or
occurrence to the extent caused by (a) changes or proposed changes in Laws, (b) changes in GAAP or IFRS, (c) actions or
omissions of the Group Companies taken with the consent of the Buyers pursuant to this Agreement, (d) reasonable actions
or omissions of the Group Companies in contemplation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or as expressly
permitted by this Agreement or the documents entered into pursuant hereto, (e) general economic conditions, including
changes in the financial, capital or reinsurance markets (including changes in interest or exchange rates, prices of any
security or market index or any disruption of such markets), in each case, in the United States or anywhere else in the world,
(f) events or conditions generally affecting the industries in which the Group Companies operate, (g) global, national or
regional political conditions, including national or international hostilities, acts of terror or acts of war, sabotage or
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terrorism or military actions or any escalation or worsening of any hostilities, acts of war, sabotage or terrorism or military
actions, (h) pandemics, earthquakes, hurricanes, tornados or other natural disasters, (i) any change or prospective change in
any Group Company’s credit ratings, (j) any failure to meet any projections, forecasts, guidance, estimates, milestones,
budgets or financial or operating predictions of revenue, earnings, cash flow or cash position, (k) acts or omissions of the
Buyers and their Affiliates or (l) the announcement or pendency of this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby
or the identification of the Buyers in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby (provided, that (i) the matters
described in clauses (a), (b), (e), (f), (g) and (h) shall be included in the term “Material Adverse Effect” only to the extent
any such matter has a disproportionate impact or effect on the business, assets, financial condition or results of operations of
the Company and the Company Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, relative to other participants in the same business as the
Group Companies and (ii) clauses (i) and (j) will not prevent a determination that any change or effect underlying any such
change or failure, as applicable, has resulted in a Material Adverse Effect, to the extent such change or effect is not
otherwise excluded from this definition of Material Adverse Effect).
“Medicaid” means, collectively, the health care assistance program established by Title XIX of the Social Security
Act (42 U.S.C. 1396 et seq.) and any statutes succeeding thereto, and all Laws, manuals or requirements pertaining to such
program, including (a) all federal statutes affecting such program, (b) all state statutes and plans for medical assistance
enacted in connection with such program and federal rules and regulations promulgated in connection with such program,
and (c) all applicable provisions of all rules, regulations, manuals, orders and administrative, reimbursement, and
requirements of all Governmental Entities promulgated in connection with such program that have the force and effect of
law, in each case as the same may be amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.
“Medicare” means, collectively, the health insurance program for the aged and disabled established by Title XVIII
of the Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. 1395 et seq.) and any statutes succeeding thereto, and all Laws, manuals or
requirements pertaining to such program including (a) all federal statutes (whether set forth in Title XVIII of the Social
Security Act (42 U.S.C. 1395 et seq.) or elsewhere) affecting such program, and (b) all applicable provisions of all rules,
regulations, manuals, orders and administrative, reimbursement and requirements of all Governmental Entities promulgated
in connection with such program that have the force or effect of law, in each case as the same may be amended,
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.
“Net Working Capital” means (a) the consolidated Current Assets of the Group Companies, minus (b) the
consolidated Current Liabilities of the Group Companies, in each case, as of the close of business on the day immediately
prior to the Closing Date, determined in accordance with the Working Capital Rules.
“Net Working Capital Deficit” means the amount by which the Estimated Closing Net Working Capital is greater
than the Final Closing Net Working Capital.
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“Net Working Capital Surplus” means the amount by which the Final Closing Net Working Capital is greater than
the Estimated Closing Net Working Capital.
“OIG” means the Department of Health & Human Services Office of Inspector General.
“Ordinary Course” means the ordinary course of business of the Group Companies consistent with past practice of
the Group Companies.
“Organizational Documents” means (a) the certificate of incorporation or formation, (b) bylaws or operating
agreement, (c) any charter or similar document adopted or filed in connection with the creation, formation or organization
of a Person, and (d) any amendment to any of the foregoing.
“Outbound License” means each material Contract pursuant to which any license, option or similar right relating to
Company Intellectual Property has been granted by any Group Company to another Person.
“Outside Date” means the date that is 120 days following the date hereof; provided that (a) if on the third Business
Day prior to the Outside Date, any of the Outside Date Extension Conditions shall not have been satisfied but all other
conditions to Closing shall be satisfied or shall be capable of being satisfied upon satisfaction of such Outside Date
Extension Conditions, then the Sellers or the Buyers shall have the right to extend the Outside Date an additional thirty (30)
days (which, if so validly extended, shall become the “Outside Date” for all purposes under this Agreement) by notifying
the other Parties in writing of such election before the Outside Date, and (b) if the Outside Date is extended pursuant to the
preceding clause (a) and, on the third Business Day prior to the extended Outside Date, any of the Outside Date Extension
Conditions shall not have been satisfied but all other conditions to Closing shall be satisfied or shall be capable of being
satisfied upon satisfaction of such Outside Date Extension Conditions, then the Sellers or the Buyers shall have the right to
extend the Outside Date an additional thirty (30) days (which, if so validly extended, shall become the “Outside Date” for
all purposes under this Agreement) by notifying the other Parties in writing of such election before the Outside Date;
provided, further, that the right to extend the Outside Date shall not be available to any Party whose intentional failure to
fulfill any obligation of such Party under this Agreement shall have caused such condition not to be satisfied. For the
avoidance of doubt, in no event shall the Outside Date be extended past the date that is 180 days following the date hereof.
“Outside Date Extension Conditions” means the conditions to Closing set forth in Sections 6.1(b), 6.3(d), 6.3(e) and
6.3(g).
“Participant” means any current or former director, officer, employee, contractor or consultant of the Company or
any of the Company Subsidiaries.
“Payoff and Release Documents” means, collectively (a) with respect to the Hedging Arrangements, a payoff letter,
termination statement or other similar document, including
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the calculation of the closing out amounts, in each case, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Buyers,
evidencing the aggregate amount of such outstanding Indebtedness (including any interest accrued thereon and any
prepayment or similar penalties and fees and/or expenses associated with the prepayment of such outstanding Indebtedness
on the Closing Date) and an agreement that, if such aggregate amount so identified is paid to the agent, on behalf of the
lenders, on the Closing Date, the Hedging Arrangements shall be terminated and the Group Companies are released from all
obligations thereunder and (b) with respect to the Existing Credit Facility, a deed of release or other similar document, in
each case, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Buyers, irrevocably and unconditionally releasing the Group
Companies from all Indebtedness under the Existing Credit Facility, all security interests and/or liens granted in connection
therewith and any and all other obligations under the Existing Credit Facility and the other financing documents related
thereto.
“Payoff Indebtedness” shall mean all Indebtedness of the Group Companies outstanding under the Existing Credit
Facility and the Hedging Arrangements.
“Permitted Liens” means (a) Liens for Taxes not yet due and payable or that are being contested in good faith by
appropriate proceedings by or on behalf of any of the Group Companies and for which adequate reserves have been
established on the Closing Date Financial Certificate, (b) statutory Liens of landlords with respect to Leased Real Property
as to obligations which are not delinquent, (c) Liens of carriers, warehousemen, mechanics, materialmen, and repairmen
incurred in the Ordinary Course as to obligations which are not delinquent, (d) zoning, building, or other restrictions and/or
variances, none of which are violated in any material respect by any Leased Real Property, (e) covenants, rights of way,
encumbrances, easements and other minor irregularities in title, none of which secure indebtedness for borrowed money,
individually or in the aggregate, interfere in any material respect with the present use of or occupancy of the affected parcel
by the applicable Group Company, (f) Liens securing Indebtedness for borrowed money which have been placed on Leased
Real Property by third-party landlords under Leases and subordination and similar agreements with respect thereto and (g)
in the case of Intellectual Property, non-exclusive, revocable licenses granted in the Ordinary Course, none of the terms of
which are violated by the current use of any such Intellectual Property.
“Person” means any individual, partnership, joint venture, joint-stock company, corporation, trust, limited company,
limited liability company, association, trust, firm, unincorporated organization or any other entity or any Governmental
Entity.
“Personal Data” means all data relating to one or more individual(s) that is personally identifying (i.e., data that
identifies an individual or, in combination with any other information or data available to the Group Companies, is capable
of identifying an individual) that is regulated or protected by one of more federal or state Laws concerning the privacy
and/or security of personal data of or concerning an individual or the subject of data protection or security obligations of the
Group Companies under any of their privacy policies or any material Contract entered into by any Group Company.
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“Pre-Closing Tax Period” means any taxable period (or portion thereof) ending on or before the Closing Date.
“Post-Closing Tax Period” means any taxable period (or portion thereof) beginning after the Closing Date.
“Related Party” shall mean, with respect to any Person: (a) any Affiliate of such Person; (b) any Person that serves
as a director, officer, partner, executor or trustee (or in similar capacity) or is a direct or indirect equity holder of such
Person (or of any Affiliate of such Person); or (c) any Person with respect to which such Person serves as a general partner
or trustee (or in a similar capacity).
“Release” means any spilling, leaking, pumping, pouring, leaching, emitting, emanating, emptying, discharging,
injecting, escaping, migrating, dumping or disposing into, on, or through the environment.
“Representatives” of any Person shall mean such Person’s directors, managers, officers, employees, agents,
attorneys, accountants, legal counsels, financial advisors, consultants or other advisors or representatives.
“Restricted Business Activities” means the business of providing direct-to-patient medical supplies and devices
(including diabetes supplies and/or devices, ostomy supplies, wound care supplies, urology supplies, incontinence supplies,
enteral nutrition products, and breast pumps) and other similar activities conducted by the Company Group as of the date
hereof.
“Restricted Employee” means (a) each Person who is employed by a Group Company as a Vice President or in a
more senior capacity, and (b) each other employee of a Group Company who is a party to a Retention Agreement.
“Restricted Period” means the period commencing on the Closing Date and ending on the two (2) year anniversary
of the Closing Date.
“Restricted Territory” means the United States of America.
“Schedules” means the disclosure schedules to this Agreement.
“Securities Act” shall mean the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the applicable rules and regulations
thereunder.
“Seller Ancillary Documents” means the Ancillary Documents to which any Seller is a party.
“Seller Change of Control” means the time at which none of the Advent Investors nor any of their Affiliates
collectively own in the aggregate, directly or indirectly, more than fifty percent (50%) of the Equity Interests of the Sellers
(or any successor entities to the Mediq Holding B.V. business) which are then issued and outstanding.
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“Seller Indemnified Parties” means the Sellers and their Affiliates, each of their respective officers, directors,
members, managers, shareholders, employees, agents, trustees and representatives and each of the heirs, executors,
successors and assigns of any of the foregoing.
“Subsidiary or Subsidiaries” means any Person of which the Company (or other specified Person) shall own directly
or indirectly through a Subsidiary, a nominee arrangement or otherwise at least fifty percent (50%) or greater of the
outstanding capital stock (or other shares or units of beneficial interest or other equity interests.
“Target Net Working Capital” means $8,095,991.
“Taxes” means all federal, state, local or non-U.S. taxes, including income, franchise, capital stock, real property,
license, severance, occupation, premium, windfall profits, customs, duties, profits, alternative or add-on minimum, personal
property, tangible, withholding, employment, payroll, social security, social contribution, unemployment compensation,
disability, stamp, transfer, registration, sales, use, excise, gross receipts, value-added and all other taxes of any kind
(including estimated taxes), whether disputed or not, and any charges, additions, interest or penalties imposed by any
Governmental Entity with respect to any taxes, as well as any obligations to indemnify or otherwise assume or succeed to
the Tax liability of any other person.
“Tax Return” means any report, return, declaration, claim for refund or information return or statement or other
information filed or required to be filed with a Governmental Entity in connection with Taxes, including any amendment
thereof or any schedule or attachment thereto.
“Third Party Payor” means any Governmental Payor, private insurers, managed care plans, pharmacy benefit
managers and any other Person or entity that presently, or in the future, maintains Third Party Payor Programs.
“Third Party Payor Programs” means all payment or reimbursement programs, sponsored or maintained by any
Third Party Payor, in which any Group Company participates regardless of whether such Group Company is an in-network
or out-of-network provider/supplier.
“Transition Services Agreement” means the Transition Services Agreement, by and among the Company and the
Sellers, substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit F, with such revisions and additions to the services therein as
may be discussed and mutually agreed by the Parties in good faith following the date hereof.
“Treasury Regulations” means the Income Tax Regulations promulgated under the Code.
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Additionally, each of the following terms is defined in the Section set forth opposite such term:
Term

Section

280G Payments
5.16
280G Waived Benefits
5.16
401(k) Plan
5.12(a)
Accounting Firm
1.5(c)
Advent Investors
5.15(a)
Advent Portfolio Companies
5.15(a)
Agreement
Preamble
Antitrust Division
5.2(b)
Base Purchase Price
1.2(a)
Buyer A
Preamble
Buyer B
Preamble
Buyers
Preamble
Buyer Losses
9.1
Buyer Plans
5.12(c)
CIA
5.14(a)
Closing
7.1
Closing Cash
1.5(a)
Closing Company Transaction Expenses
1.5(a)
Closing Date
7.1
Closing Date Financial Certificate
1.3(a)
Closing Date Indebtedness Statement
1.3(b)
Closing Indebtedness
1.5(a)
Closing Net Working Capital
1.5(a)
Company
Preamble
Company Intellectual Property
2.10(b)
Company Released Parties
5.8(a)
Company Releasing Parties
5.8(b)
Confidential Information
5.13
Continuing Employee
5.12(b)
D&O Indemnifiable Claim
5.7(d)
Deductible
9.5(a)
Disputed Item
1.5(b)
Estimated Closing Cash
1.3(a)
Estimated Closing Indebtedness
1.3(b)
Estimated Closing Company Transaction Expenses
Estimated Closing Net Working Capital
1.3(a)
Existing Condition
5.5(b)
Financial Statements
2.6
FTC
5.2(b)
Guarantor
Preamble
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1.3(a)

Indemnified D&O Persons
5.7(a)
Indemnifying Party
9.3(a)
Interests
Recitals
Interim Balance Sheet
2.6
Interim Financial Statements
2.6
IRS
2.16(a)
Key Employees
Recitals
Labor Laws
2.17(e)
Lease
2.9(c)
Leased Real Property
2.9(b)
Mediq
Preamble
Mediq International
Preamble
Non-Recourse Party
10.16
Notice of Disagreement
1.5(b)
OIG Consent
5.14(b)
Parties
Preamble
Party
Preamble
Preliminary Closing Statement
1.5(a)
Privacy Laws
2.22(h)
Privacy Restrictions
2.22(h)
Purchase Price
1.2
Released Parties
5.8(b)
Releasing Parties
5.8(b)
Retention Agreements
Recitals
Seller Released Parties
5.8(b)
Seller Releasing Parties
5.8(a)
Sellers
Preamble
Straddle Period
5.6(b)
Supplement
5.5(a)
Tail Premium
5.7(b)
Tax Claim
5.6(c)
Terminating Buyer Breach
8.1(c)
Terminating Company Breach
8.1(b)
Third Party Claim
9.3(a)
Working Capital Rules
1.3(a)
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Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULE 13a-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Paul C. Phipps, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2017, of Owens & Minor, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

Date:

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c.

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d.

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

May 3, 2017

/s/ Paul C. Phipps
Paul C. Phipps
President & Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULE 13a-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Richard A. Meier, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2017, of Owens & Minor, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

Date:

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c.

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d.

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

May 3, 2017

/s/ Richard A. Meier
Richard A. Meier
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer & President,
International

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report of Owens & Minor, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2017, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Paul C. Phipps, President & Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge:
(1)

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2)

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

/s/ Paul C. Phipps
Paul C. Phipps
President & Chief Executive Officer
Owens & Minor, Inc.
May 3, 2017

Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report of Owens & Minor, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2017, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Richard A. Meier, Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer & President,
International of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the
best of my knowledge:
(1)

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2)

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

/s/ Richard A. Meier
Richard A. Meier
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer & President,
International
Owens & Minor, Inc.
May 3, 2017

